ballina

shire council

Notice of Commercial Services Committee Meeting

A Commercial Services Committee Meeting will be held in the Ballina Shire Council
Chambers, 40 Cherry Street, Ballina on Tuesday 17 November 2015 commencing at 4.00
pm.

Business

1. Apologies

2. Declarations of Interest
3. Deputations

4, Committee Reports

P

Paul Hickey
General Manager
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4.1

Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

4.

4.1

Committee Reports

Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

Delivery Program Commercial Services

Objective To determine if Council wish to amend the existing
lease terms and conditions, including rental, for the
Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club
Limited trading as Club Lennox

Background

Council is in receipt of a request from the Lennox Head Community Sports
and Recreation Club Limited trading as Club Lennox (“the Club”) for a review
of their lease terms and conditions. The Club own the building improvements
and lease the land from Council.

The lease agreement was previously held by Ramsgate RSL Memorial Club
Ltd for a 20 year term commencing on 1 January 2004 and terminating on 31
December 2024. This lease was assigned to Club Lennox in 2013.

In agreeing to the assignment of the lease to the Club, Council also agreed to
discount the scheduled rent in the lease over a five year period commencing
on 1 January 2014. In Year 1 of the Club’s assignment rental was discounted
by 80%, and in Year 2 (at present) the rental is discounted by 70%. The
current proposal is that the lease reverts to 50% from Year 3 onwards.

The Club has now requested that the rent payable be discounted by 80% of
the scheduled rent until the end of the discounted rent agreement term in
December 2018.

Key Issues

¢ Rental subsidy
Information
A number of reports have previously been presented to Council regarding the
lease agreement originally held by Ramsgate RSL Memorial Club Ltd and
subsequently assigned to the Club.
Resolutions arriving previous reports are noted as follows:
26 September 2013
1. “That the General Manager advise Club Lennox that if they are successful
in re-opening the Lennox Head Bowling Club Council provides in principle
support for a concession of the market value for the land as follows:
Year 1 —20% Year 2 — 30% Year 3 -50%

2. That Council ensures that the lease includes security over the poker
machine licences.
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4.1

Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

3. That Council write to Ramsgate seeking compensation (of the difference
between the concession amount) for the first two years of the lease
period.”

24 October 2013

1. “That Council approves the transfer of the existing lease and licence for
the Lennox Head Bowling Club from Ramsgate Pty. Ltd. to Club Lennox
Ltd, subject to the following amendments:

a) Revised rental based on the terms resolved by Council at the
September 2013 Ordinary Meeting

b) A caveat or other appropriate legal restriction being placed over 20
poker machine licences to the benefit of Council.

c) That the caveat over 10 of the poker machines in point b) will only
apply up until 50% rental is being paid.

2. That Council approves the Council seal to be attached to any legal
documents associated with this transfer.”

23 January 2014

“That Council confirms that the 50% rebate for the lease of the Lennox Head
Bowling Club, to Club Lennox, is applicable for years four and five of the
lease, with Council noting that this concession will be reviewed every five
years, as part of any review to Council.”

The Club is currently in the second year of the discounted rental agreement
and is paying 30% + CPI of the scheduled rental. The current rent being paid
is $12,117.30 + GST. The table below demonstrates the scheduled discounts
and estimated rentals up to year five of the discounted rental agreement as
per the Council resolution of January 2014.

Year Scheduled Rent p.a. Discount Rent Payable p.a.
excl GST excl GST

$39,715.83 80% $7,943.17

$40,391.00 70% $12,117.30

$40,391.00 + CPI 50% Approx. $20,500.00

Year 3 rent + CPI 50% Approx. $20,900.00

g~ =

Year 4 rent + CPI 50% Approx. $21,250.00

The Club has written to Council (see attached) requesting that they consider
setting the rent at 20% of the scheduled rental as noted in the lease to:

“enable the Club to make important improvement for the communities
benefit and allow the community to prosper”.
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4.1

Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

The Club has advised that works proposed over the next few years include the
installation of solar panels, extensions to the club building and external
lighting. A copy of the Club’s Strategic Planning Outcomes 2015/2015
document is attached that identifies other works and projects suggested by
the local community.

The Club has also provided documentation in regards to their current financial
position (see attached).

Rather than continuing to lease the site, the Club has also expressed interest
in acquiring the site based upon its value as community land with Council to
provide vendor finance.

In a meeting with members of the Club’s board, Council's General Manager
and Mayor advised that the subject site is classified as community land and as
such Council is not in a position to sell it without the land being reclassified to
operational land. This would require a public hearing and compliance with
other relevant provisions under the NSW LGA 1993. Furthermore, if the site
were to be reclassified, Council would be obliged to seek its open market
value in the event of a sale.

The General Manager and Mayor advised the Board that sale of the land
would not be recommended by staff and was not a preferred option, as the
management of the Club can change over time. Retaining the land in Council
ownership provides the highest protection to the community of this important
asset.

Legal / Resource / Financial Implications

The Club currently pay a rental of $12,117.30 + GST p.a. On 1 January 2016
the rent is to increase to $20,500.00 p.a. + GST in accordance with the 50%
rental discount agreement and remain at 50% until 2018 when the agreement
is to be reviewed.

If Council agree to the Club’s current request they (Council) would be
foregoing approximately $26,000 + GST in rental up to the end of the five year
rental discount period granted by Council in 2014, as noted in the table above.

The current rental arrangements were granted by Council on the basis that it
takes security over twenty gaming machine entitlements until the lessee is
paying 50% of the scheduled rent at which time it will then release security on
ten machines. The Club has not requested any changes to this arrangement.

Consultation

Club Lennox has provided information in support of their request for the rental
to be discounted contrary to the current agreement.

Options
1. Council agree to the Club’s request that the rental payable be reduced

to 20% of the scheduled rent for the remaining term of the five year
rental discount agreement expiring on 31 December 2018.
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4.1

Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

2. Council refuse the request of the Club for a rental reduction as outlined
in their submission and require the current rental discounts be applied.

Both options are included in the recommendations to allow Councillors to
make a preferred determination.

RECOMMENDATION

That Council agree to the Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation
Club’s request that the rental payable be reduced to 20% of the scheduled
rent for the remaining term of the five year rental discount agreement expiring
on 31 December 2018 to allow the Club to implement their strategic plan.

OR

That Council not agree to the Lennox Head Community Sports Club’s request
that the rental payable be reduced to 20% of the scheduled rent for the
remaining term of the five year rental discount agreement expiring on 31
December 2018, as the 50% proposed from Year 3 onwards is already a
significant reduction and is similar to the community service recognition
provided by Council for other fees and charges for community groups.

Attachment(s)

1. Club Lennox Submission
2. Club Lennox Audited 2015 Financial Report
3.  Club Lennox Strategic Planning Outcomes Document 2014/15
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

(

LENNOX
\ 4

12 October 2015

RECORDS
QCLNER
The General Manager 15 707 2019
Ballina Shire Council
Cherry Street DI0C NG .o vavereiiinisnernemsrnnsisnnsonnnn
BALLINA NSW 2478 Baioi NO e vt esr s
Dear Paul,

Club Lennox Lease Arrangements

Our present Lease arrangements were determined by Council when the club was
looking to De-amalgamate from Ramsgate RSL. Ultimately the lease rental will
increase and over time this will mean the cost will increase to make the Club start
to suffer financially.

Qur Club asks Council to reduce the rental under our Lease arrangement to a flat
20% of the present Lease agreement.

Since Club Lennox has commenced we have undertaken the following
improvements from our limited resources;
1. Club improvements and repainting to reopen

2. New furniture and seating/tables including new TV's etc
3. New Ebet system $50,000

4. Established a Kids Zone within the club S 4,000

5. Established a small function room $ 5,000

6. Laid timber decking for outside dining $ 4,000

7. Installed new kids play equipment $ 2,000

8. Upgraded the POS cash registers $ 4,000

9. Renovated the 2 bowling greens

Plus the continual repair te the building and equipment.

The Club wishes to continue to make minor improvements in line with our strategic plan
that is a total focus on our Community and the various groups within our area. Presently
there are 23 community groups in the Lennox area and 14 of those groups call Club Lennox
there home. This is a big increase on the organisations using it from when Ramsgate was in
control. The support from the Community is growing all the time.

In conclusion we are asking you to consider setting the rental at 20% as this will allow the
Club to make important improvement for the communities benefit and allow the club to
prosper, which | know all Councillors would be in favour of. The Club has grown

Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club Limited t/a Club Lennox
PO Box 422 Lennox Head NSW 2478 - info@clublennox.com.au - www.clublennox.com.au

02 6687 4313 # LENNOX HEAD PHARMACY ABN 29 163 7771 382
1t Fersenal )
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

;%

membership substantially since we reopened and had nearly 3000 members as at
30/6/2015. The club is home to some 14 different community groups and we try to
link in with community events which is a key part of our ongoing strategic plan
which we review each year. Our ongoing smaller improvements will have a
considerable cost as they evolve and the club has to be profitable for this to occur.

ideally the club would like to acquire the land from the Council at community land
pricing and use the annual lease rentals to repay the land value in the form of a loan
from council so that in years to come the Club can grow more to suit the expanded
growth that is happening in this part of the shire. This growth expectation and our
continual focus on the local community groups and associations in the area is
critical to the community, and no doubt is also a key consideration for council as
they expand services for the area. Our club is a vital part of that growth, and really
without the opportunity to acquire the land to have as our own, we will be limited
in what we can do and achieve for the community.

If you require any additional information, please let us know.

Yours faithfully,

P. Carter
Chairperson

LENNOX HEAD PHARMACY

it Egaf plaer s
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION
CLUB LIMITED

ABN 29 163 771 382

Financial Report For The Year Ended
30 June 2015
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

Lennox Head Community Sport and Recreation Club

Limited

ABN 29 163 771 382

Financial Report For The Year Ended

30 June 2015
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN: 29 163 771 382
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS'

The Directors of Lennox Head Community Sport and Recreation Club Limited (ABN 29 163 771 382 (the "Club”),
submit their report for the company for the year ended 30 June 2015

Directors
The names of the Directors of the Club in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are
Pip Carter Chairperson
Lindsay Clarke
Col Skennar
Darel Vidler
Kevin Watts (appointed 23/11/14)
Paul Everingham (appointed 23/11/14)
MNeil Kennedy (appointed 23/11/14)
David Hulme (resigned 23/11/14)
Beth Heldt (resigned 23/11/14)
The Directors were in office from the beginning of the financial year until the date of this report, unless otherwise
stated.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Club during the financial year have been the operation of a licenced bowls and sports
club. There have been no significant changes in the nature of those activities during the financial year.

Short Term Objectives

The Club's short term objectives are:
- Provide a first class sporting and entertainment venue for the Lennox Head community.

- Establish a strong and viable revenue base that will support the ongoing sustainability of the Lennox Head
Community Sports and Recreation Club Limited.
- Grow existing membership and enhance the facilities for both members and visitors alike.

- Maximise the Clubhouse facilities to increase our capacity to access new markets in functions and hospitality
and leisure.

- Encourage, recognise, value the contribution of all volunteers within the Club.

Long Term Objectives

The Club's long term objectives are:

- Build a stronger brand awareness and recognition in the Region for Club Lennox.

_ Enhance our perception in the community as a business of excellence with a focus on social, envirenment and
economic responsibility.

Strategies

To achive these objectives, the Club has adopted the following strategies:

- Develop appropriate financial model to support the objectives.

- Use targeted promoticn of the Club, and a program to increase the profile in the wider community.
- Ivlaintain and improve the bowling and social facilities where necessary.

- Ensure the roles of the existing stakeholders are co-ordinated.

Page 1
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Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

Infermatien on Directors

Pip Carter

Experience
Special Responsibilities

Lindsay Clarke
Experience
Special Responsibilities

Col Skennar
Experience
Special Responsibilities

Darel Vidler
Experience
Special Responsibilities

Kevin Watts
Experience
Special Responsibilities

Paul Everingham
Experience
Special Responsibilities

Neil Kennedy

Experience
Special Responsibilities

Company Secretary

Director

Current director since 9th October 2013
Chairperson

Director
Current director since 9th October 2013
Treasurer

Director
Current director since 9th October 2013
Director

Director
Current director since 9th October 2013
Director

Director
Current director since 23rd Novermber 2014
Director

Director
Current director since 23rd November 2014
Director

Director

Current director since 23rd November 2014
Director

Geoff Martin became the Company Secretary on 23 December 2013

Meetings of Directors

During the financial year, 13 ordinary meetings of directors were held.
Attendances by each director during the year were as follows:

Pip Carter
Lindsay Clarke
Col Skennar
Darel Vidler
Kevin Watts
Paul Everingham
Neil Kennedy
David Hulme
Beth Heldt

Directors' Meetings

Number
eligible to
attend

Number
attended

12

12

Bl S22
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

Auditor's Independence Declaration

An independence declaration has been provided to the Directors by the auditor of Lennox Head Community Sport and
Recreation Club Limited, MF Partners Chartered Accountants, and is attached to the Directors’ report
\

Signe. in accordance with a resclution of the Directors.

|

Signed at Lennox Head
28th September 2015

Page 3
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION TO THE DIRECTORS OF
LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED
ABN: 29 163 771 382

In relation to our audit of the financial report of Lennox Head Community Sport and Recreation Club Limited
for the year ended 30 June 2015, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions
of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of professional
conduct

MF Partners Chartered Accountants

T K

Mark Charter
Partner

28th September 2015

Page 4
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
PROFIT AND LOSS AND STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 2015 2014
$ $

Revenue 2 1,517,130 736,889
Other income 2 2,789 106,246
Employee benefits expense 3 (517,774)  (200,509)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 3 (37,048) (3,512)
Finance costs 3 (4,391) (3,248)
Bar cost of goods sold 3 (358,618)  (175,163)
Repairs & Maintenance 3 (74,856) (48,371)
Rental expense 3 (11,436) (5,406)
Audit expense 3 (6,980)

Loss on Disposal of Assets 3 _
Other expenses 3 (448,776) (281,640)
Profit (Loss) before income tax 60,040 125,286
Income tax expense

Profit (Loss) for the year 60,040 125,286

Other comprehensive income for the year - R

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit (Loss) attributable to members of the entity 60,040 125,286

Total comprehensive income attributable to members of the entity 60,040 125,286

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Page 5
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2015

Note 2015 2014
$ $
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 4 127,133 207 810
Trade and other receivables 5 5,740 5,110
Inventories 6 33027 22192
Other assets 7 - -
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 165,900 235112
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 8 2,267,512 2,208,787
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 2267 512 2,208,787
TOTAL ASSETS 2,433,412 2,443,899
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 9 41,345 44 386
Subscriptions in advance 9
Accrued expenses 10 2,024 41,000
Borrowings 11 36,152 60,000
Short term provisions 12 7,468 3227
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 86,990 148,613
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowings 11 1,096 10,000
Long term provisions 12
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,096 10,000
TOTAL LIABILITIES 88,086 158,613
NET ASSETS 2345 326 2,285 286
EQUITY
Retained earnings 185,326 125,286
Reserves 2,160,000 2,160,000
TOTAL EQUITY 2 345 326 2 285 786
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
Page 6
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Revaluation Match Committee

Retained Eamings Cadets Reserve Total
Surplus Reserve
$ $ $ $
Balance at 1 July 2013 - - - - -
Profit {Loss) attributable to the entity 125,286 - - - 125,286
Revaluation of Buildings and Infrastructure - 2,160,000 - - 2,160,000
Reserve added {utilized) - - - - -
Total other comprehensive income for the year - - - - -
Balance at 30 June 2014 125,286 2,160,000 - - 2,285,286
Profit {Loss) attributable to the entity 60,040 - - - 60,040
Revaluation of Buildings and Infrastructure - - - - -
Reserve added {utilized) - - - - -
Total other comprehensive income for the year - - - - -
Balance at 30 June 2015 185,326 2,160,000 - - 2,345 326
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
Page 7
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 2015 2014
$ $
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from members and visitors 1,513,784 731167
Payments to suppliers and employees (1,467,051) (626,945)
Interest received 2,16 1,927
Finance costs (4,391) (3,248)
Net cash provided by/(used In) operating activities 17(b) 45,058 102,901
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment - -
Payment for property, plant and equipment (95,772) (52,299)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (95,772) (52,299)
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Fundraising and contributions 2,789 104,931
Fundraising expenses R (17,723)
Repayment of borrowings (59,056) -
Increase in borrowings 26,304 70,000
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (29,963) 157,208
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (80,677) 207,810
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 207,810 -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 17(a) 127,133 207810
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
Page 8
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

The financial statements are for Lennox Head Community Sport and Recreation Club Limited as an individual entity,
incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Lennox Head Community Sport and Recreation Club Limited is a company limited

Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation

The financial statements are a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting Interpretations), the Australian Charities and Not-far-profit
Commission Act 2012 and the Corporations Act 2001 . Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club Limited has
elected to adopt the pronouncements AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards and AASB 2010-
2: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements to the annual

reporting period beginning 1 June 2010

Awustralian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in financial
statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. Material accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied
unless otherwise stated.

Lennox Head Community Sport and Recreation Club Limited is a not-for-profit entity.
The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical costs unless otherwise
stated in the notes. The accounting policies that have been adopted in the preparation of this report are as follows:
Accounting Policies
(a) Revenue

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when received.

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which for floating rate financial rate financial
assets is the rate inherent in the instrument. Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has
been established

Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the customers,
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST)

(b) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost.

Inventories acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration are valued at the current replacement cost as at the date
of acquisition.

(c) Property, Plant and Equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair values as indicated, less, where applicable,
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Property

The land is leased from Ballina Shire Council. The buildings have been bought to account at 60% of the insured
value of the building following the de-amalgamation from Ramsgate RSL Memorial Club in 2014,

In periods when the buildings are not subject to an independent valuation. the directors conduct directors’ valuations
to ensure the carrying amount for the land and buildings is not materially different to the fair value.

Page 9
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Increases In the carrying amount ansing on revaluaten of land and bulldings are recognised in otner comprenensive
income and accumulated in the revaluation surplus in equity. Revaluation decreases that offset previous increases of
the same class of assets shall be recegnised in other comprehensive income under the heading of revaluation
surplus. All other decreases are charged to the statement of comprehensive income.

The revalued buildings are to be carried at fair value, with regular reassesssment of the value, so hence no
depreciation is charged.

Freehold land and buildings that have been confributed at no cost, or for nominal cost are valued recognised at the
fair value of the asset at the date it is acquired.

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment losses. Any plant and
equipment acquired for less than $2,000 are expensed immediately.

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed Eil'l!"l\.lé'.ll“«I Dy directors to ensure it is not in excess of the
recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash
flows that will be received from the assets employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have
been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts

Plant and equipment that have been contributed al no cost, or for nominal cost are valued and recognised at the fair
value of the asset at the date it is acquired.

Depreciation

The depreciable amount of all fixed assels including buildings and capilalised lease assels, but excluding freehold
land, is depreciated on a sfraight-line basis over the asset's useful life fo the entity commencing from the time the
asset Is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period
of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate

Buildings 1-2%

Plant and Equipment 10-25%

Office Equipment 10-25%

Furniture and Fittings 10-25%

Poker Machines 10-25%

Motor Vehicles 10-25%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

Asset classes carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Galns and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains or
losses are included in the statement of comprehensive income. When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in
the revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings.

(d) Leases
Leases of fixed assels, where substantially all the risks and benefils incidental to the ownership of the asset, but not
the legal ownership, are transferred to the entity are classified as finance leases.

Finance leases are capitalised, recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the minimum lease
payments, including any guaranteed residual values.

Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis aver their estimated usetul lives where It is likely that the entity
will obtain ownership of the asset. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the
lease interest expense for the period.

Lease paymenls for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are
charged as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over the
life of the lease term

Page 10
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(e) Financial Instruments

Initial Recognition and Measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the Company commits itself to either
purchase or sell the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted).

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transactions costs except where the instrument is
classified “at fair value through profit or loss” in which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss
immediately.

Classification and Subsequent Measurement

Financial instruments are subsequently measured at either fair value, amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method or cost. Falr value represents the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled,
between knowledgeable, willing parties. Where available, quoted prices in an active market are used to determine
fair value. In other circumstances, valuation technigues are adopled.

Amortised cost is calculated as

(i) the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition

(i) less principal repayments

(1ii) plus or minus the cumulative amortisation of the difference, if any, between the amount initially recognised and the
malturity amount calculated using the effective inferest method , and

(iv) less any reduction for impairment

The effective interest method |s used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant period and Is
equivalent to the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including fees, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts} through the expected life (or when this cannot be reliably predicled, the
contractual term) of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.
Revisions to expecled future net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying value with a consequential
recognition of an income or expense in profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assels are classined at rair vaiue tnrougn promnt or 10Ss° wnen (ney are neid 1or trading 1or ine purpose or
short-term profit taking, or where they are derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are designated as
such to avaid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a group of financial assets is
managed by key management personnel on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or
investment strategy. Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying value being
included in profit or loss

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Loans and receivables are included in current assets, except for those which are not expected to mature within 12
months after the end of the reporting period, which will be classified as non-current assets

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable
payments, and it is the entity's intention o hold these investments to maturity. They are subsequently measured at
amorlised cost

Held-to-maturity investments are included in non-current assels, except for those which are expected to mature within
12 months after the end of the reporting period

If during the period the company sold or reclassified more than an insignificant amount of the held-to-maturity
investments before maturity, the entire held-to-maturity investment would be tainted and reclassified as available-for-
sale,

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either not capable of being classified
into other categories of financial assets due lo their nature, or they are designated as such by management. They
comprise investments in the equity of other entities where there is neither a fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable
payments
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Available-for-sale financial assets are included in non-current assets, except for those which are expected to be
disposed of within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

(v) Financial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised cost

Fair value

Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation technigues are applied to
determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length transactions, reference to similar
instruments and option pricing models.

Impairment
AL the end of each reporting period, the Club assesses whether there 1s objective evidence that a financial instrument

has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a prolonged decline in the value of the
instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment has arisen. Impairment losses are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset Is

transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the risks and
benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations are either
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying value of the financial liability, which is
extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash
assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss

() Impairment of Assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Club reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to
delermine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is
compared lo the assel’s carrying value. Any excess of the assel’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is
expensed to the statement of comprehensive income

Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent upon on the asset's ability to generate
net cash inflows and when the entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future economic benefits,
value in use is determined as the depreciated replacement cost of an asset

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an assets class, the Club estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the class of assels belong.

Where an impairment loss on a revalued asset is identified, this is debited against the revaluation surplus in respect
of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation
surplus for that same class of asset

(g) Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the Club’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to the end
of the reporting period. Employee benefits thal are expected to be settled within one year have been measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liability is setlled. Employee benefits payable later than one year have been
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. In determining the
liability, consideration is given to employee wage increases and the probability that the employee may not satisfy
vesting requirements. Those cash outflows are discounted using market yields on national government bonds with
terms to maturity that match the expected timing of cash flows.

Contributions are made by the entity to an employee superannuation fund and are charged as expenses when
incurred.

(h) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at-call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within
short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position

(ij Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assels are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred
is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of
financial position are shown inclusive of GST.
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investing
and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

i) Income Tax

No provision for income tax has been raised as the Club is exempt from income tax under Div 50 of the Income Tax
Assessment Act 1997

(k) Intangibles
Poker Machine Entitlements
Poker Machine Entitlements which have been acquired for nil cost have not had a value assigned to them. Due to the
price volatility and the ability of government policy to dramatically affect the carrying value of the entitlements,

() Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the entity has a legal or construclive obligation, as a resull of past events, for which it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured. Provisions
recognised represent the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the end of reporting period.

{m

Comparative Figures

Where required by Accounting Standards comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in
presentation for the current financial year.

‘When an enlity applies an accounting policy retrospectively, makes a retrospeclive restatement or reclassifies items
in its financial statements, a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the earliest comparative period must
be disclosed

(n) Trade and Other Payables
Trade and other payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period for goods and services
received by the company during the reporting period, which remain unpaid. The balance is recognised as a current
liability with the amounts normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability

(o) Critical accounting estimates and judgments
The directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial statements based on historical
knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and
are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Glub

Key Estimates

Impairment

The buildings had there value assessed in 2014, which is based on 60% of the insured value of the building, and no
change has been adopted in 2015

(p) Economic Dependence
Lennox Head Community Sport and Recreation Club Limited is dependent on the current licencing and gaming rules
for a significant portion of its revenue used to operate the business. At the date of this report the Board of Directors
has no reason to believe the current licencing and gaming rules will not continue to be favourable for the Club
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 2 Revenue and Other Income
Note 2015 2014
$ ]
Revenue
— Adverlising Income 2227 -
— ATM Commissions 11,455 4,548
__ Bar Sales 827,799 408,726
__ Bowls Income 35427 21,996
— Clubhouse Income 9,700 2,047
— Commissions - TAB and Keno 42 562 12,478
— Coffee Shop Income 16,141 B 597
— Function Income 11,233 -
— Greens Maintenance Ramsgate - 4636
— Poker Machine Net Revenue 453,835 167,773
— Pool Table Income 113 214
— Raffle Income 40,466 57,057
— Rental Income 10,39
— Restaurant Income - 3341
— Subscriptions Members. 32,553 52,829
— Sky Rebate 5,000 500
— Vouchers Sold 852 220
— Wages Subsidy 6,503
— Other 8,157 -
1,514,414 734,962
Other Revenue
— Dividends received -
— Interest received on financial assets not at fair
value through profit or loss 2,716 1,927
2716 1,927
Total Revenue 1,517,130 736,689
Other Income
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 1,315
Contribution for Capital Assets - Ramsgate - 17,000
Contribution from Incorporated Association - 43214
Donations - 15,781
Fundraising Income 2,789 28,936
Total Other Income 2,789 106,246
Total Revenue and Other Income 1,519,919 843,135
Note 3 Expenses
2015 2014
$ s
(a) Expenses
Depreciation and Amortisation 37,048 3512
Total Depreciation and Amortisation 37,048 3512
Interest expense on financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss 4,39 3,248
Doubiful debts expense -
Loss on disposal of non-cumrent assets -
Auditor Remuneration
— audit services -
— other services 6,980
Total Audit Remuneration 6,980
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 3 Expenses
2015 2014
$ $

Employee Benefit Expense 517.774 200,509
Rental payments 11.436 5,406
Bar Cost of Goods Sold 358,618 175,163
Repairs & Maintenance 74,856 48,371
Advertising 49474 13,110
Bingo and Trivia 17,055 1,779
Computer Expenses 2,898 3,042
Club Activities 7,647 4,078
Gonsultancy and Contraclors 100 3,636
Cleaning 6,462 4,426
Directors Expenses 20 1,119
Electricity & Gas 46,165 41,416
Fees, Permits and Subscriptions 24016 10,846
Functions Expenses 9,935 0
Fundraising Expenses 0 17,723
Insurance 45227 22217
Kitchen Costs 8.825 4,285
Kene & TAB Costs 11,331 3,950
Legal Expenses 809 41,959
Minor Equipment Purchases 19,599 22,806
Members Benefits 656 546
Mator Vehicle Costs 3,994 14
Music, Entertainment and Amenities 63,851 26,519
Office Expenses 10,600 7,001
Raffles and Promotion 49,793 18,594
Rates & Water 21,667 6,855
Restaurant Expenses 0 2,495
Sky Channel 17.914 6,528
Security 9,737 5,678
Sponsarship 4,866 3,000
Telephone/ Internet 5,355 4,803
Voucher Expenses 3.710 0
Other 7,070 3315
Total Other Expenses T AmTTE T ZBTEU

Note 4 Cash and Cash Equivalents

2015 2014
3 5

CURRENT

Cash at bank 84,012 168,876

Cash on Hand 43121 38,934

T 127133 T a7si0
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note § Trade and Other Receivables
Note 2015 2014
$ H

CURRENT
Trade receivables 740 110
Provision for impairment 5ii) - -

740 110
EFTPOS Receivable - -
Other receivables 5,000 5.000
Total current trade and other receivables 18 5,740 5110

(i) Provision for Impairment of Receivables

Current trade receivables are generally on 30 day terms. These receivables are assessed for recoverability and a provision for
impairment is recognised when there is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is impaired. These amounts have been
included in other expense items.

Movement in the provision for impairment of receivables is as follows

Provision for impairment as at 1 July 2013 -
- Charge for year -
- Written off -

Provision for impairment as at 30 June 2014 -
- Charge for year -
- Written off -

Provision for impairment as at 30 June 2015 - -

Credit risk - Trade and Other Receivables
The Club does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables

The following table details the company’s trade and other receivables exposed to credil risk (prior to collateral and other credit
enhancements) with ageing analysis and impairment provided for thereon. Amounts are considered as 'past due’ when the debt has not
been settled within the terms and conditions agreed between the company and the customer or counter party te the transaction.
Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining solvency of the debtors and are provided for where there are
specific circumstances indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid to the Club

The balances of receivables that remain within initial frade terms {as detailed in the table) are considered to be of high credit quality.

Past due but not impaired (days overdue)
Past due
Gross and Within initial
Amount | impaired <30 31-60 61-90 =90 frade terms
2015 5 § 3 ] $ ¥ §
Trade and term receivables 740 - - - - - 740
Other receivables 5,000 - - - - - 5,000
Total 5,740 - - - - - 5,740
Past due but not impaired (days overdue)
Past due
Gross and Within initial
Amount | impaired <30 31-60 61-90 =90 trade terms
2014 5 5 $ s 3 $ 5
Trade and term receivables 110 - - - - - 110
Other receivables 5,000 - - - - - 5,000
Total 5110 - - - - - 5110

The Club does not hold any financial assets whose terms have been renegofiated, but which would otherwise be past due or impaired

There are no balances within frade receivables that conlain assels that are not impaired and are past due. Itis expected thal these
balances will be received when due.
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41 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental
LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 6 Inventories
2015 2014
3 $
CURRENT
At cost
Bar Stock 33,027 22,192
33,027 22,192
At current replacement cost
Bar Stock 60,049 40,349
60,049 40,349
Note 7 Other Assels
2015 2014
7 §
CURRENT
Accrued Income
Prepayments -
Note & Property, Plant and Equipment
2015 2014
$ ]
LAND AND BUILDINGS
Buildings & Improvements at fair value:
— Buildings at Directors Valuation - 2014 2,160,000 2,160,000
— Buildings at Cost - -
Less accumulated depreciation (21,600) -
Total buildings 2,138,400 2,160,000
Total land and buildings 2,138 400 2,160,000
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant & Equipment
Al cost 72,685 11,367
Less accumulated depreciation (4.420) {1,065)
68,265 10,302
Office Equipment
At cost 3,299 2752
Accumulated depreciation {550) (255)
2,748 2,496
Furniture and Equipment
At cost 38,180 38.180
Less accumulated depreciation (6,612) (2,192)
31568 35,988
Poker Machines
At cost 26,304
Less accumulated depreciation (3,481)
22,823
Maotor Vehicles
At cost 4091
Less accumulated depreciation (384)
3,706 -
Tatal plant and equipment 129,112 48,787
Total property, plant and equipment

2,267 512
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 8 Property, Plant and Equipment

Movements in Carrying Amounts

Mavement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of the current
financial year

Plant,
Fumniture
and Poker
Buildings  Equipment Motor Vehicles Machines Total
$ § 3

2014

Balance at the beginning of the year - - - - -
Additions at cost - 52,299 - - 52,299
Transfers between calegories - - - - -
Disposals - - - - -
Revaluation increment 2,160,000 - - - 2,160,000
Depreciation expense - (3.512) - - {3.512)
Carrying amount at end of year 2,160,000 48,787 - - 2,208 787
2015

Balance at the beginning of the year 2,160,000 48,787 - - 2,208 787
Additions at cost - 65378 4,091 26,304 95,773
Revaluation - - - -
Disposals - - - - -
Depreciation expense (21,600) (11,582) (385) (3.481) {37,048)
Carrying amount at end of year 2,138,400 102 583 3,706 22823 2267512

Poker Machine Entitlements

As at 30 June 2015 the Club holds 29 poker machine entitlements, of which 29 are in use currently. The entitlements in certain
circumstances can be traded, with government regulation controlling this process. \With the uncertainty in valuing the enfittements due
to changes in government laws, and the potential for pre-commitment technolegy impacting this further, the enfitlements have continued
ta be carried at nil

Asset revaluations

The buildings were valued in 2014 by the Directors. The valuation was based using 60% of the Insured value. The land is leased from
Ballina Shire Council. No consideration was paid by the Club for the Buildings and infrastructure and the fair value model is used
whereby frequent revaluations are used to ensure the assets are carried at fair value.

Note 9 Trade and Other Payables
2015 2014
$ 5

CURRENT
Trade creditors 30878 33,375
Other current payables 10,467 11,011

9(a) 41,345 44,386
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 9 Trade and Other Payables
2015 2014
Note $ $

(a) Financial liabilities at amortised cost classified as trade and other payables
Trade and other payables
— Total Current 41345 44 386
— Total Non-Current

41,345 44,386
Less deferred income - -
Less annual leave entitlements - -
Financial liabilities as trade and other payables 18 41,345 44,386
Note 10 Accrued Expenses 2015 2014
§ ]
Accrued Expenses 2,024 41,000
2,024 41,000
Note 11 Borrowings
2015 2014
Note 3 §
CURRENT
Members Loans 13 12,000 52,000
Lady Bowlers - RSL Confribution 3,000 -
Mens Bowlers - RSL Contribution 8,000 8,000
Hire Purchase Liability 13,152 R
36,152 60,000
NON-CURRENT
Members Loans 13 - 10,000
Hire Purchase Liability 1,096 -
1,096 10,000
TOTAL BORROWINGS 18 37,248 70,000
The loans are unsecured,
Note 12 Provisions
CURRENT 2015 2014
Short-term Employee Benefits $ $
Opening balance at 30 June 2014 3227 -
Additional provisions raised during year 36,244 14,036
Amounts used (32,003) (10,809)
Balance at 30 June 2015 7468 3,227
2015 2014
Analysis of Total Provisions $ E]
Current 7468 3227
Non-current - -
7 468 3227

Provision for Long-term Employee Benefits

A provision has been recognised for employee entitlements relating to long service leave. In calculating the present value of future cash
flows in respect of long service leave, the probability of long service leave being taken is based on historical data. The measurement
and recognition criteria relating to employee benefits has been included in Note 1 to this report.
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 13 Capital and Leasing Commitments
(a) Finance Lease Commitments 2015 2014
Payable — minimum lease payments 3 $
— not later than 12 months 13,152
— later than 12 months but not later than 5 years 1,096
— greater than 5 years -
Minimum lease payments 14,248
Less future finance charges -
Present value of minimum lease payments 14,248

The leased assets will be fully owned at the end of the lease period.

(b) Operating Lease Commitments
Non-cancellable operating leases confracted for but not capitalised in the financial statements

2015 2014
Payable — minimum lease payments $ 3
— not later than 12 months -
— later than 12 months but not later than 5 years -
— greater than 5 years -
Note 14 Contingent Liabilities and Assets
2015 2014
$ §

The directors are not aware of any contingent assets or liabilities at the date of signing this report

Note 15 Events After the Reporting Period

Since the end of the financial year no matter or circumstance has arisen which significantly affected or may significantly affect the
operations of the Club, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Club in subsequent financial years

Note 16 Related Party Transactions
No related party transactions were noted fer the year.

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to other
persons unless otherwise stated
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 17 Cash Flow Information

2015 2014
Note B 5
(a) Reconciliation of cash
Cash at bank 127133 207 810
Bank Overdraft - -
4 127,133 207 810

(b) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with profit after income tax

Profit (loss) after income tax 60,040 125,286

Non cash flows
Depreciation and amortisation 37,048 3,512
Net Fundraising Income (2,789) (87,208)
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment - -
Loss on sale of property. plant and
equipment

Change in assets and liabilities
{Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables {630) (5.110)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (42,017) 85,3686
Increase/ (decrease) in reserves - -
Increase/ (decrease) in provisions 4241 3227
{Increase)/decrease in inventories (10,835) (22.192)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments - -

45,058 102,901

Note 18 Financial Risk Management

The Club's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, short-term investments, accounts receivable and payable and
leases.

The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 139 as detailed in the accounting policies to
these financial statements, are as follows:

2015 2014
Note $ $

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4 127133 207,810
Receivables 5 740 110
Total Financial Assets 127873 207,920
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

— Trade and other payables 9 30878 33375

— Borrowings 1 37,248 70,000
Total Financial Liabilities 68,126 103.375
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 19 Capital Management

Management controls the capital of the enfity to ensure that adequate cash flows are generated to fund its mentoring programs and that
returns frem investments are maximised. The executive committee ensures that the overall risk management strategy is in line with this
objective.

The executive committee operates under policies approved by the Board of Directors. Risk management palicies are approved and
reviewed by the Board on a regular basis. These include credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements.

The entity's capital consists of financial liabilities, supported by financial assels

Management effectively manages the enfity's capital by assessing the entity's financial risks and respending to changes in these risks
and in the markel. These responses may include the consideration of debt levels.

There have been no changes to the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the enfity since the previous year. The
strategy of the entity is to maintain a gearing ratio below 10%.

The gearing ratios for the years ended 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 are as follows

2015 2014
Note $ 5
Total borrowings 11 37,248 70,000
Total equity (reserves + retained earnings) 2345326 2,285,286
Gearing ralio 1.6% 31%

Note 20 Reserves

a.  Revaluation Surplus
The revaluation surplus records the revaluations of non-current assets. Where revaluations are deemed to represent profits of a
permanent nature, dividends may be declared from this surplus.

Note 21 Entity Details

The registered office of the entity is
Lennox Head Community Sport and Recreation Club Limited
10 Stewart Street
LENNOX HEAD NSW 2478

The principal place of business is:
Lennox Head Community Sport and Recreation Club Limited
10 Stewart Street
LENNOX HEAD NSW 2478
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 22 Members’ Guarantee

The entity is incorporated under the Corperations Act 2001 and is an entity limited by guarantee. If the entity is wound up, the
constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of 32 each towards meeting any outstandings and obligations
of the entity. At 30 June 2015 the number of members is 2652 (2014: 3522)
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED
ABN: 29 163 771 382
DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

in accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Lennox Head Community Sport and Recreation Club Limited,
| state that:

In the opinion of the Directors:

(2) the financial statements and notes of the Fund are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and
Australian Charities and No-for-profit Commission Act 2012, including:
(i) Giving a true and fair view of the Fund's financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of its performance
for the year ended on that date;

(i)  Complying with the Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001.

(b) inthe directors' opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its
debis as and when they become due and payable.

Signed in apcordance with subsection 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission
Reguiation P013.

Pip Carter | Y,
Chairperso p;

Lindsay CI}K/
Treasurer

Signed at Lennox Head
28th September 2015
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED ABN 29 163 771 382
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
LENNOX HEAD COMMUNITY SPORT AND RECREATION CLUB LIMITED

We have audited the accompanying financial stalements of Lennox Head Community Sport and Recreation Club Limited, which
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015 and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes
in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that dale, a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration

The Responsibility of the Directors for the Financial Statements

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Acceunting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances

Auditor's Responsibility

Our respensibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement

An audit invelves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclesures in the financial statements. The
procedures selecled depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial stalements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to
the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinien on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting pelicies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall p on of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We confirm that the
independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, provided to the directors of Lennox Head Community Sport and
Recreation Club Limited on 28th September 2015, would be in the same terms if provided to the directors as at the date of this
auditor's report.

Auditor's Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Lennox Head Cemmunity Sport
and Recreation Club Limited as at 30 June 2015, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance

with Australian Accounting Standards’ reduced disclosure requirements (including the Ausltralian Accounting Interpretations) as
described in Note 1, the Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission Act 2012 and the Corporations Regulations 2001

Name of Firm: MF Partners Chartered Accountants
T cAF

Name of Pariner: Mark Charter

Address 95 Tamar St Ballina NSW 2478,

Dated this 28th September 2015,
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

CLUB

LENNOX

EST 2013

CLUB LENNOX

STRATEGIC
PLANNING
OUTCOMES

2014/2015

Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club Limited t/a Club Lennox
PO Box 422 Lennox Head NSW 2478 - info@clublennox.com.au - www.clublennox.com.au - 02 6687 4313
ABN 29 163 771 382

LENNOX HEAD PHARMACY

tyoun, Gecal phanmacty
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

CLUB

LENNOX

EST 2013

Club Objectives

. Maintain a functioning and profitable club operation with planned growth via the
many community groups in the town

. To become the main location for community Groups in Lennox Head (business
functions, commercial and social gatherings), including assessing their needs and
assisting in working out ways to meet these for the benefit of both groups

. Assess the possibility of reciprocal rights with other clubs (may include members,
promotions and events)

. Become the hub for all sporting groups that use the club for their various club
activities and special events

. Continue to grow the promotional and entertainment program that has a focus on a
variety of events, use the local media outlets for promotion and using the members
electronic connections to keep them informed

. Continue to develop a knowledgeable board that has the abilities to manage the
club and this may include additional training as needed

. Ensure that the club maintains friendly staff in all interactions with members

. Ensure that the club always maintains a focus on quality food being provided via
the restaurant for dining and the various activities that are conducted

. Look at additional membership categories including say a five year membership

. Look for ways to promote additional children’s activities within the club (games
rooms, créche etc.)

e  Assess ways to develop a functions area for meetings and smaller activities

. Continue to ensure that regular communication is maintained to all members to
ensure that all events are fully known to members (this includes some written
communication within the club each month- even a one page flyer)

. Advertising Board western end of Club

. Straighten path to make the east end area either outdoor or enclosed

Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club Limited t/a Club Lennox
PO Box 422 Lennox Head NSW 2478 - info@clublennox.com.au - www.clublennox.com.au - 02 6687 4313
ABN 29 163 771 382

LENNOX HEAD PHARMACY

youn bocal phanmacty
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

CLUB

LENNOX

EST 2013

Community Suggestions

. Alignment of the vision and plans for all social and sporting groups

. Website role expanded to include all sub clubs and even extend to booking in for
bowls and other events

. Members draws, look at viability

. Poker machines, card system and upgrade progressively

. BBQ facilities for special occasions (outdoor based only) and or on days when
restaurant not opened

. Comfortable seating (expand the lounges) and quiet areas

. Ice cream trolley

. Beer garden area with outdoor decking, maybe a different entrance nat only from
restaurant. Look at shade sails and or retractable roofing

. Glass bi-fold doors for selected sites opening onto greens area

. Better use of the area between the greens using small tables and chairs for family
groups (barefoot bowls), drinks, music (light only), alfresco tables and chairs in
front of club for outdoor seating

. Use of greens for special events and using special green covering sheets and
boards

. Functions room an opening up a portion of the unused rooms at the western end of
the club (and locker rooms)

. Upgrade the front entrance (can we go out a bit onto path and bi-fold doors)

. Big board outside of club to show that the club is home to.... the many groups
using the club

. Link in with bus groups (to gain at least 1 weekly visit for meals, social etc.)

. Link in with Landcare and other groups

Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club Limited t/a Club Lennox
PO Box 422 Lennox Head NSW 2478 - info@clublennox.com.au - www.clublennox.com.au - 02 6687 4313
ABN 29 163 771 382

LENNOX HEAD PHARMACY

youn lecab| phanmacty
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

CLUB

LENNOX

EST 2013

Community Suggestions cont’d

. A results board for all sporting groups to be updated by each group weekly, daily or
whatever is needed.

. Maintain the community involvement

. Attract weddings, birthdays and other functions for smaller groups (say 50/60
people), develop the function room to handle this capacity

. Honour board for all sporting groups in one designated area

. Children’s facilities for the older teenager (X boxes etc.)

. Friendly atmosphere- focus on members

. Food quality

. Space where groups can meet

. Open beer garden

. Growth- develop a ten year plan for this site and also potentially additional sites

. Car raffles each year to boost reserves for future growth

. Sports personality of the year

. Community person of the year (and event) impartial and all groups can nominate
people with an impartial judge selection process

. Club to raise funds for rescue helicopter and or other fund raising activities and
maybe different to other mainstream fund raising

. Dress up club and staff for special events , Easter, St Patricks Day, Australia Day,
surf rescue

. Lights on bowling green (try to gather poles from other clubs that have folded)

. Celebrate success days

. Rest estate auctions in Club

. Antique fairs

. Toy displays

. Travel displays

Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club Limited t/a Club Lennox
PO Box 422 Lennox Head NSW 2478 - info@clublennox.com.au - www.clublennox.com.au - 02 6687 4313
ABN 29 163 771 382

LENNOX HEAD PHARMACY

youn, bocal phanmacty
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4.1 Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club - Lease Rental

CLUB

LENNOX

EST 2013

Community Suggestions cont’d

. Cooking demonstrations

e  Celebrate open day for Club Lennox — say in February yearly and special events

. Good news stories in newspaper

. Sportsman lunches

. Happy hour Mon Tue 4/5 or 5/6pm

. More sponsorship

e  Artexhibitions

. Market days at the club

. Link in with Country Music festival

. Link in with Love Lennox and promote this activity for more club activity (say
giveaways)

. Food and wine festival (using food from the restaurant, just served in a different

manner, say outside and around the greens

Lennox Head Community Sports and Recreation Club Limited t/a Club Lennox
PO Box 422 Lennox Head NSW 2478 - info@clublennox.com.au - www.clublennox.com.au - 02 6687 4313
ABN 29 163 771 382

LENNOX HEAD PHARMACY

tyoun, Lecaly phanmacty
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4.2

Richmond Christian College Association - Cycleway

4.2

Richmond Christian College Association - Cycleway

Delivery Program Commercial Services

Objective To present cost estimates for Council to construct a
cycleway along Tamarind Drive and link up with a
cycleway that may be constructed by Richmond
Christian College Association.

Background

Ballina Christian Education Association, as landowners of the Richmond
Christian College, is required, as a condition of DA 1999/758 to construct a
cycleway connection from the College campus to the Ballina Heights
Cycleway. This proposed cycleway traverses Council’s Gallans Road Site (Lot
386 DP 755684 and Part Lot 114 DP 755684).

A report was presented to the Commercial Service Meeting of 15 July 2015
(see attached report), with the recommendation in that report not being
supported, and Council recommending as follows:

“That Council not approve the use of the Gallans Road site for the cycleway
and that the General Manager write to the College asking that they seek an
amendment to their consent to allow the cycleway to be constructed along
Tamarind Drive, to the same extent/value as proposed on the Gallens Road
site. Council will also consider extending this revised cycleway to then join the
existing network.”

This recommendation was adopted at Council’s Ordinary Meeting of 23 July
2015.

The purpose of this report is to outline the ramifications of this Council
resolution.

Key Issues

e Compliance with development consent
e Funding of cycleway construction costs

Information

The Council resolution referred to above, requires the General Manager to
write to the College requesting they consider constructing a cycleway
extending from the College campus south along Gallans Road and then
eastward to a point about halfway along Council’s Gallans Road Site frontage
to Tamarind Drive.

Presumably Council would then continue construction of the cycleway
eastwards along Tamarind Drive to the corner of North Creek Road and
Tamarind Drive (Aldi corner).

Ballina Shire Council Commercial Services Committee Meeting Agenda
17/11/15 Page 40 of 183



4.2

Richmond Christian College Association - Cycleway

The College has responded to Council (see attached) outlining its concerns in
regards to:

1. Council’'s commitment to the timing and completion of constructing a
cycleway along Tamarind Drive to North Creek Road; and

2. The circuitous route that would be created linking Ballina Heights
Cycleway to the proposed new cycleway route along Tamarind Drive.

Council have prepared cost estimates to construct a cycleway from the
Gallens Road Site to the corner of Tamarind Drive and North Creek Road (see
attached). Council’s Infrastructure Planning Manager has estimated the cost
of these works to be in the order of $563,000.

The estimate of $563,000 excludes any works to be undertaken by the
College along Tamarind Drive and Gallans Road.

Therefore Council needs to confirm whether it wishes to create a liability of
$563,000 to connect this cycleway to our existing cycleway network.

As an alternative to the works described above, the College’s letter requests
consideration once again be given to constructing a 165m long cycleway link
extending from the College campus across the Council’s Gallans Road site to
the existing Ballina Heights Cycleway as per the attached concept plan
prepared by Granatelli & Stone. The College considers this to be a more
expedient and cost effective solution.

Legal / Resource / Financial Implications

Legal

The proposal for Council to construct a cycleway along Tamarind Drive to
North Creek Road traverses operational land and road reserve. It is noted that
Council’s current Road Contribution Plan includes a proposed four lane road
for Tamarind Drive with works not scheduled to be undertaken until after 2028.
Construction of a future four lane road along Tamarind Drive would require
relocation of the proposed cycleway as described above.

Financial

At the present time there is no allowance in any capital budget or road
contribution plan for the construction of a cycleway along Tamarind Drive to
North Creek Road.

Consultation

Council has consulted with Richmond Christian College, who has provided a
submission to this report.

Options

1. Council to continue negotiations with Ballina Christian Education
Association to construct a cycleway along Gallens Road and Tamarind
Drive and Council allocate funds for the construction of a cycleway along
Tamarind Drive to the corner of Tamarind Drive and North Creek Road,
Ballina.
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This option is not recommended as Council has not identified
construction of such a cycleway in any capital budget or road
contribution plan.

Council grant permission to Ballina Christian Education Association to
construct a cycleway link across Council operational land at Lot 386 DP
414615 and Part Lot 114 DP 755684 (the Gallens Road Site) located
Gallans Road, Ballina as per the attached plan prepared by Granatelli &
Stone.

This option is recommended as it allows the Ballina Christian Education
Association to comply with the conditions pertaining to DA 1999/758,
subject the lodgment of a S.96 Amendment Application if required. It
also appears to be a more effective solution to the cycleway network
and removes the liability created with the other option. The proposed
layout also limits any restrictions to the Council owned land.

RECOMMENDATION

That based on the contents of this report Council grants permission to Ballina
Christian Education Association to construct a cycleway link across Council
operational land located at Lot 386 DP 414615 and Part Lot 114 DP 755684
(the Gallens Road Site) Gallans Road, Ballina as per the attached plan
prepared by Granatelli & Stone.

Attachment(s)

ook whN -~

Richmond Christian College Submission 2 November 2015

Granatelli & Stone Cycleway Link Concept Plan

Concept Layout - Shared Path Tamarind Drive

Commercial Services Report 15 July 2015

Commercial Services Meeting Recommendation 15 July 2015

Estimated Costs for Concept Layout - Shared Path Tamarind Drive
Ballina
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4.2 Richmond Christian College Association - Cycleway

Richmond

CHRISTIAN COLLEGE
ug. Eugoy Life.

2 November 2015

General Manager
Ballina Shire Council
PO Box 450

Ballina NSW 2478

RECORDS
SCANNED

= 6 NOV 2015

Attention - Leanne Harding (Commercial Services)

Dear Leanne,
RE: Proposed Route of Richmond Christian College Cycleway

I refer to your letter dated 6 August 2015 advising Richmond Christian College (RCC) of the following
resolution of Council in relation to the location of the RCC cycleway:

“The Council not approve the use of the Gallans Road site for the cycleway and that the General Manager
write to the College asking that they seek an amendment to their consent to allow the cycleway to be
constructed along Tamarind Drive, to the same extent/value as proposed on the Gallans Road site.
Council will also consider extending this revised cycleway to then join the existing network”.

At this stage the RCC does not agree to amending its consent in accordance with the above resolution,
as it has a number of significant concerns in relation to Council’s decision to allow the cycleway to be
constructed along Tamarind Drive. In particular:

1. RCC are concerned that Council will not immediately extend the cycleway to join the existing
network, which is currently only constructed to the ALDI Supermarket. In addition to the
considerable distance that Council would need to construct themselves, RCC has previously
raised concern about the feasibility of placing the cycleway on Tamarind Drive given the
constraints posed by the existing construction of the road and associated table drains; and

2. A considerable number of the students that attend RCC are from Ballina Heights and in this
regard it is clear that the proposed cycleway along Tamarind Drive would not practically
service the Ballina Heights catchment, which is planned to grow significantly in coming years.
To get to RCC, students from Ballina Heights would have to cycle a circuitous route that would
take them past the school, the botanical gardens, the caravan park and loop around onto
Tamarind Drive and then backtrack to the school. Alternatively, students may seek to take a
short cut through the botanical gardens to get onto the cycleway on Tamarind Drive and then
back track to the school. This alternative route however raises concerns around student safety.

In view of the above concerns, RCC would request that Council reconsider its decision to construct the
cycleway along Tamarind Drive. In this regard, the RCC would prefer the cycleway to be constructed
from the school to the existing Ballina Heights cycleway, across Council’s land to the east of the stand
of trees as shown on the attached plan. This plan was previously submitted to Council by RCC in its
letter dated 2 June 2015, which is also attached for reference and background purposes.

The RCC prefers the cycleway route shown on the attached plan for the following reasons:
1. It complies with the terms of Condition 17 of Development Consent 1999/758;
2. It services both the residential catchment to the east (Ballina town) and the residential
catchment to the west (Ballina Heights); and

Kindergarten to Year 10
7 Gallans Road, Ballina NSW 2478 | Telephone: 02 6686 7847 | Facsimile: 02 6686 3134 | Email: admin@richmond.nsw.edu.au

www.richmond.nsw.edu.au
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3. It is considered to be located in a manner that minimises the potential for sterilisation of
Council’s land, which may be used by Council for future uses, including the proposed indoor
sports facility.

RCC understands that the location of the proposed cycleway is again being reported to the Commercial
Services Committee Meeting in mid-November 2015. Please accept this letter as a submission to the
Commercial Services Committee Meeting.

Finally, RCC would like to thank Council for its support of the school over many years and for its
consideration of this letter. If you have any questions or wish to discuss any of the above, please do not
hesitate to contact me.

Kind Regards,

Garry Binks
Principal

Kindergarten to Year 10
7 Gallans Road, Ballina NSW 2478 | Telephone: 02 6686 7847 | Facsimile: 02 6686 3134 | Email: admin@richmond.nsw.edu.au

www.richmond.nsw.edu.au

Ballina Shire Council Commercial Services Committee Meeting Agenda
17/11/15 Page 44 of 183



4.2 Richmond Christian College Association - Cycleway

MALCOLM SCOTT B.A. & D.U.R.P. (UNE) M.P.LA.

CONSULTANT TOWN PLANNER

440 Dorroughby Rd Dorroughby 2480 NSW (ABN 37 057 633 138)
Ph 0266 895 815 Mobile Ph 0427 202170 Email mscott@spot.com.au

General Manager

Ballina Shire Council

PO Box 450

Ballina NSW 2478 2 June 2015

Att Ms Leanne Harding
Commercial Services

Dear Ms Harding

Re Richmond Christian College — Lot 7 DP 1018431
Development Application No. 1999/758
Condition No. 17 - cycleway

| act on behalf of the Landowners, Ballina Christian Education Association and
Applicants Richmond Christian College C/- Mr Garry Binks, Principal, 7 Gallans Rd,
Ballina, NSW.

Further to the discussions in regard the cycleway at the DA pre-lodgement meeting
with Council on 25 May 2015, the School has instructed me to instigate negotiation
with Council in regard the final location of and its requirements for the cycleway.

As advised by Mr Neville Smith (representing the School), the School wishes to finalise
the location and get the cycleway built.

As you would be aware Condition No. 17 of DA 1999/758, that permitted the School on
the land, required the provision of the cycleway. The School sometime later prepared
and lodged a Section 96 Application to amend (perhaps indicatively show would be a
better description) the location of the cycleway. | have attached copy of the Council's
Evaluation Report for the application.

The plan lodged with the Section 96 Application showed in highlighter on an aerial
image a location for a cycleway immediately to the west of the stand of trees east of
the equestrian facility on land owned by Council.

As discussed at the meeting it appears this route may not be feasible nor practical due
to the low lying nature of the land and poor drainage.

At the meeting an alternative location for a cycleway (east of the stand of trees) was
presented. | have attached copy of the plans with amendments suggested by
Council's engineering staff at the meeting.

Both routes are located in a manner (close to the stand of trees) which minimises
potential for sterilisation of land which maybe used by Council (or others) for the
various purposes discussed at the meeting (i.e. equestrian use, sportsfields or
grazing).

Page 1
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Placing the cycleway in the former Pacific Highway (Tamarind Dr) road reserve
appears not to be a feasible option given the construction of the road and table drains.

I note that Condition No. 17 does not specify where the cycleway should be located.

On behalf of the School | respectfully request Council's:

» formal feedback on the Schools preferred route (east of the trees) connecting to
the existing Council cycleway between Ballina and Ballina Heights and

* advice as to its requirements (applications and details) so it may happen
concurrent with the proposed development at the School.

Should you have any queries please in the first instance contact Mr Smith (ph 0429
660383) or me.

Yours faithfully

Malcolm Scott M.P.I.A.
Encl
Cc Richmond Christian College

Page 2
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SCALE (1)
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4.1  Richmond Christian College Cycleway

4. Committee Reports
4.1 Richmond Christian College Cycleway
Delivery Program Commercial Services
Objective To examine the preferred cycleway route for the

Richmond Christian College and the impact on
Council owned operational land.

Background

Ballina Christian Education Association as landowners of the Richmond
Christian College received development consent in 1999 (DA 1999/758) on
land at Gallans Road, Ballina to:

“subdivide the Subject Land into Two Allotments and to Construct an
Educational Establishment comprising a Primary and Secondary School on a
Staged Basis.”

Condition 17 of the development consent stated:

“The applicant shall design and construct a cycleway connecting the school
with the Ballina Urban area. The cycleway shall extend from the school to the
Ballina Gardens Caravan Park adjacent to North Creek Road. The cycleway
shall be constructed of a minimum 200mm compacted thickness of roadbase
quality material, be a minimum of 2.7m wide and be sealed with a minimum of
25mm asphalt (AC10). Engineering drawings for the cycleway construction
shall be furnished to and approved by the Roads and Traffic Authority where
the cycleway is proposed to be located within the road reserve of the Pacific
Highway.

NB Council has agreed to allow deferment of the cycleway construction for a
maximum period of five (5) years from the operation of this consent.”

To date the cycleway is still not constructed and the School maybe in breach
of their Development Consent.

The applicant has now requested Council to consider permitting the
construction of the cycleway on Council’s operational land at Gallans Road,
Ballina.

Key Issues

« Complying with development consent conditions
+ Safety of users of cycleway
* Use of Council’s operational land for private use

Ballina Shire Council Commercial Services Committee Meeting Agenda
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4.1 Richmond Christian College Cycleway

Information

Richmond Christian College received development consent in 1999 to
construct a school on land they owned at Gallans Road, Ballina. Condition 17
relating to the construction of a cycleway was a deferred development
condition that permitted the school to be built and operational prior to
completing the cycleway.

Whilst the original condition requested the cycleway be connected adjacent to
the Ballina Gardens Caravan Park, this condition was subsequently amended
on 3 February 2012 by way of a Section 96 amendment to now be:

To delete condition 17 and replace with the following:

“The applicant shall design and construct a cycleway that connects the
educational establishment with the existing cycleway to the north of the site.
The cycleway shall be constructed of a minimum 200mm compacted
thickness of road base quality material, be a minimum 2.7m wide and be
sealed with a minimum 25mm asphalt (AC710). Design plans are to be
submitted to and approved by Council prior to the issue of an approval under
Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993.”

This amendment was to recognise that the Ballina Heights Cycleway was now
constructed and operational and the applicants were given an undertaking
that they may be able to connect to the cycleway using the Ballina Equestrian
Club land on Gallans Road (see plan attached).

To date the school cycleway has not been constructed. Council’'s compliance
section served a formal Notice of Intention to Serve an Order on the school to
comply with relevant conditions of consent relating to the cycleway. This was
then followed up with a formal Notice on 25 March 2015.

Following on from the action by the Compliance Section, the School
requested an extension to enable them to lodge a development application for
works that included the cycleway and a pre-lodgement meeting was held.

The School has now formally requested permission for the cycleway to
traverse across Council's operational land at Gallans Road, Ballina (see
attached plan). As Councillors would be aware this land has been earmarked
as a potential site for the proposed indoor sports facility.

Legal / Resource / Financial Implications

Legal

The land that the cycleway would traverse is operational land and as such
Council can permit the construction of the cycleway on this land if they so
wish.

Financial
The costs for installing the cycleway would be borne by the Ballina Christian

Education Association.
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4.1 Richmond Christian College Cycleway

Consultation

Staff have consulted with the Ballina Christian Education Association and their
appointed town planner.

Options

1.

Approve the request from Ballina Christian Education Association to
construct a cycleway as per Development Consent 1999/758 across
Council’'s operational land at Lot 386 DP 414615 and Part Lot 114 DP
755684, Gallans Road Ballina.

This option is recommended as it allows the School to construct the
cycleway and comply with relevant conditions of development consent
and also utilises existing infrastructure, being the Ballina Heights
Cycleway.

However as noted, the Gallens Road Site is once again the subject of a
feasibility assessment for the indoor sports facility and Council may not
wish the cycleway to compromise the use of the land.

Refuse the request from Ballina Christian Education Association and
advise them to seek Roads Act approval to construct the cycleway
within the road reserve along Tamarind Drive, Ballina.

Council could consider this option, however as development consent
was granted to the Ballina Christian Education Association to construct a
link to the existing cycleway, it may bé considered unreasonable to now
require them to contribute to constructing a new cycleway along
Tamarind Drive connecting with the existing Ballina Heights Cycleway at
Bicentennial Gardens, which inevitably Council would need to contribute
funds to.

RECOMMENDATION

That Council approves the request from Ballina Christian Education
Association to construct a cycleway as per Development Consent 1999/758
across Council's operational land at Lot 386 DP 414615 and Part Lot 114 DP
755684, Gallans Road Ballina with the route to be determined by the Council
General Manager or nominated delegate.

Attachment(s)
1. Applicant's Letter 2 June 2015
2. Section 96 cycleway plan
3.  Proposed Cycleway Route
4. Locality Plan
Ballina Shire Council Commercial Services Committee Meeting Agenda
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4.1

Richmond Christian College Cycleway

MALCOLM SCOTT B.A. & D.U.R.P. (UNE) M.P.LA.

CONSULTANT TOWN PLANNER
440 Dorroughby Rd Dorroughby 2480 NSW (BN 37057 633 138)
Ph 0266 B95 815 Mobile Ph 0427 202170 Email mscott@spot.com.au

General Manager
Ballina Shire Council

PQ Box 450

Ballina NSW 2478 2 June 2015

At Ms Leanne Harding | RECORDS
Commercial Services SCANNED

Dear Ms Harding 09 JUN 2015

. |
Re  Richmond Christian College - Lot T DP 1018431 :
Davelopment Application No. 1999/758 |

Condition No. 17 - cycleway Protin MO s,

| act on behalf of the Landawners, Ballina Christian Education Association and
Applicants Richmend Christian College C/- Mr Garry Binks, Principal, 7 Gallans Rd,
Ballina, NSW.

Further to the discussions in regard the cycleway at the DA pre-lodgement meeting
with Council on 25 May 2015, the Schaol has instructed me to instigate negotiation
with Council in regard the final location of and its requirements for the cycleway.

As advised by Mr Neville Smith (representing the Schaal), the School wishes to finalise
the location and get the cycleway built.

As you would be aware Condition Na. 17 of DA 1999/758, that permitted the School on
the land, required the provision of the cycleway. The School sometime later prepared
and lodged a Section 96 Application to amend (perhaps indicatively show would be a
better description) the location of the cycleway. | have attached copy of the Council's
Evaluation Report for the application.

The plan lodged with the Section 96 Application showed in highlighter en an aerial
image a location for a cycleway immediately to the west of the stand of trees east of
the equestrian facility on land owned by Council

As discussed at the meeting it appears this route may not be feasible nor practical due
to the low lying nature of the land and poor drainage

At the meeting an alternative location for a cycleway (east of the stand of trees) was
presented. | have attached copy of the plans with amendments suggested by
Council's engineering staff at the meeting.

Both routes are located in a manner (close to the stand of trees) which minimises
potential for sterilisation of land which maybe used by Council (or others) for the
various purposes discussed at the meeting (i.e. equestrian use, sportsfields or
grazing).
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4.1  Richmond Christian College Cycleway

Placing the cycleway in the former Pacific Highway (Tamarind Dr) road reserve

ppears not to be a fi

le option given the construction of the road and table drains.

I note that Condition No. 17 does not specify where the cycleway should be located,

On behalf of the School | respectfully request Council’s:

» formel feedback on the Schools preferred route (east of the trees) connecting to
the existing Council cycleway betwsen Ballina and Ballina Heights and

» advice as to its requirements (applications and details) so it may happen
concurrent with the proposed development at the School.

Should you have any queries please in the first instance contact Mr Smith (ph 0429

660383) or me.
Yours faithfully

Encl

Cc  Richmond Christian College

m Scott M.P.L.A.

Page 2
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41 Richmond Christian College Cycleway

Ballina Shire Council Commercial Services Committee Meeting Agenda
15/07/15 Page 7 of 30
Ballina Shire Council Commercial Services Committee Meeting Agenda

17/11/15 Page 56 of 183
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4.1 Richmond Christian College Cycleway
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Richmond Christian College Cycleway

Richmond Christian College Association - Cycleway
4.1

4.2

existing cycleway
Lot 114
DP 755684 r P new cycleway
- asphalt topping on compacted gravel base
- approx length = 165m
" proposed road crossing - / existing
refer dwg. CWO2 for notes
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4.2 Richmond Christian College Association - Cycleway

4.1 Richmond Christian College Cycleway

" _é_. Locality Plan -
G0A . Richmond Christian Community College Cycleway ]
e g oy AN, 8 Printed m
e s Py AR R 06072015
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4.2 Richmond Christian College Association - Cycleway

MINUTES OF THE COMMERCIAL SERVICES COMMITTEE MEETING
OF THE BALLINA SHIRE COUNCIL
HELD IN THE BALLINA SHIRE COUNCIL CHAMBERS
CNR CHERRY & TAMAR STREETS, BALLINA,
ON 15/07/15 AT 4.00PM

Attendance

Cr David Wright (Chairperson), Cr Jeff Johnson (arrived at the meeting at
4.10pm), Cr Sharon Cadwallader, Cr Keith Johnson, Cr Susan Meehan, Cr
Ken Johnston, Cr Paul Worth and Cr Robyn Hordern

Paul Hickey (General Manager), John Truman (Civil Services Group
Manager), Steve Barnier (Strategic and Community Facilies Group
Manager), Paul Tsikleas (Manager — Commercial Services), Neil Weatherson
(Airport Manager), Leanne Harding (Commercial Property Officer) and Joanne
Cordery (Secretary) were in attendance.

1. Apologies

An apology was received from Cr Ben Smith
RECOMMENDATION(Cr Robyn Hordern/Cr Sharon Cadwallader)

That such apology be accepted.

FOR VOTE - All Councillors voted unanimously.

2. Declarations of Interest
Nil.
3. Deputations

4, Committee Reports

4.1 Richmond Christian College Cycleway
RECOMMENDATION (Cr Paul Worth/Cr Robyn Hordem)

That Council not approve the use of the Gallens Road site for the cycleway
and that the General Manager write-to the College asking that they seek an
amendment to their consent to allow the cycleway to be constructed along
Tamarind Drive, to the same extent/value as proposed on the Gallens Road
site. Council will also consider extending this revised cycleway to then join the
existing network.

Cr Jeff Johnseon arrived at the meeting at 4.10pm

FOR VOTE - All Councillors voted unanimously.

Ballina Shire Council Commercial Services Committee Meeting Minutes
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4.2 Richmond Christian College Association - Cycleway

CONCEPT ESTIMATE OF COSTS
TAMARIND DRIVE SHARED PATH
NOTE: THIS IS A CONCEPT ESTIMATE ONLY AND SUBJECT TO DETAILED SURVEY AND DESIGN

Project Length 850m Date: 06-Nov-15
Establish Site item $ 2,000.00 5 2,000.00
Provision for Traffic item $  35,000.00 $ 35,000.00
Sedimentation Control item $ 1,200.00 $ 1,200.00
Earthworks

Imported Fill 1000 m? 3 75.00 $ 75,000.00
Road pavement

Base Coarse 150 m# $ 125.00 3 18,750.00
AC Road Edge Treatement

30mm AC10 250 m2 $ 50.00 3 12,500.00
Concrete Path

100mm Concrete path 2.5m wide 2,125 m2 $ 120.00 $ 255,000.00
Kerb and Gutter

Kerb and Gutter 150 m $ 125.00 $ 18,750.00
Drainage

Twin 600dia Pipe Extension 976 m $ 900.00 3 8,784.00
375dia Pipe 19.52 m $ 250.00 $ 4,880.00
Pits Modifications 4 ea $ 2,500.00 $ 10,000.00
Kerb Inlet Pits 2 ea $ 2.500.00 $ 5,000.00
Boardwalk Bridge Structure 1 item $ 15,000.00 3 15,000.00

Reinstatement

Reinstate Grass Edges 1,700 m2 5 15.00 % 25,500.00
Utilities
Relocate Fence 100 m % 25.00 % 2,500.00
Contingency
Contingency item 15% 3 73,479.60
TOTAL $ 563,343.60
Ballina Shire Council Commercial Services Committee Meeting Agenda
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4.3

Bitupave Boral Asphalt Plant - Tuckombil Quarry, Alstonville

4.3

Bitupave Boral Asphalt Plant - Tuckombil Quarry, Alstonville

Delivery Program Commercial Services

Objective To determine if Council wish to provide landowner's
consent for the lodgement of a S.96 Application for
Bitupave (Boral) to amend Development Consent
1995/127.

Background

Bitupave (Boral) lease a portion of the Tuckombil Quarry located at Gap Road,
Alstonville described as Lot 1 DP 880416. Consultants acting on behalf of
Bitupave have requested Council to provide landowner's consent for the
lodgment of a Section 96 Application to amend DA 1995/127.

The Site has development consent for an asphalt batching plant however the
material must be utilized from the Tuckombil Quarry on Gap Road.

The purpose of the proposed amendment is to alter Condition 1 of DA
1995/127 which states:

“This consent is limited to the production of asphalt from aggregate and
dust obtained from the adjoining Gap Road Quarry. Where such material
is obtained elsewhere an amended consent will be required.”

Key Issues

e Landowners consent

Information

Boral executed a new lease agreement with Council commencing on 1
January 2015 for an initial five year period terminating on 31 December 2020
and has an option for a further term of five years. The lease notes the
permitted use as an asphalt batching plant, storage of related bulk materials
and storage and repairs of plant and equipment.

Lismore City Council has a lease over Lot 2 DP 1130300 Tuckombil Quarry
located at Gap Alstonville and Lot 10 DP 712025 Gap Road Quarry, Uralba
that expires on 14 October 2018. The lease permits Lismore City Council to
quarry, extract, treat, process, store and remove all raw materials either
situated on or brought onto the Land.

It is understood that Boral's current consent only permits them to obtain
materials for crushing from the Tuckombil Quarry located at Gap Road
Alstonville.

The purpose of this report is to determine if Council wishes to provide
landowner’s consent for the lodgement of a Section 96 Application to amend
DA 1995/127 which covers the operation of the Boral Asphalt Plant.

Ballina Shire Council Commercial Services Committee Meeting Agenda
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Bitupave Boral Asphalt Plant - Tuckombil Quarry, Alstonville

Under Clause 115 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment
Regulations an applicant is required to provide a statement that the landowner
has granted consent for the lodgment of a development application or
amendment.

The proposed Section 96 Application seeks to amend DA 1995/127 as
follows:

“Should the adjoining Gap Road Quarry not be able to supply
aggregates or dust to the asphalt plant for any reason, the asphalt
plant is permitted to source these supplies externally.”

Boral have stated the reason for their request is to provide business and
operational certainty for their asphalt plant operations located on the site. It is
noted that Lismore City Council’s lease expires prior to Boral's with no
certainty that Lismore City Council may wish to negotiate a new lease with
Council. Lismore has also been attempting to terminate their lease early.

Council in its capacity as land owner has only been requested to grant their
permission to lodge the S.96 Application. Council has not been requested in
their capacity as regulator to grant their consent to the application. The
application to amend the development consent will be assessed by Council’s
Development and Environmental Health Section and dealt with by delegated
authority or referred to Council for determination in its capacity as regulator.

Legal / Resource / Financial Implications

The land upon which the quarry and batching plant is located is classified as
operational under the provisions of the NSW LGA 1993 and as such Council
is able to lease or sell the land.

Consultation

Council staff have held discussions with consultants acting for Boral.

Options

1. Council resolves to grant landowner’s consent for the lodgement of a
Section 96 Application to amend DA 1995/127 to enable Bitupave to
source materials for production from quarries other than the Tuckombil
Quarry located at Gap Road, Alstonville.

This Option is recommended as Council would only be granting their
permission to lodge the S.96 Application. Council is not granting their
consent to the application. The application will be assessed by Council’s
Development and Environmental Health department and dealt with
delegated authority or referred to Council for determination.

2. Council resolves not to grant landowner’s consent for the lodgement of a
Section 96 Application to amend DA 1995/127 and enable Bitupave to
source materials for production from quarries other than the Tuckombil
Quarry located at Gap Road, Alstonville.
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4.3  Bitupave Boral Asphalt Plant - Tuckombil Quarry, Alstonville

This Option is not recommended as it would be unreasonable to refuse
a request from a tenant/applicant to lodge an amendment application
that would be dealt with by Council’s formal assessment processes.

RECOMMENDATION

That Council grants landowner’s consent for the lodgement of a Section 96
Application to amend DA 1995/127 to enable Bitupave to source materials for
production from quarries other than the Tuckombil Quarry located at Gap
Road, Alstonville.

Attachment(s)

oo kwn -

Locality Plan

Consultants Letter 18 February 2015

Council's Response Letter 6 March 2015
Consultants Submission 6 May 2015

Lease Plan

Consultants Additional Information 15 October 2015
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< = — = Locality Plan

wipr - Lot 1 DP 880416 Tuckombil Quarry - '}
GDA s Bitupave Boral
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V. A

18 February 2015 Ground Floor, Suite 01, 20 Chandos Street
St Leonards, NSW, 2065

PO Box 21

5t Leonards, NSW, 1590

MGA Mirchedl

The General Manager

Ballina Shire Council RSt
PO Box 450 E info@emgamm.com
Ballina NSW 2478

Www.emgamm.com

Attention: Anthony Peters

Re: | DA 1995/127 Alstonville Asphalt Plant - Section 96 Modification to Development Consent

Dear Sir,

The Alstonville Asphalt Plant (the Plant), which is owned and operated by Boral Asphalt (Boral), is located
within the Tuckombil Quarry or Gap Road Quarry (the Quarry). The Quarry is owned by Ballina Shire Council
(BSC) and operated by Lismore City Council (LCC). The Plant is located on land leased by Boral from BSC.

The Plant operates under a modified development consent (Development Consent No. 1995/127) originally
granted by BSC on 30 March 1995. Condition 1 of the development consent states:

This consent is limited to the production of asphalt from aggregate and dust obtained from the adjoining
Gap Road Quarry. Where such material is obtained elsewhere an amended consent will be required.

In accordance with the development consent, the Quarry supplies all aggregate and fines (or dust) required
for producing asphalt at the Plant.

In addition, the Plant currently utilises the following plant and site facilities at the Quarry for the production

of asphalt:

. a water truck and front end loader (FEL) which are owned and operated by LSC;
. stockpiling of some aggregates on Quarry land adjacent to the Plant; and

. water from the Quarry's water management system,

LCC has recently advised Boral of its intention to cease operating the Quarry, and consequently its inability
to continue supplying aggregate and fines for the production of asphalt. Consequently, Boral will need to
obtain aggregate and fines from an external source(s). Cessation of operations at the Quarry will also
necessitate Boral to:

. source and operate a water truck and FEL; and

. modify its lease with BSC to continue use of the aggregate stockpiles and continue to obtain water
from the Quarry's water management system.

In accordance with condition 1 of the development consent, Boral propose to modify the development
consent (the proposed modification) to include the above amendments and allow for receival of aggregates
and fines by road from other suppliers in the area. In this respect, Boral operates a quarry in Teven
approximately 8 km west of the Plant which produces high grade aggregate products suitable for asphalt

nvironment + Acoust 115003 _alstonville Asphalt Plant_tetter to Page 1

Council
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4.3  Bitupave Boral Asphalt Plant - Tuckombil Quarry, Alstonville

production, and is able to supply the Plant with all its aggregate requirements going forward. An alternate
(or partial supply) source is located at LCC’s Blakebrook Quarry some 28 km away to the north-west.

It is envisaged that use of the Quarry land for stockpiling and water management system can be facilitated
through a modification of the lease between Boral and BSC. The additional areas to be leased are provided
in Figure 1. Boral does not seek to modify:

. the annual peak production rate;
- hours of operation; or
. any plant on the site.

Boral has met with BSC regarding the proposed modification. BSC advised that the key matters required to
be addressed in the application are as follows:

. traffic generation;

. appropriate future haulage routes for receiving aggregates to minimise impacts;
. traffic noise to sensitive receivers;

. requirement for section 94 contributions;

. emergency hours for asphalt production work; and

. need to obtain cwners consent from Council.

In addition, BSC advised that Boral should consult the local community about the proposed modification
prior to application lodgement.

The intention of this letter is to:

. formally advise BSC of Boral's intent to madify the development consent so that the Plant is able to
operate once the Quarry ceases operations;

. obtain confirmation from BSC on the key matters to be addressed in the application as per those
above; and
. obtain BSC's written consent as a land owner of the Quarry and Plant site to authorise Boral's

application and permit the lease of other parts of its land and facilities to Boral.

It is Boral's intention to lodge the application for the proposed modification at the beginning of March
2015. As such, your response at your earliest convenience would be most appreciated.

Should you have any queries regarding this matter, please do not hesitate to contact the undersigned or
Brett McLennan on 02 9493 9500.

Yours sincerely

Mina Aynsley

Town Planner
maynsley@emgamm.com

Page 2
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4.3  Bitupave Boral Asphalt Plant - Tuckombil Quarry, Alstonville

Anthony Peters

DA 1996/127 '
4
6 March 2015 E II.

shire council
EMGAMM
PO Box 21
ST LEONARDS NSW 1590

Attention: Ms Mina Aynsley

Dear Mina

Re: Proposed Modification Application to DA 1995/127 (Boral Asphalt Plant)
Lot 1 DP 880416, No. 540 Gap Road, Alstonville

I refer to your letter of 18 February 2015 (received 23 February 2015) regarding proposed
modification to Condition No. 1 which states that aggregate and dust for the production of
asphalt at the plant must be obtained from the immediately adjoining Gap Road Quarry.

As you are aware Council owns the land relating to the Asphalt Plant (currently operated by
Boral) and Gap Road Quarry (currently operated by Lismore City Council).

Consequently, prior to the submission of any modification or development application, Ballina
Council as landowner must provide written owners consent. Please note that based on the long
standing condition, namely Condition No. 1 of DA 1995/127 and Council’s long time involvement
with the local community and it's conditional acceptance of the quarry, a report will need to be
prepared to a Council Meeting to ascertain whether or not the Council is satisfied to give
landowner’s consent to the madification application (also noting the reliant quarry operations).

You will be advised of the outcome in the near future. It would however, be beneficial to your
proposal if you could outline the extent of the proposed lease areas of other lands and facilities
you allude to in your correspondence so that this may also be considered in the report to
Council.

Notwithstanding this matter, Council’s Development and Environmental Health Group confirms
that the key matters you have outlined are those which will need to be addressed should
landowner’s authority be granted. As the Alstonville community has a long standing interest in
the operation of the quarry, this preliminary list may not be exhaustive.

If you have any enquiries in regard to this matter please contact Anthony Peters on 6686 1254,

Yours faithfully

Rod Willis
Group Manager
Development and Environmental Health

40 cherry street, po box 450, baliina nsw 2478
102 6686 4444 « 02 6686 7035 » e council@ballina.nsw.gov.au * w ballina.nsw.gov.au

——————rE... . ik
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Leanne Harding

From: Mina Aynsley <maynsley@emgamm.com>

Sent: Wednesday, 6 May 2015 3:39 PM

Subject: RE: DA 1995/127 Boral Asphalt Plant Alstonville NSW
Attachments: G001_SitePlan_20150408_04.pdf

Hi Leanne,

Further to our previous discussions on the above, Boral would like to proceed seeking Council’s owners consent at
the next Ordinary Meeting for the proposed modification at the asphalt plant in Alstonville.

Our initial letter to Council indicated that the modification is being sought as it was our understanding that Gap
Road Quarry operations will cease, and to obtain certainty of aggregate and fines supply.

While LLC have since advised that quarry operations will continue, in order to provide business and operational
certainty for asphalt plant operations at the site, we seek an amendment to the consent as follows:

- Should the adjoining Gap Road Quarry not be able to supply aggregates or dust to the asphalt plant for any
reason, the asphalt plant is permitted to source these supplies externally.

We continue to seek Council’s approval to lease the additional areas/items as identified in the detailed site plan
(attached), in particular the stockpile area located in the eastern section of the site.

In the event that LLC/Gap Road Quarry is no longer be able to supply the products, the use of the other proposed
lease items/areas owned by Council, including the sediment basins and water truck stand pipes, is sought. During
these times (eg LLC /Gap Road Quarry not able to supply products to the asphalt plant), a water truck and a front
end loader are also required in order to continue operations.

Please call me if you have any questions on the above. | appreciate your patience with this matter and look forward
to hearing from you.

Kind regards
Mina

Mina Aynsley
Environmental Planner

Sydney, Newcastle and Brisbane.

Ground Floor, Suite 01
20 Chandos Street
St Leonards NSW 2065

PO Box 21
St Leonards NSW 1590

T+61(0)2 9493 9500 | D +61 (0)468 962 520 | F +61(0)2 9493 9599
WWW.emgamim.com
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Leanne Harding

From: Wallace, Rod <Rod.Wallace@boral.com.au>

Sent: Thursday, 15 October 2015 10:04 AM

Subject: RE: DA 1985/127 Boral Asphalt Plant Alstonville NSW
Hi Leanne,

Sorry about the delay on this.
We have decided to limit the development application area to the current lease area.

In terms of terms of the traffic data you requested, below is an extract from the traffic section of the Draft
Statement of Environmental Effects.

If this information is satisfactory for your purposes, could you please advise the likely date the Council would make a
decision on the owner’s consent?

Kind regards
Rod

Production capacity

The existing daily traffic generated by the Alstonville asphalt plant (the plant) is related to its operating level, which has a
rated capacity for 130 tonnes of asphalt to be produced per hour. Under normal daily operating conditions, the plant has
a corresponding annual production capacity of approximately 100,000 tonnes.

In recent years, the plant has operated at below the maximum production capacity, as follows:

. In 2012, 41,525 tennes of asphalt were produced;
. In 2013, 33,355 tonnes of asphalt were produced; and
. In 2014, 45,981 tonnes of asphalt were produced

In 2015, the plant is forecast to produce approximately 50,000 tonnes of asphalt, which corresponds to an average
of 167 tonnes per day of asphalt being produced over approximately 300 working days each year.

The plant production records, for the five weekdays corresponding to the period of tube traffic surveys taken on
Teven Road (15 -19 December 2014) are summarised in Table 1.

Tablel Summary of Alstonville asphalt plant daily truck loads and tonnage produced

Day and date Number of truck loads Total tonnage produce
Monday 15 December 18 185

Tuesday 16 December 23 263

Wednesday 17 December 12 145

Thursday 18 December 6 55

Friday 19 December 1 2

Total for five day period 60 650

Average weekday production 12 130

1
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Daily truck traffic movements using Gap Road

During the five weekdays from 15 to 19 December 2014, the average daily heavy vehicle movements using Gap
Road (which included the Tuckombil Quarry and the plant truck traffic) was 116 heavy vehicle movements. The daily
plant production during this period, which is summarised in Table 2, was an average of 12 daily truck loads (24 daily
truck movements). The remainder of the Gap Road heavy vehicle traffic (92 daily heavy vehicle movements) was a
combination of truck traffic from direct product sales from the Tuckombil Quarry and other rural locality truck or
school bus traffic.

In accordance with the Environment Protection License (EPL) the Tuckombil Quarry has been permitted to produce
up to 100,000 tonnes per annum of ‘extractive industry’ products. For approximately 250 days per year annual
production and 20 tonne average truck loads, the ‘historic’ quarry truck traffic corresponds to 20 daily truck loads
(40 daily truck movements).

Subtracting this from the Teven Road/Gap Road traffic survey results from the week of 15 to 19 December 2014,
indicates typically 52 daily heavy vehicle traffic movements from other rural locality traffic sources are also using
Gap Road, mainly agricultural traffic.

At the plant's current forecast production rate of 50,000 tonnes per annum, for 300 days operation per year, the
additional daily number of truck trips which would be generated by the external aggregate transport for 95% weight
of the asphalt produced (assuming 20 tonne average truck loads) would be eight additional daily truck loads, which
corresponds to 16 additional daily truck movements.

At the plant's maximum production capacity of 100,000 tonnes per annum, for 300 days operation per year, the
additional daily number of truck trips which would be generated for the external aggregate transport would be 16
additional daily truck loads, which corresponds to 32 additional daily truck movements.

The net additional daily truck traffic movements for external supply of aggregate for the plant production {adjusted
for the removal of the historic Tuckombil Quarry production traffic) for either the current asphalt production rate of
50,000 tonnes per annum or the maximum production capacity of 100,000 tonnes per annum, are summarised in
Table 2.

Table 2 Net additional daily truck movements
Additional asphalt plant truck traffic  Daily truck traffic reduction from the Net daily increase in
from the external supply of closure of Tuckombil Quarry Road) truck !
aggregates

For asphalt plant production rate

Loads (movements) Loads (movet
Loads (movements)

Current annual production, 50,000 +8 (+16) -20 (-40) -12 (-24
tonnes

Maximum production capacity, +16 (+32) -20 (-40) -4 (-8)
100,000 tonnes

The summary in Table 2 of the net additional daily truck movements analysis shows that initially, at the current
asphalt plant production level of 50,000 tonnes per annum, there would be an overall net reduction of
approximately 12 daily truck loads (24 daily truck movements) using Gap Road from the future plant operations, in
comparison to the historic combination of the Tuckombil Quarry and plant daily traffic.

There would still be a small reduction in the longer term future, of approximately four daily truck loads (eight daily
truck movements) using Gap Road from the future plant operations in comparison to the historic combination of the
Tuckombil Quarry and asphalt plant daily traffic, if the annual plant production were to increase to its maximum
production capacity of 100,000 tonnes per annum.
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4.4

Old Bagotville Quarry - RMS Acquisition

Delivery Program Commercial Services

Objective To seek Council's concurrence to the terms and
conditions negotiated for the sale of the Old Bagotville
Quarry (Lot 5 DP 843369) to RMS for the purposes of
a road corridor for the Woolgoolga to Ballina
Motorway Upgrade.

Background

Council is the owner of a property described as Lot 5 DP 843369 and is
generally known as the “Old Bagotville Quarry”. An aerial photo / locality plan
is attached. It is understood the property was acquired by Council in 1994
with the intention of possibly using it as a land fill site however this proposal
was not pursued. Council has not operated the property as a quarry and it has
remained dormant since acquisition.

The property comprises an area of 50.53 hectares and features dense
heathland to the east whilst the western portion features areas that were
quarried in the past but have since regenerated in parts to bushland due to the
presence of waterholes. No building improvements are constructed on the
site.

RMS has identified the property as being part of the proposed corridor for the
Woolgoolga to Ballina Motorway Upgrade. In 2013 RMS advised Council that
it had settled upon a route that passes through the property in a north south
direction, severing it into three separate portions.

Council commenced negotiations in late 2014 with RMS in regards to its
proposed acquisition of a portion of the property for the motorway corridor.
Those negotiations have now concluded with RMS agreeing to acquire the
whole property. The purpose of this report is to seek Council’s concurrence to
the terms and conditions negotiated for the sale of the whole property.

Key Issues

1. Terms and conditions of sale
2. Federal Government 20 Million Trees Biodiversity Planting Program grant

Information

The proposed corridor for the Woolgoolga to Ballina Motorway Upgrade
passes through the property in a north south direction, severing it into three
separate portions.

RMS is seeking a corridor through the property comprising an area of 6.99
hectares, equating to 13.83% of the property’s total site area. A copy of the
RMS proposed acquisition plan is attached. In early 2015 RMS served a
valuation on Council offering $70,000 in compensation plus costs, for the 6.99
hectares it proposed to acquire.
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The problem with the RMS proposal is that it severs the property leaving two
small portions of land on the western side of the proposed motorway and one
large portion on the eastern side that would be effectively land locked; i.e.
lacking direct road access.

Council advised RMS that this proposal was unsatisfactory as, post
acquisition, Council would be left with a fragmented property holding blighted
by the motorway. Council proposed an alternative whereby RMS acquire the
whole property and negotiations commenced accordingly.

Council engaged HTW Property Consultants and Valuers to advise on the
value of the property and assist in negotiations with RMS.

Investigations were also undertaken to determine if the development consent
to operate a quarry on the property was still current. CH Law undertook an
independent review of Council files and advised that DA 1995/89 had lapsed.

It is possible that quarry operations could recommence on the property
however this would require investigations to assess what useable material
remains upon the property and determine the viability of quarrying same.

If it were to be determined that the quarrying operations could be re-
established upon the property, a new development application would have to
be prepared and lodged.

RMS advised that based on the valuation it was prepared to offer $250,000
plus costs for the whole property.

HTW advised that this offer was too low and that a figure excess of $400,000
would be more appropriate. Accordingly negotiations were recently finalised at
a figure of $450,000 plus GST for the whole property with RMS to pay
Council’s valuation and legal costs in addition to this figure. A letter from RMS
confirming this offer is attached.

Council may also be aware that this property is the subject of an $85,000
grant under the Federal Government’s 20 Million Trees Biodiversity Planting
Program. The grant provides for planting 5,000 trees on the land to assist in
re-vegetating the original ecosystem, with a bias for koala food trees. The area
targeted for re-vegetation will not be affected by the proposed motorway
corridor.

RMS has been advised of the proposed re-vegetation program and have
raised no objections. RMS has agreed, that once it assumes possession of the
property, the appropriate licences will be granted to Council to enter the
property and carry out maintenance and monitoring of the trees it (Council) is
obliged to do under the terms of the grant. The licences will attach to the
contract for the sale of the property.

The Federal Government has also been advised of the proposal to sell the
property to RMS and have raised no objections so long as the new trees will
not be damaged by the proposed motorway and that Council will fulfill its
obligations to carry out maintenance and monitoring of the trees as it is
obliged to do under the terms of the grant.
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This is considered to be a good outcome as the re-vegetation program will
improve the ecosystem on the property and provide habitat for koalas whilst at
the same time enabling Council to sell a property that is surplus to our needs.

Legal / Resource / Financial Implications

The property is classified as operational land under the provisions of the NSW
Local Government Act 1993 and as such Council has the authority to sell it.
The sale of this property is not currently included in the Council’s budgets and
if sold the funds would be transferred to Council’s Property Reserves for future
projects.

Consultation

Consultation has been occurring with the RMS, the Federal Government and
Council staff.

Options

1. Council resolves to accept RMS’ offer to acquire the Old Bagotville
Quarry being Lot 5 in DP 843369 as detailed in their letter of offer
dated 30 October, 2015, and that Council enters into the relevant
licences offered by RMS to secure access to the property and enable it
(Council) to enter the property to maintain and monitor trees planted
under the Federal Government 20 Million Trees Biodiversity Planting
Program.

This option is recommended as the re-vegetation program will improve
the ecosystem on the property and provide foodstock for koalas whilst
at the same time enabling Council to sell a property that is surplus to
its needs.

2.  That Council rejects RMS’ offer to acquire the Old Bagotville Quarry
being Lot 5 in DP 843369 as detailed in their letter of offer dated 30
October, 2015.

This option is not recommended as the acquisition price is considered
fair and reasonable. RMS may then return to its original offer to only
acquire a portion of the property thereby leaving Council with a
fragmented property holding that has no identifiable strategic economic
value.
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RECOMMENDATIONS

1. That Council authorises the General Manager to finalise negotiations

for the sale of Lot 5 DP 843369 to the RMS as detailed within this
report.

2. That Council authorises the Council seal to be attached to the contract
for sale and any other related documents including sale transfers and
licence agreements for access.

Attachment(s)

1. Aerial Photo - Locality Plan

2. Old Bagotville Quarry - Proposed road corridor for motorway
3. CH Law - Advice regarding status of DA 1995/89

4. RMS offer to acquire Lot 5 DP 843369 dated 30-10-2015
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%qm m—,
2/130 Tamar Street
' PO Box 289

BALLINA NSW 2478

0) a5 Nu
“’na as™

"’ e Phone: 02 6681 4155
Principal | aW j Fax: 02 6681 4166
Lawyer‘ ' J DX: 27652 Ballina
B.Com, LLB Acc.Spec \ : Huegill & Associates #  Email clarissa@chuegil.com
[Property Law) Ny, _ ’ Web: www.chuegil.com

S e ABN: 44 084 438 488
Liability limited by a scheme approved
Our ref: CLH:KD:150167 under Professional Standards Legislation
28th May 2015
Ballina Shire Council
DX 27789
BALLINA NSW
Also by email: pault@ballina.nsw.gov.au
Dear Paul,

RE: BALLINA SHIRE COUNCIL - STATUS OF DA - OLD BAGOTVILLE QUARRY
TITLE REFERENCE: LOT 5 DP843369

| refer to your email to me dated 17 April 2015 and to my conversation with you on 27
May 2015 when | inspected Council's file.

| confirm your instructions that Council purchased the subject land in October 1995.

You asked me in your email dated 17 April 2015 whether a consent to operate a
quarry from the subject property is still current. In our conversation on 27 May 2015
you expanded your instructions to ask for my advice generally as to whether there
were rights to operate a quarry on the subject site.

| advise:-

1. It is clear from Council’s file that some time prior to 1995 the land or part of it,
had been used as a shale quarry and was operating pursuant to State
Environmental Planning Policy Number 37 - Continued mines and extractive
industry. SEPP 37 was repealed on 16 February 2007.

2. On 19 January 1995 Council issued a consent to Development Application
Number 1995/89 for the continued operation of the 2 existing shale quarries
on the property with deferred commencement conditions. The reason for the
application is not clear and, as it is probably irrelevant | have not investigated
this aspect.

3. It is also not clear whether, at the time of the consent, the quarries were
actually in operation. Again, for the following reasons, this is probably not
relevant.

4. Pursuant to section 99(1) of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act
1979, as it was at the date of the consent, a consent granted to a development
application lapsed unless the development the subject of the consent was
commenced within two years of the date it became effective. For the purposes
of commencement, section 99(2)(b) provides that where the development
comprises the use of any land, the development is commenced when the use
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of the land is actually commenced. Council’s file clearly shows (confirmed by
way of letter to the applicant dated 3 January 1996) that the deferred
commencement conditions were met by 3 January 1996. There is no evidence
however that the land was actually used by Council from that date as a quarry
and therefore the consent had not commenced.

5. As the consent was not commenced, it lapsed on 19 January 1997 and can no
longer be relied upon to cperate a quarry on the land.

6. SEPP 37 has been repealed and therefore cannot be relied upon to operate a
quarry on the land.

7. Clearly use of the land as a quarry ceased some time prior to or at October
1995. Whether or not that use was an “existing use” or a “continuing use”
pursuant to the provisions of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act
1979, that use ceased 12 months after the use was abandoned. Therefore any
right to commence guarrying on the land pursuant to an existing or continuing
use, expired at the latest in October 1996.

Accordingly, it is my advice there is no current right nor consent to operate a quarry
on the land.

Please advise if | can be of further assistance.

Yours faithfully

CLARISSA HUEGILL
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a Roads &
Maritime E-MAILED

Jo.10.15,

30 October 2015

General Manager
Ballina Shire Council
PO Box 450
BALLINA NSW 2478

Attention: Mr Paul Tsikleas

HW NO 10 - Pacific Highway. Woolgoolga to Ballina Upgrade. Acquisition of whole of lot 5 in
Deposited Plan 843369 from Ballina Shire Council.

Dear Sir,

I refer to Roads and Maritime Services previous correspondence. This offer replaces and is not additional
to any previous offer.

Roads and Maritime is prepared to purchase the subject land being whole of Lot 5 in DP 843369 having
an area of 50.53ha as shown highlighted on the attached Deposited Plan on the following terms and
conditions:-

1. Purchase Price of $450,000.00 (Four Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars) excluding GST in full
satisfaction of all claims arising from the acquisition as assessed in accordance with the Land
Acquisition (Just Terms Compensation) Act, 1991. In the event the subject sale is a taxable supply
under GST legislation, the purchaser shall reimburse the vendor any GST liability that arises on
such supply, upon receipt of a valid tax invoice.

2. Vacant possession is to be given on completion. Vacant possession will be deemed have been
given if Ballina Shire Council enters into a suitable occupation agreement with Roads and Maritime
prior to settlement.

3. The property is to be left in a clean and tidy state with all contents and rubbish removed.

4. Roads and Maritime and its agents to have the right of entry from the date of exchange of contracts
for road and ancillary works.

5. Roads and Maritime at settlement to reimburse valuation fees incurred of $11,641.30 inclusive of
any GST.

6. Roads and Maritime at settiement to reimburse legal fees to a maximum of $1,650.00 inclusive of
any GST payable.

Roads and Marltime Services

'8 Victoria Strest Grafton NSW 2460 | PO Box 576 Grafton NSW 2450 | DX7610 Grafion
"02 66401379 | FO2 66049331 | E peter.strickland@rms.nsw.gov.au www.rms.nsw.gov.au | 13 22 13
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The above offer is subject to exchange of formal contract documents. As you have indicated that you are in
agreement with the above offer, formal contract documents will be prepared and forwarded to your Solicitor
by Roads and Maritime's Solicitor.

If further information is required regarding the acquisition, please contact Mr Peter Strickland, Property
Acquisition Officer on (02) 66401379 or email peter.strickland@rms.nsw.gov.au.

Yours sincerely

erry Green

Property Services Manager
Northern
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4.5

Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area - Pump Station Compensation

Delivery Program Commercial Services

Objective To seek Council's agreement for the creation of
easements and compensation payable for a sewer
pump station located within the Wollongbar Urban
Expansion Area

Background

The Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area (“WUEA”) required a sewer pump
station (“SPS”) to be constructed to service approximately 600 residential lots.
The SPS was constructed on Lot 75 DP 1213425 (latest legal description),
Rifle Range Road, Wollongbar. An aerial photo / locality plan is attached.

The land upon which the SPS, associated pipework and services are located
is owned by CR Brown, BRS Brown, RL Brown and Two Minus Two Pty Ltd
(“the Owners”). The Owners are also the developers of Avalon Estate.

The Owners agreed to allow Council access to construct the SPS and
associated pipework on the proviso Council would pay compensation for the
easements required for the infrastructure.

Negotiations with the Owners have now been finalized for the easements
required and compensation payable.

The purpose of this report is to seek Council's agreement for the creation of
easements and compensation payable for same.

Key Issues

e Creation of easements for Council infrastructure
e Compensation payable to Owners

Information

Council has constructed a SPS, associated pipework and services on land
owned by CR Brown, BRS Brown, RL Brown and Two Minus Two Pty Ltd.

The Owners agreed to allow Council access to construct the SPS and
pipework on the proviso Council would pay compensation for the easements
required for the infrastructure.

Based upon plans prepared to date, the area of land required for the proposed
easements is 4,813m°. A plan identifying the proposed easements is
attached.

The SPS includes a brick building, pits, lighting and fencing (see site photos
and plans attached). The SPS has been in operation for the past few years.
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Council and the Owners each engaged valuers to assist in negotiations to
determine a reasonable amount of compensation in accordance with the NSW
Land Acquisition (Just Terms) Act 1991, and in particular, Section 55.

Compensation was agreed between the parties at a figure of $80,000 plus
GST and disturbance (reasonable valuation and legal fees).

The figure of $80,000 reflects the value of land taken from the Owners by way
of easements and for what is termed “injurious affection” or diminution in the
value of lots to be developed on the Owners’ land and as detailed on the plan
attached. These proposed lots will overlook the SPS. Assessing “injurious
affection” or diminution in the value of lots is a subjective and inexact exercise;
however the parties have reached agreement at what is considered by all to
be a reasonable figure. Opteon Valuers, who acted for Council, have provided
advice in support of the settlement figure (see attached).

Legal / Resource / Financial Implications

Legal
Registered easements for the SPS and associated services over the Owner’s
will be created in favour of Ballina Shire Council.

Financial
Funding for compensation payable to the Owners will be sourced from the
Property Development Reserve and Council’'s sewer operations.

Consultation

Negotiations have been undertaken with the Owners of Lot 74 DP 1213425
upon whose land the SPS is located.

Options

1. Council resolves to pay compensation of $80,000 plus GST and
disturbance costs (reasonable valuation and legal fees) to the owners of
Lot 75 DP 1213425 (CR Brown, BRS Brown, RL Brown and Two Minus
Two Pty Ltd) for the creation of easements for a sewer pump station and
associated services.

This Option is recommended as the creation of easements is required for
Council’s infrastructure. Council has also received advice that the
compensation payable is fair and reasonable.

2. Council resolves not to pay compensation of $80,000 plus GST and
disturbance costs (reasonable valuation and legal fees) to the owners of
Lot 75 DP 1213425 (CR Brown, BRS Brown, RL Brown and Two Minus
Two Pty Ltd) for the creation of easements for a sewer pump station and
associated services.

This Option is not recommended as the matter may then have to be
resolved in the NSW Land and Environment Court which will involve
additional time and costs without any guarantee of what the outcome
maybe.
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RECOMMENDATIONS

That Council resolves to pay compensation of $80,000 plus GST and
disturbance costs (reasonable valuation and legal fees) to the owners of
Lot 75 DP 1213425 (CR Brown, BRS Brown, RL Brown and Two Minus
Two Pty Ltd) for the creation of easements for a sewer pump station and
associated services.

2. Council authorises the General Manager to finalise negotiations with the
owners of Lot 75 DP 1213425 (CR Brown, BRS Brown, RL Brown and
Two Minus Two Pty Ltd) for the creation of easements for a sewer pump
station and associated services, execute all relevant plans and
documentation and affix the Council seal to same.
Attachment(s)
1. Aerial Photo Locality Plan
2.  Plan of of Proposed Easements
3.  WUEA SPS Aerial Photo Site Plan
4.  WUEA SPS Site Photos
5. Opteon Valuers' Advice on Compensation Settlement
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Proposed Easements
Lot 75 DP 1213425

DISCLAIMER @ Land & Property Information 2015 Printed
Although all care is taken in the preparation of this plan, Ballina Shire Council accepls no responsibility for any misprinis, errors, omissions or inaccuracies 11/11/2015
The information contained within this plan is for pictorial representation only. Do not scale. Accurate measurements should be undertaken by survey.

shire council
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Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area - Pump Station Compensation

PLAN FORM 2 (A2)

WARNING: CREASING OR FOLDING WILL LEAD TO REJECTION
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4.5 Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area - Pump Station Compensation

Lot 60 Rifle Range Road &PTEON
Wollongbar, NSW 2477 GR‘OUPGIE’“ ¥

Our Reference: 6009852

Lot 8 - view nerth over lot 8 from south sector Lot 8 south sector - view over pump station

Lot 9 - distant view over pump station Lot 9 - actual view over pump station

Lot 10 - distant view over pump station Lot 10 - actual view over pump station
Opteon Property Group | VALUE MADE VISIBLE Page 28
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4.5 Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area - Pump Station Compensation

OPTEON
PROPERTY
GROUP

Our reference: 6545388
7 October 2015

Mr Paul Tsikleas

Ballina Shire Council
PO Box 450
BALLINA NSW 2478

Dear Paul,
Re: Lot 60 Rifle Range Road,
Wollongbar, New South Wales

Matter: Colin Brown

We refer to our meeting with Colin Brown, Owen Allsopp, John Truman and Tim Mackney on 1 October 2015 at

Council chambers.

The purpose of the meeting was to discuss a settlement for the proposed easements in favour of Council over the

Brown land at Rifle Range Road, Wollonghar.

We note that it was agreed between Council and Mr Brown that appropriate compensation was to be 580,000 plus

GST plus disturbance costs including reasonable legal and valuation fees (Section 59).

Our valuation report of 1 September 2015 initially indicated compensation of $61,378 + GST (Section 55(a) and 55(f)) +
disturbance items under Section 59. However, after considering a betterment issue arising from construction by
Council of works associated with the sewer pumping station, the compensation in respect of Section 55(a) and (f) was
considered to be nil, based upon recent case law. The issue of balancing injurious affection against betterment is, in
most instances very subjective, and as such a court considering the matter may take the same or an alternate view.

Therefore there can be no guaranteed outcome if the matter were to proceed to court.

In the meeting referred to above, Mr Allsopp also produced evidence in regards to supporting his opinion of value for

the easements which we have taken into consideration.

Though not discussed at the meeting, we are also aware that Council and the Browns are adjoining property owners
and each has further land to develop in the Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area. Council has lodged a development
application for 18 residential lots of which 8 lots require to be drained over land owned by the Browns. The benefit to
the Browns in allowing Council to drain the 8 lots over its land is that the Browns have 4 lots adjoining Council land

which can immediately be developed, but require access over Council’s land.

At the conclusion of the negotiations, the parties agreed that Council pay compensation of $80,000 plus GST plus

disturbance costs (559). It is understood the parties arrived at this position after considering a number of different

Opteon Property Group

Opteon (North Coast NSW)
PO BOX 955, BALLINA NSW 2478

P 02 6686 8935 E ballina.instructions@opg.net
F 0266868972 W www.opg.net

VALUE MADE VISIBLE

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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4.5 Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area - Pump Station Compensation

Lot 60 Rifle Range Road OPTEON
Wollengbar, NSW 2477 PROPERTY
GROUP

Our Reference: 6545388

issues and the desire to maintain an ongoing spirit of co-operation as adjoining owners and developers. This outcome

is not considered unreasonable.

We trust this meets your current requirements however should you have any queries please contact us.

Kind regards,

Neale C"’ﬁL’g

Neale Frogley

Managing Partner

AAPI Certified Practising Valuer

AP| No: 68273 NSW RV No: VAL3098

E neale.frogley@opg.net

Opteon Property Group | VALUE MADE VISIBLE
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54 North Creek Road Ballina - Marketing

4.6

54 North Creek Road Ballina - Marketing

Delivery Program Commercial Services

Objective To seek Council's concurrence to market industrial
lots proposed to be developed at 54 North Creek
Road, Ballina

Background

A report was presented to the Commercial Services Meeting of 15 October,
2015, proposing to develop 1.346 hectares of Part Lot 98 DP 1194043 as six
serviced industrial lots.

At that meeting Council resolved as follows:

1. That Council proceed to lodge a development application for the proposed
subdivision of Part Lot 98 DP 1194043 as per the proposed lot layout
prepared by Civiltech as attached to this report.

2. That Council supports the inclusion of the Noise Management Plan as
prepared by Tim Fitzroy and Associates and as attached to this report, for
inclusion in the subject development application.

A copy of the report including the feasibility assessment is attached.

Since that report was presented, Council has received a number of enquiries
from parties interested in purchasing some of the proposed lots.

Accordingly, the purpose of this report is to seek Council’s authority to market
the six proposed for sale “off the plan.”

Key Issues
o Sale of Council land and pricing

Information

Asking prices for the six proposed lots are noted below and are similar to the
prices noted in the feasibility assessment contained in the report of 15
October, 2015, the exception being for Lots E and G which are higher than in
the previous report.

Lot | Lot Area (m?) Useable Asking Price | Asking Price
Lot Area (m?) $/m? Ex. GST ($)

1,250 1,160 250 290,000

1,300 1,210 250 302,500

1,350 1,260 250 315,000

1,400 1,310 250 327,500

3,400 2,960 220 650,000

mm|O0|w|>

1,000 (sewer 1,000 N/A N/A
pump station)

(@)

3,400 2,850 185 527,000
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4.6 54 North Creek Road Ballina - Marketing
The $/m? asking price rates applied to lots E and G reflect their size and
irregular configuration. Lot G also has limited exposure to Cessna Crescent.
The asking prices for Lots E and G may require review if investigations reveal
the presence of water and or sewer pipes that cannot be relocated thereby
impinging upon the development potential of the lots.
These asking prices are based upon recent sales of Council industrial lots
including:

Lot/DP Price Area Date of Sale $/m?

(excl GST)
93/1161854 290,000 1,100m? 11/6/2010 264/m*
89/1161854 424,000 1,663m* 22/12/2010 254/m?
95/1184435 533,150 2,269m” 4/10/2012 235/m?
97/1194043 570,058 2,429m* 2/08/2012 235/m?
92/1161854 270,000 1,100m° 10/2014 245/m”
Pt Lot 98 910,000 3,964m” 2/2015 230/m?
DP1194043
87/1161854 500,000 1,995m* 5/2015 250/m*
90/1161854 275,000 1,100m? 8/2015 250/m?
91/1161854 275,000 1,100m* 9/2015 250/m*
An aerial photo / locality plan identifying the lots sold is attached.
It is proposed to market the six lots as follows:

a) Offer general selling agreements to all local real estate agents with
Commercial Services acting as co-ordinator. Commission rate offered
to agents; 2.75% + GST of selling price payable upon settlement of
contracts.

b) Erect a for sale board on site directing enquiries to Council’'s website
and all local agents.

c) Provide information package to all local agents who apply for a general
agency agreement.

d) Place asking prices, proposed lot layout and other information on
Council’'s website.

At this stage it is not proposed to run an advertising campaign through the
media. The commission rate offered to agents should encourage them to
promote the project through their respective web resources.
Legal / Resource / Financial Implications
Part Lot 98 DP 1194043 is classified as operational land under the provisions
of the NSW Local Government Act 1993 and as such Council has the
authority to sell it.
Council’'s 2015/16 budget includes an allowance for the development of this
land.
Consultation
This report is provided for public information.
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Options

1.

That Council authorise the General Manager to place the six industrial
lots proposed for Part Lot 98 DP 1194043 on the market for sale “off the
plan” at the asking prices noted in this report.

This option is recommended as pre-sales will assist in de-risking the
development project for Council and assist prospective purchasers in
securing sites they may wish to develop as new premises for their
businesses.

2.  That Council not place the six industrial lots proposed for Part Lot 98 DP
1194043 on the market for sale “off the plan” at the asking prices noted
in this report.

This option is not recommended as future market conditions may
change and prospective purchasers currently in the market may lose
interest or find alternative sites.
RECOMMENDATIONS
1. That Council authorises the General Manager to place the six industrial
lots proposed for Part Lot 98 DP 1194043 on the market for sale “off the
plan” at the asking prices noted in this report.
2. That Council authorises the Council seal to be attached to the contracts
for sale and any other related documents.

Attachment(s)

1.  Commercial Services Meeting Report 15 October 2015

2.  Proposed Lot Layout Plan - 54 North Creek Road, Ballina

3.  Council Land for Sale - Southern Cross Industrial Estate
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44 54 North Creek Road, Ballina - Land Subdivision Development Proposal

4.4 54 North Creek Road, Ballina - Land Subdivision Development Proposal

Delivery Program Commercial Services

Objective To seek Council's concurrance to lodge a
development application to create six serviced
industrial lots.

Background

54 North Creek, Ballina, comprises a 1.346 hectare residue portion of land
zoned “Industrial IN1” and described as Part Lot 98 DP 1194043.. Existing
improvements on the site include a Council sewer pump station and an older
style single storey weatherboard clad cottage. A location plan is attached.

A conceptual proposal to develop the site as serviced industrial lots was
presented at the Commercial Services meeting held on 19 May, 2015. The
resolutions arising from that meeting were:

1. That Council approves the preparation and lodgement of a DA to
undertake subdivision of Part Lot 98 DP 1194043, subject to that
subdivision pfan first being submitted, in draft form, for Council review and
approval.

2. That the General Manager establishes a Sound Management Plan (SMP)
for the proposed subdivision which has as it purposes the achievement of
a subdivision that meets or exceeds the noise aftenuation that will be
required of it and does so at the least practical cost to the project. This
plan to be established immediately.

3. That clearing of the land be undertaken as soon as possible together with
removal of the house.

4. That Council approves an allocation of $30,000 from the Property
Development Reserve to finance the cost of points 1, 2 and 3 above.

5. That the General Manager assess other non-commercial sites for the
Men’s Shed.

In response to those resolutions, consultants Civiltech were engaged to
prepare a development application, development cost estimates and a Sound
Management Plan (SMP). That work has now been completed and forms the
subject of this Report.

It is noted that this Report does not address Point 5.

Key Issues

« Noise management and acoustic issues.
e Clearance of vegetation.
e Feasibility of land subdivision proposal.

Ballina Shire Council Commercial Services Committee Meeting Agenda
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4.4 54 North Creek Road, Ballina - Land Subdivision Development Proposal

Information

Civiltech have prepared a conceptual plan of subdivision that proposes to
create seven lots as follows:

Lot Lot Area (m®) Useable Lot Area (m®)
A 1,250 1,160

B 1,300 1,210

C 1,350 1,260

D 1,400 1,310

E 3,400 2,960

F 1,000 (Sewer Pump Station) 1,000

G 3,400 2,850

A copy of the proposed plan of subdivision is attached as is the statement of
environmental effects. The difference between “Lot Areas” and “Usable Lot
Areas” is due to allowances for fill batters etc.

Lot E is “L" shaped in configuration whilst Lot G lacks in exposure to its street
frontage, however these lots are larger and may appeal to users seeking
larger sites but not concerned about exposure to passing traffic.

Civiltech have also prepared a preliminary scope of works to develop these
lots and cost estimates for same that are included in a feasibility estimate
attached hereto. Works required to develop these lots include:

a) Relocation or demolition of the existing timber cottage.

Itis proposed that this cottage be offered for sale by tender on the proviso
that the successful purchaser is responsible for all costs of removing the
cottage from the site.

b) Clearing of vegetation and compensatory planting.

Consultants Melaleuca Group Pty Ltd have undertaken an ecological
assessment of the site and the development proposal (see attached).
The report notes that the majority of vegetation is proposed to be removed
from the site, though some trees may be left along the boundaries to add
some degree of amenity to the lots. The report also notes that the majority
of vegetation has been degraded due to weed infestation; however there
is about 1,200m’ of Swamp Qak ‘that is considered a degraded
Endangered Ecological Community” and recommends compensatory
planting for its removal.

The report proposes that compensatory planting take place in a SEPP 14
wetland area located to the east of the subject site. The estimated cost for
this compensatory planting is $15,680 inclusive of GST based upon a
formula contained in a document that has previously been accepted by
Council.

c) Filling of land.

Cutting and filling of the site is required to bring it up to the required
finished fill level.
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4.4 54 North Creek Road, Ballina - Land Subdivision Development Proposal

d) Connection to services.

All six lots are to be connected to existing services located in DeHavilland
Crescent or North Creek Road.

e) Acoustic Issues

The development application proposes removal of the existing acoustic
earthen berm located on the site. Acoustic consultants, Tim Fitzroy and
Assaciates, recommend the combination of a buffer zone and construction
of a three metre high masonry wall along the eastern and southern
boundaries of the site to act as a sound barrier and reduce potential noise
issues affecting houses to the south and east.

The masonry wall could be similar to the one constructed along Ferngrove
Estate’s boundary to Tamarind Drive and landscaped accordingly. This is
point worth considering given that North Creek Road is proposed to be
future arterial road extending from North Ballina to Lennox Head.

In response to Point 2 of the Council resolution referred to above, Tim
Fitzroy and Associates, have prepared a Noise Management Plan
("NMP") a copy of which is attached. The proposed development meets
the criteria set out in the NMP.

f)  Relocation of services

To improve the value of proposed Lots E and G pipework pertaining to
sewer pump station located on proposed Lot F may have to be removed
or relocated. Preliminary advice from Civil Services is their records
indicate a number of may have to be relocated, none of which are
considered to be a major impediment to the proposed development.

A power pole and cable stay for same is located on proposed Lot G's
frontage to Stinson Street / Cessna Crescent. This power pole may
require relocation.

Staff have prepared a feasibility estimate for the proposed subdivision which
indicates an estimated development profit of $1,230,000 based on information
available. A copy of the feasibility estimate is attached, and summarized

below.
Estimated gross sale proceeds 2,255,000
Less selling costs 80,000
2,175,000
Less
Estimated development costs including | 622,500
professional fees and contingencies
(as per Civiltech estimates).
Estimated S.64 & S.94 development | 322,500
contributions
945,000
Estimated development profit $1,230,000
Ballina Shire Council Commercial Services Committee Meeting Agenda
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4.4

54 North Creek Road, Ballina - Land Subdivision Development Proposal

The estimated sale prices for the lots are based upon recent sales of Council

lots including:
Lot/DP Price Area Date of Sale $/im”*
(excl GST)

93/1161854 $290,000 1,100m” 11/6/2010 $264/m”
89/1161854 $424,000 1,663m" 22/12/2010 $254/m”
95/1184435 $533,150 2,269m" 4/10/2012 $235/m”
97/1194043 $570,058 2.429m” 2/08/2012 $235/m”
92/1161854 $270,000 1,100m” 10/2014 $245/m*
Pt Lot 98 $910,000 3,964m” 2/2015 $230/m*
DP1194043

87/1161854 $500,000 1,995m" 5/2015 $250/m”
90/1161854 §275,000 1,100m* 8/2015 $250/m”
91/1161854 $275,000 1,100m* 9/2015 $250/m”

Development cost estimates can be reviewed once development consent is
granted and detailed construction plans and documents are completed.

Legal / Resource / Financial Implications

Legal

The subject land is classified as operaticnal land pursuant to the Local
Government Act 1993. There is no impediment to the sale of the land as
proposed.

Financial

To fund this development proposal Council has previously resolved to
allocated $736,000 in 2015/16 and $300,000 in 2016/17 from the
Property Development Reserve. To assist in managing the cash flows
for the Property Development Reserve the $300,000 represents the
estimate for development contributions with those contributions paid in
2016/17 financial year.

Please note there are minor variations in figures in this report as
compared to those in the Property Development Reserve, however the
overall magnitude of funds is similar, and as at this stage as these
remain early estimates no further changes are recommended.

Policy

Council's Property Investment and Development Policy identifies the
following Risk Determination in respect to whether we should proceed
with projects.

Level of Risk Benchmark Above 90 Day BBSW
Low <2%

Medium 2% to 5%

High 5% to 10%
Speculative > 10%

QOverall this project is considered to be at most, a medium risk as it is a
relatively straight forward project. At present there currently is a lack of
serviced industrial lots balanced against a reasonable level of enquiry for
same.

This land is also very well located on North Creek Road.

Ballina Shire Council
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4.4 54 North Creek Road, Ballina - Land Subdivision Development Proposal

Based upon the Feasibility Estimate attached the site is calculated to
have a market value in the order of $525,000 and pre-tax development
profit of $500,000, assuming a developer acquired the site and
developed it.

However as Council owns the site the net development profit has been
calculated by adding back in land value, acquisition costs, holding
charges etc. to arrive at a forecast development profit of $1,230,000
which is well above these benchmarks.

Consultation

The development proposal will be advertised as per the development
application process.

Options

1. Council proceeds to lodge a development application for the proposed
subdivision of Part Lot 98 DP 1194043 as per the proposed lot layout
prepared by Civiltech, and adopts the Noise Management Plan as
prepared by Tim Fitzroy and Associates, both of which are contained in
this Report.

This Option is recommended as there is a lack of serviced industrial lots
available for sale on the Southern Cross Industrial Estate, at present
Council only has one industrial lot available for sale. It is also considered
that the Noise Management Plan will adequately assist in ensuring noise
levels generated by industrial development on the proposed lots are kept
to an acceptabie level for houses in the local vicinity.

2. Council rejects the proposal to lodge a development application for the
proposed subdivision of Part Lot 98 DP 1194043 as per the proposed lot
layout prepared by Civiltech, and also rejects the Noise Management
Plan as prepared by Tim Fitzroy and Associates, both of which are
contained in this Report.

This Option is not recommended as there is a lack of serviced industrial
lots available for sale on the Southern Cross Industrial Estate, at present
Council only has one industrial lot available for sale.
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4.4 54 North Creek Road, Ballina - Land Subdivision Development Proposal

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. That Council proceed to lodge a development application for the proposed
subdivision of Part Lot 88 DP 1194043 as per the proposed lot layout
prepared by Civiltech as attached to this report.

2. That Council supports the inclusion of the Noise Management Plan as
prepared by Tim Fitzroy and Associates and as attached to this report, for
inclusion in the subject development application.

Attachment(s)

Locality Plan

CivilTech Proposed Plan of Subdivision

CivilTech Draft Statement of Environmental Effects
Melaleuca Ecological Assessment

Tim Fitroy & Associates NIA & NMP

Feasibility Estimates

ouALN
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4.4 54 North Creek Road, Ballina - Land Subdivision Development Proposal

X | Locality Plan - Lot 98 DP 1194043
604 54 North Creek Road, Ballina
DI SCLAMER 4 Lang & Py eformation 15 t
e s, | baina
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4.7

Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

Delivery Program Commercial Services

Objective To seek Council's authority to sell lots "off the plan”
pertaining to Stage Two of BSC Wollongbar
Residential Estate.

Background

In October 2013 Council approved the development of Stage 1 of the
Wollongbar Residential Estate and to date 13 of the 15 lots have sold and Lot
5, the Teak Tree lot, is to go on the market for sale by auction shortly.

A joint development application (DA 2015/351) for Stage 2 of Council’s land
and a portion of Avalon Estate was lodged on 8 July 2015, by consultants
Newton Denny Chapelle (“NDC”).

The joint development application proposes 18 lots for Council’s land and four
lots for Avalon Estate on land owned by the Brown family. A concept plan is
attached noting each party’s landholdings.

A joint development application was lodged as there are mutual benefits to
Council and the Brown family as adjoining property owners; i.e.

a) Council requires easements over Brown’s land for stormwater and sewer
easements to service eight of its proposed 18 lots; and

b) The Brown family require access to a road Council will be constructing as
part of its Stage 2 works. This will provide access for four lots to be
developed by the Brown family.

A deed of agreement has been negotiated with the Brown family so each
party can maximise development of their respective land holdings.

As with Stage 1, HTW Property Valuers and Consultants were engaged to
undertake a Feasibility Assessment Report for Stage 2 and assess asking
prices for the lots.

The purpose of this report is to:

e provide an overview HTW’s report on Stage 2

e Gain Council’s endorsement to market lots for Stage 2 “off the plan” at the
asking prices assessed by HTW and

e Gain Council’s endorsement for the deed of agreement negotiated with the
Brown family.
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Key Issues

e Project viability and risk.
¢ Placing lots on the market for sale “off the plan”
e Agreement with adjoining land owner

Information
Stage 1

A brief financial overview of Stage 1 is provided below. Please note that the
sale of Lot 15 has fallen through due to the inability of the purchaser to secure
a land buyers’ subsidy grant.

To date asking prices have been achieved on all but one lot. Details are
summarised as follows:

Item Amount ($)
Sales to date 2,775,000
Lot 15 for sale at HTW'’s asking price 215,000
Sub-total 2,990,000
Lot 5 (HTW'’s price estimate) 255,000
Total 3,245,000

The financial performance of Stage 1 is summarised as follows:

Projected Revenue 3,245,000
Less GST 295,000
Revenue Ex GST 2,950,000
Less selling expenses 120,000
Net Revenue 2,830,000
Less Costs
Costs incurred 2012/2013 49,000
Costs incurred 2013/2014 257,000
Costs incurred 2014/2015 1,356,000
1,662,000
Forecast Development Margin (Net Profit) 1,168,000

The costs quoted above are exclusive of GST.

In the report presented to Council in October 2013, HTW’s forecast
development margin or profit was estimated to be $1,050,000 (before
interest).

The estimated land value for this property in the October 2013 report, was
$525,000 (EX GST), therefore Council will generate additional profits in the
vicinity of $640,000 by undertaking this development, excluding any interest
foregone.

Stage 2

HTW has prepared a feasibility assessment of Stage 2, a copy of which is
attached. The salient points are summarised as follows:
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a) Assessment of On-Completion Market Values and Estimated Rate of
Sales - NDC has prepared a lot layout plan for the 18 serviced residential
lots proposed for Stage Two, a copy of which is attached. HTW has
attributed on-completion market values to each of the lots based upon a
review of the current market for residential lots.
The term “on-completion” means the market value of the lot assuming it
were complete as at the date of the report.
Est. On-Completion
Lot Site Area (m?) Market Value ($)
1 856 210,000
2 1,294 200,000
3 803 220,000
4 674 220,000
5 945 230,000
6 1,037 230,000
7 1,010 230,000
8 1,050 230,000
9 1,050 230,000
10 995 250,000
11 765 250,000
12 756 245,000
13 780 245,000
14 751 240,000
15 730 245,000
16 635 240,000
17 1,308 255,000
18 837 250,000
Total 4,220,000
Averages 904 234,444
The larger lots generally have a higher degree of slope and have been
valued accordingly.
HTW consider the current market to present a medium to high risk for
residential lots within the Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area (“WUEA”)
due to the declining number of Land Buyers Subsidy Scheme (“LBSS”)
grants available. As at the time of drafting this report, there were less
than 15 grants remaining of the original 96 grants available.
There is a distinct possibility that the LBSS grants may not be available
during the marketing of lots on Stage 2 which may potentially impact
upon sale rates for lots and prices. This point is well illustrated by the
graph on Page 20 of HTW’s report (see extract below) which indicates
that 54% of the 127 lots that have sold since January 2013 have done
so with the benefit of the subsidy scheme.
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In regards to the effects of the LBSS on the local residential land market,
it is worth noting that Ferngrove (who don’t have the benefit of the
LBSS) have had to compete with Ballina Heights Estate who does.
Ferngrove has managed to compete as their lots are level and cheaper
to build upon.

Stages 2 and 3 of Council's Wollongbar Residential Estate feature
relatively level lots (particularly Stage 3) so should be competitive in the
context of the Wollongbar and Goonellabah residential land markets.

WUEA Estate Sales

m With Grant

® YWithout Grant

HTW estimate that in the current market a rate of sale of one to two lots
per month may be achievable; giving a total estimated selling period of
12 months. This period may vary if lots are placed on the market for sale
“off the plan” in November 2015.

Development Costs

NDC estimate the cost to undertake Stage 2 to be in the order of
$2,507,000 + GST equating to $139,000 per lot including Council
development contributions. This estimate is high in comparison to the
actual cost for Stage 1 of $111,000 per lot which was cost effective to
develop as it had no stormwater detention works, major earthworks,
arterial road works or major intersections to construct.

The development cost of $139,000 per lot for Stage 2 incorporates:

e Construction of a major stormwater detention basin for Stages 2
and 3

e Stormwater detention basin for Stage 2.

e Construction of a section of Avalon Avenue to service Stages 2
and 3

¢ Construction of a roundabout to service Stages 2 and 3

e Bulk earthworks and retaining walls for Stage 2.
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c)

HTW has made adjustments to NDC’s estimates for the purposes of
assessing the viability of Stage 2, and adopted a figure of $2,410,000 +
GST equating to $134,000 per lot. This estimate includes a 5.00%
contingency allowance and Council development contributions. Final
costs will not be known until detailed design and documentation of the
proposed works are completed and quotations from contractors

obtained.

For the purposes of assessing the viability of Stage 2, cost estimates are

summarised as follows:

ltem Est. Cost ($) Est. Cost/lot

based on 18
lots ($)

Development costs incl. 5.00% 1,528,000 85,000

contingency

Council contributions 750,000 42,000

Professional fees incl. project 132,000 7,000

management

Sub — Total (Development 2,410,000 134,000

Costs)

Advertising & Promotion 27,000 1,500

Rates 8,000 500

Total (All costs excluding 2,445,000 136,000

interest)

Development Period

NDC estimate that, subject to weather, and assuming all approvals are in
place, it may take nine months to develop Stage 2.

Development Cashflow Analysis

HTW has prepared a development cash flow for the project over an
assumed eighteen month period, which indicates a maximum exposure of
approximately $2,466,000 in about the tenth month, as illustrated by the

following chart.
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Development Cumulative Cashflow
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$500,000
$1.000,0C0
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$3,000,0C0
Months
Annexure six of the HTW report contains a copy of the cashflow analysis.
e) Development Profit
The cashflow analysis indicates that based upon cost estimates provided
and assumptions made, the project is forecast to generate a development
profit of $1,223,000, or $1,156,000 after allowing for interest at a rate of
5.75% p.a. on funds borrowed. These profit forecasts have been
calculated on the assumption Council owns the land and therefore the
profit includes a component of land value.
f)  Development Margin and Profitability
Development margins for the project are calculated, inclusive of all costs,
as follows:
1. | Development margin before | $1,223,000 x 100 | 50.00%
interest; or alternatively expressed
as the rate of return on funds $2,445,000 x 1
applied before interest
2. | Development margin after interest | $1.156,000 x 100 | 47.28%
or alternatively expressed as the
rate of return on funds applied after $2,445,000 x 1
interest
g) Site Value
HTW has assessed the value of the site pertaining to Stage 2 to be
$600,000 + GST ($33,333 per lot) “as is” assuming development consent
is in place to undertake an 18 lot residential subdivision.
This value has been arrived based upon a review of the local market for
residential development sites, which is contained in section eight of the
HTW report.
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This value has also been confirmed by undertaking hypothetical
development assessment of the project (see Section 8.50 and Annexure 5
of the HTW report), which reflects a development profit of $596,000 or
$478,000 after allowing for interest at a rate of 5.75% p.a. on funds
borrowed.

In the local market the generally accepted criteria for a viable land
development project of this size is in the order of 15% to 20%.

On this basis of assessment the project reflects a development margin of
19.40% before interest or 15.00% after interest which indicates the project
to be viable.

This is also consistent with Council’s Property Investment and
Development Policy which puts a benchmark of 2% to 5% above the bank
bill swap rate for medium risk investments.

The current 90 day BBSW published on 30 October 2015 by the Australian
Financial markets Association was 2.095% p.a.

h) Asking Prices
HTW has assessed the following asking prices for the 18 lots in Stage 2
for the purposes of marketing the lots for sale “off the plan”. A copy of a
letter containing the asking prices is attached.
Lot Site Area (m?) Asking prices ($)
1 856 220,000
2 1,294 210,000
3 803 230,000
4 674 230,000
5 945 240,000
6 1,037 240,000
7 1,010 240,000
8 1,050 240,000
9 1,050 240,000
10 995 260,000
11 765 260,000
12 756 255,000
13 780 255,000
14 751 250,000
15 730 255,000
16 635 250,000
17 1,308 265,000
18 837 260,000
Total 4,400,000
Averages 904 244,444
In regards to marketing the lots it is proposed to follow the same
procedure as was adopted for Stage One which proved very effective:
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a) Instruct one of Council’s panel solicitors to prepare sale contracts for
each of the eighteen lots.

b) Offer general selling agreements to all local real estate agents with
Commercial Services acting as co-ordinator. Commission rate offered
to agents; 3.00% + GST of selling price payable upon settlement of
contracts.

c) Erect a for sale board on site directing enquiries to Council’'s website
and all local agents.

d) Provide information package to all local agents who apply for a general
agency agreement.

e) Place asking prices, lot layout and other information on Council’s
website.

It is not proposed to run an advertising campaign through the media, as
this was not done for Stage One. The commission rate offered to agents
should encourage them to promote the project through their respective
web resources.

Legal / Resource / Financial Implications
Legal

The land pertaining to the site proposed for Stage 2 is classified as
operational and can be developed for commercial purposes.

A joint development application (DA 2015/351) for Stage 2 of Council’s land
and a portion of Avalon Estate was lodged on 8 July 2015. This joint
development application proposes eighteen lots for Council’s land and four
lots for Avalon Estate on land owned by the Brown family. An aerial photo /
concept plan is attached detailing the proposed lots.

The joint development application for Stage 2 requires co-operation between
Council and the Brown family as adjoining property owners, including;

1(a) Council requires easements over Brown’s land for stormwater and
sewer pipes to service eight of its proposed eighteen lots;

1(b) Council requires a portion of Brown’s land to construct a stormwater
detention basin (drainage reserve) to service eight of its proposed
eighteen lots;

1(c) Minor boundary adjustments between the parties are required to
improve lot configurations and provide the Brown family with access
to Road 2;

1(d) The Brown family to provide an easement for a temporary cul-de-sac
for Road 4 (Avalon Avenue) to be constructed on their land adjoining
proposed lot 38; and

1(e) The Brown family require access to Road 2 Council is constructing to
service four proposed lots to be developed on their (Brown’s) land.
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Agreement in principle has been reached with the Brown family on the points
noted above without either party having to pay for easements, access or
boundary adjustments. This is considered an excellent outcome, as due to the
slope of its land, Council has no other viable option than to run easements
through the Brown family’s property.

Furthermore Council planners will not release DA 2015/351 unless they are
provided with the Brown family’s written consent to the stormwater and sewer
easements required. Access for easements was sought through the adjoining
property to the west, but was denied by the owners (the Smith family).

Co-operation between Council and the Brown family is also required for Stage
3 of Council’s residential development for the construction of:

e The completion of Avalon Avenue
e Trelawney Place and

e A roundabout at the intersection of Avalon Avenue and Trelawney
Place.

A plan is attached detailing these proposed roads and roundabout which are
to be constructed on the Brown family’s land. To facilitate these construction
works, agreement has been reached in principle with the Brown family, the
salient points of which are summarised below and include requirements for
each party to perform their respective obligations and not delay or frustrate the
other party.

2(a) Council to purchase from the Brown family, 50.00% of the road
reserve required for the completion of Avalon Avenue and Trelawney
Place, and 25.00% of the land required for the roundabout proposed
at the intersection of these two roads. The value of the land is to be
determined by an independent valuer with Council to pay all costs
associated with the valuation.

2(b) At any time after execution of the deed of agreement, either Council
or the Brown family may serve notice on the other party that the land
required for road reserves and roundabout is to be valued.

2(c) The valuation is to be completed within three months of either Council
or the Brown family serving notice.

2(d) Within four months of execution of a deed of agreement between
Council and the Brown family, Council is to prepare and lodge a DA
for Stage 3. Council is required undertake this obligation, irrespective
of whether notice has been served by either party that the land
required for road reserves and roundabout is to be valued.

2(e) Within three months of receiving a DA for Stage 3, Council is to
prepare and lodge a construction certificate for same.
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2(f) Within four months of the valuation of the road reserves being
completed, construction of Avalon Avenue and Trelawney Place and
the roundabout at the intersection of same is to be commenced and
completed within a reasonable timeframe.

2(g) Council to hold the construction contract for the proposed roadworks
and roundabout. The Brown family to pay their respective share as
detailed above.

2(h) Council to pay 50.00% of the cost for the construction of the
completion of Avalon Avenue and Trelawney Place.

2(i) Council to pay 25.00% of the cost for the construction of the
completion of Avalon Avenue and Trelawney Place.

Council staff estimate the value if the road reserves to be acquired from the
Brown family and contribution to roads and roundabout construction to be in
the order of $700,000 + GST.

Council staff have negotiated a deed of agreement with the Brown family to
facilitate the obligations of each party as adjoining owners (as outlined above)
in regards to Stages 2 and 3. CH Law have drafted the obligations of each
party into a deed of agreement should Council resolve to proceed with the
deed.

Financial

Funding has already been included in Council’s long term financial plan for the
development of Stage 2.

Consultation

An independent feasibility assessment has been completed for Stage 2.

Options

1. That Council place the proposed 18 serviced residential lots pertaining
to Stage 2 on the market “for sale off the plan” at the asking prices
assessed by HTW as noted in this report, and subject to gaining
development consent, Council resolves to undertake development the
18 serviced residential lots. Council also resolves enter into the deed of
agreement negotiated with the Brown family to facilitate the complete
development of Stages 2 and 3 of Council’'s Residential Estate.

This option is recommended as the HTW report indicates Stage 2 to
have a low to medium level of risk and is estimated to generate a cash
return to Council in the order of $1 million. The deed of agreement will
also provide each party with certainty in regards to the development of
their respective parcels of land.

2. That Council resolve not to proceed with the development of Stage 2
comprising 18 serviced residential lots or enter into deed of agreement
with the Brown family to assist in the development of Stages 2 and 3 of
Council’s Wollongbar residential land holdings.

Ballina Shire Council Commercial Services Committee Meeting Agenda
17/11/15 Page 117 of 183



4.7  Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

This option is not recommended as development consent will not be
granted to DA 2015/351 for all 18 lots until it can be demonstrated that
easements for stormwater and sewer have been secured with the Brown
family. Nor could Council resolve to sell the site “as is” and achieve a
price in line with the value of $600,000 + GST as attributed to it by HTW,
without such agreements in place.

RECOMMENDATIONS

. That, subject to gaining development consent, Council approves the

development of Stage 2 of Council’s Residential Estate, as outlined in
this report, comprising 18 serviced residential lots.

. That Council approves the sale “off the plan”, by private treaty, of the

18 lots identified in Stage 2 of Wollongbar Residential Estate”, as per
the asking prices provided in HTW'’s letter included as an attachment to
this report.

. The General Manager is authorised to execute general agency

agreements with any local agent seeking a listing to sell the lots
pertaining to Stage 2 at a commission rate of 3.00% + GST payable
upon settlement of contracts.

. The Council seal is authorised to be attached to the sale contracts and

any associated documents, including the deed of agreement with the
Brown family as per point five below.

. The General Manager is authorised to finalise negotiations with the

Brown family, execute a deed of agreement, execute all easements,
plans of subdivision etc. and all other relevant documentation required
to satisfy the deed of agreement between Council and the Brown
family.

. Any land acquired by Council by way of boundary adjustments,

drainage reserves or road reserves is to be classified as operational
land under the provisions of the NSW Local Government Act 1993.

Attachment(s)

1.

BSC Wollongbar Residential Estate & Avalon Estate - NDC Combined
Concept Plan

2. DA 2015/351 BSC Wollongbar Residential Estate Lot Layout & Services
Plan
3. DA 2015/351 Avalon Estate (Brown Family) Lot Layout & Services Plan
4. HTW Feasibility Assessment Report Stage 2
5.  HTW Stage 2 Asking Prices
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Executive Summary

Property Details

Lot 16 Pla
Instructing Party Mr Paul Tsikleas of Ballina Shire Council
Prepared For Ballina Shire Council
Basis of Assessment The interest being valued is the unencumbered fee simple subject to the

plans and costs supplied and outhned within this report.

Purpose of Assessment Our assessment has been prepared for feasibility assessment purposes
only.

Date of Inspection and 25 August 2015,

Assessment

Registered Proprietor Ballina Shire Council

Local Authority Ballina Council.

Town Planning The majority of the site is classified within the R3 Medium Density

Residential Zone under the Ballina Local Environmental Plan 2012_A small
section of the site within the south eastern corner is zoned REL Public
Recreation

On 15 July 2015, a Development Application was submitted (Reference
Number 010.2015.351.001) pertaining to the subject site for a Torrens
(Residential) Proposed Subdivision to Create 22 Residential Lots and
Associated Works. The DA is inclusive of land to the north which is not
under the ownership of the Ballina Shire Council and comprises 4 of the 22
proposed lots to be developed. This application is yet to be approved and
our assessment has been undertaken on the basis of this Development
Application being approved with no onerous conditions of approval

Real Property Description Lot 16 DP 1204621, Parish of Tuckombil, County of Rous.

Property Summary The subject property 1s an enlgobo site forming Stage 2 of a 3 stage
development. Stage 1 (situated on the southern side of Plateau Dr) has
recently been developed with 15 residential allotments_ It is proposed to
develop 18 residential lots within Stage 2. Stage 3 (incorporating Lot 6 DP
1161720) is to be located to the east and is to be developed ata future
date with approximately 32 residential allotments).

The subject site comprises 2.7 74 hectares and it is located on the north
eastemn side of Plateau Dr. The land rises moderately from the road to the
mid-section of the site which is gently undulating. The land then falls to the
western and northern boundaries. The majority of the land has been
extensively cleared. The western, northern and eastern boundaries
comprse mature tree coverage. There 15 a section of fill located within the
southern section of the land and a water tank is located within the mid-
eastem section of the land.

The subject site is located on the northermn fringe of the established suburb
of Wollongbar and it forms part of the Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area
The regional townships of Lismore and Ballina are located approximately
21 kilometres westand 17 kilometres to the east respectively

Sales History No historic sales recorded against the property.
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Executive Summary

Basis of Assessment Valuation
Current Market Value Inclusive of GST Exclusive of GST
Site Value 'As Is' $660,000 $600,000
Gross Realisation - Stage 1 'As If Complete’ $4,220,000 $3,836,364
Feasibility Assessment Summary Total $/lot
Number of Proposed Lots: 18
Adopted Sales Rate Per Month 2
Assessed Gross Realisation (incl GST): $4,220,000 $234 444
Assessed Net Realisations $3,667,564 $203,754
Total Cost (incl advertising, promotion and holding costs) $2,444 923 $135,82906
Interest -$66,469
Total Profit: $1,156,171 $64,231.70
DM (Before Interest) 50%
DM [After Interest): 46%
fk _
f@ A e . /
David Sullivan Ken Potter
Director Director
CPV / AAPI
QLD 2250 / NSW 4052
Important All data provided in this summary is wholly reliant on and must be read in
conjunction with the information provided in the attached report. Itis a

synopsis only designed to provide a brief overview and must not be acted on

in isclation.

The opinion of value expressed in this report has been arrived at by the

pnme signatory alone. The counter signatory of this valuation, Ken Potter,
has not undertaken any part of the valuation process and has only signed
this valuation report to verify itas an original Herren Tedd White valuation

report

For the avoidance of doubt, the counter signatory has not inspected the
property and as such (under the API professional practice) cannot be an
author of this report, and i1s confirming prima facie that the methodology
used by the author of the report {the prime signatory) 1s sound.

Lot 16 Plateau Dr Wollkongbar, NSW 2477
NNCO9B313
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Executive Summary

Risk Profile

Risk Indicator Comment

Market - Englobe « Steadyand slightly improving market conditions prevailing englobo sites on the NSW

Land North Coast since the beginning of the 2014 calendar year. This has been evidenced
in increased levels of enquiry and transactions for englobo sites over the past 2
years.

+  The likely buyer for the englobo land ‘as is" and subject to DA approval would be a
developer. Thevalue of the site at $600 000 is considered to be a saleable price
point for local developers.

* The subdivision layout proposed for Stage 2 assures an agreement can be reached
with the adjoining owner (the Brown family) to drain stormwater and sewer across
their land for the benefit of 8 of the 18 lots proposed.

+ The subject property 1s affected by its situation within the Wollongbar Urban
Expansion Area. Due fo the continuing development of four separate estates within
the WUEA that provide similar and already developed lots, these estates will have a
direct impact on the marketability and resultant value of the proposed subject
allotments on an ‘as if complete” basis.

Overall Risk: MEDIUM

Construction Costs + The construction cost estimates used for Assessment purposes have been provided
by Newton Denny Chapelle, Surveyors Planners Engineers

+ Construction costs are a major issue in the feasibility of residential developments_ If
the provided costs and/or the anticipated expenditure are not accurate, or if there is
an increase ordecrease in the actual cost of construction, the viability of the
development, and the assessed land value, could be adversely affected.

+ The construction costs provided are at the higher end of market parameters fora
similar development of this size and nature. NDC have advised thatthe higher costs
are due to the requirement to the construction of a roads that willalso sevice
proposed Stage 3 (roads 4 and 5), the construction of a round a bout, the provision of
storm water detention basin (that will benefitboth Sage 2 and 3). drainage reserve
and extra landscaping.

* Based on our experience of construction costs within Wollongbar and the greater
North Coast locality, the provided costs appear to be within tolerances.
Notwithstanding our brief comments in this regard, the assessment of construction
risk is considered to be outside of our area of expertise.

Overall Risk: LOW to MEDIUM
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Executive Summary

Market Risk - + Demand for completed residential allotments within the Wollongbar Urban Expansion
Product Area has improved since 2014 This is line with the demand experienced for
completed lots within the recently developed Stage 1 over the past 18 months.

+ However, demand for completed lots within the greater NSW North Coast continues
to remain slow for those estates which do not benefit from the current Land Buyer
Subsidy Scheme. There have been increased sale rates achieved for those estates
which directly benefit from the grants.

+ The Land Buyers Subsidy Scheme applied by the Ballina Shire Council to estates
situated within  the Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area benefits the subject
development This scheme has resulted in improved market conditions and sale rates
for lower priced vacant lots and/or new housing product in these estates. Only one lot
remains unsold within the recently developed Stage 1. The sale of the subject lots will
be in direct competition with lots located within the Avalon, Waollongbar Park, Killarney
Park and Spring Creek Place Estates, which have reasonable amounts of stock
available and are benefited by the available subsidies.

+ The introduction of the Scheme applied to the Ballina Heights Estate impacts slightly
on the proposed development due to the availability of competitively priced
allotments in a more coastal orientated estate.

+ Gouncil have advised that there remain approximately only 20 lots available for
potential grants within the Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area and approximately 80
lots availlable for potential grants within the Ballina Heights estate

* There s the possibility that the grants may not be available during the marketing of
the subject development. This will potentially impact on sale rates which have been
achieved within the WUAE since the introduction of the rebates and the marketability
and resultant value of the proposed subject allotments.

+ |tis noted thatthe grants applied by the Ballina Shire Council to the Ballina Heights
Estate have had less impact on the nearby located estates of River Oaks and
Fermngrove (which do notbenefit from the subsidies) than originally anticipated when
they were first introduced. However, these estates benefit from their central Ballina
location, close proximity to the various town facilities and the level nature of the
allotments

* [tis imperative that lots must be competitively priced in order to maintain acceptable
sale rates, particularly as house building costs remain relatively high and due to the
subsidies available n competing estates

Overall Risk: MEDIUM to HIGH

Lot 16 Plateau Dr Wollongbar, NSW 2477
NNCO96313 Page iv
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Executive Summary

Asset Profile + Located within the northern fringe of the established Wollongbar residential locality.
New subdivisions have recently been orare currently being developed to the eastand
north of the subject property, within the Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area.

* Located within close proximity to various residential amen ities

+ The proposed Development with the 18 residential lots ranging in size from 635 sqm
to 1,308 sqm s consistent with the assessed highest and best use

+ The subject site has an area of 2.774 hectares and is irregular in shape. The land
rises shghtly to moderately above road height. The majority of the site 1s cleared and
the proposed lots will predominately have a northern aspect

+ 12 of the proposed allotments will be accessed via a two lane cul de sac. The lots
fronting Plateau Dr will be impacted by increased traffic volumes.

+ Development of eight (8) lots (being Lots 28, 29, 30, 31,32, 36, 37 & 38) are subject
to the adjoining owner (the Brown Family) granting easements to Councl to dran
stormwater and sewer from these lots and construct a stormwater detention basin.
The Brown Family are also reliant upon Council granting access to them so they can
develop the four (4) lots proposed on their land under the DA, Negotiations are in
progress to come to an agreement over these matters.

Overall Risk: LOW-MEDIUM
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Executive Summary

Assumptions, Conditions and Limitations

Critical Assumptions+ This feasibility assessment report is provided subject to the assumptions,
disclaimers, limitations and qualifications detailed within this report Reliance on this
report and extension of our liability is conditional upon the reader’s
acknowledgement and understanding of these statements

+ We have made assumptions and conditional comments in respect to Easements
(section 2.2), Town Planning (section 3.1), Approvals (section 3.2), Services (section
4.2}, Development Costs (section 6) and GSI (section 8.5)

+ Atthe time of assessment, development approval had notbeen obtained, however, in
accordance with our instructions received from Ballina Shire Council, we have been
requested to undertake an assessment on the basis that development approval has
been obtained. This assessmentis conditional upon approval being obtained subject
to no enerous approval conditions. Once the final approval has been granted the
report should be requisitioned for further commentby the valuer as if any of the
above assumptions were to vary the value could be detrimentally affected.

+ Our assessment is undertaken on the condition thatthe development will be
completed in accordance with the plan of development, Plan 5A Proposed
Subdivision with Slope Analysis and Building Envelopes dated 8 July 2015 as
prepared by Newton Denny Chapelle appended to this report without significant
alterations.

* An agreement with the adjoining owner (the Brown family) is created in order to drain
stormwater and sewer across their land for the benefit of 8 of the 18 lots proposed
subject lots.

+ Tothe bestof the valuer's knowledge, the subject property is not affected by
Herrtage. landslip, pest infestation; however, no searches have been undertaken in
this regard.

+ Tothe bestof the valuer's knowledge, the land is not affected by unstable,
hazardous, or toxic soil material; however, no searches have been undertaken in this
regard. This assessment assumes thatthere are no problems, however, should any
such issues arise, and then this matter should be referred to the valuer for further
comment.

+ Confirmation that the subject estate can be completed without any adverse impacts
created by the various easements and encumbrances which are registered on the
title search

* Thereare no surface or sub-surface soil problems ncluding instability, toxic or
hazardous wastes or building material hazards in, or on the property that would
adversely affect its existing or proposed use or reduce its marketability.

+ The ‘as if complete’ values assessed herein are the market values of the proposed
improvements as detailed in the report on the assumption that all construction had
been satisfactorily completed in all respects at the date of this report and individual
titles are 1ssued for the completed lots. The valuation reflects the valuer's view of the
market conditions existing at the date of the reportand does not purpert to predict
the market conditions and the value at the actual completion of the improvements
because of ime lag.

+ We have assumed that, on a hypothetical sale of the subject property, an incoming
purchaser would gain ownership and control of all intellectual material associated
with the proposed development including professional reports, approvals, working
drawings, bullding contracts and pre-sale contracts
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Executive Summary

+ Accordingly, the ‘as if complete’ assessment must be confirmed by a further
inspection by thevaluer, initiated and instructed by the lender. on completion of the
development The right is reserved to review and, if necessary, vary the assessment
in this reportif there are any changes in relation to the projectitself or in property
market conditions and prices.

+ The land can be developed in accordance with the cost estimates summarised in this
report, including the anticipated development programme and cost distribution as
advised by the client.

+ Qurassessed gross realisation of the soon to be developed lots ‘as if complete’ within
Stage 2 is based on a professional marketing campaign, undertaken by agents
experienced in the sale of this type of property, with an appropriate marketing budget
and selling period. Failure to undertake a full professional marketing program may
impact on the anticipated rate of sale and achievable selling prices

+ Qurvaluation of the englobo land ‘as is’ has largely been assessed using a cash flow
model. Our cash flow model has been prepared for feasibility assessment purposes
only. Cash flow projections are forecasts of estimated future operating characteristics
and they are based on the information and assumptions contained within our
valuation report. The achievement of the financial projections will be affected by
fluctuating economic and property market conditions and it is dependent upon other
future occurrences that cannot be assured. The actual results may vary from the
projections contained herein.

+ The englebe land is professionally marketed and promoted with an adequate
promotional budget and an orderly marketing campaign. The marketing of this
property should only be undertaken by an experienced real estate agency with an
appropriate promotional budget

+  All other assumptions or qualifications contained within this report
+  The imitations and qualifications detailed at the rear of this report

Should any of the assumptions, qualifications or hmitations contained within this report
not prove to be reasonable, we would reserve the right to review our valuation.
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1 INTRODUCTION
11 Instructions

We have been instructed by Mr Paul Tsikleas on behalf of Ballina Shire Council to undertake a feasibility
assessment of the Englobo Residential Property located at Lot 16 Plateau Dr, Wollongbar NSW 2477

Specifically, we have been instructed to assess the parcel of land situated on the northern side of Plateau Dr
which is currently subject to a Development Application determination. Subject to approval, the land is to be
developed with a total of 22 residential allotments, with 18 allotments forming the basis of this assessment.
The developmentis to be Stage 2 of a 3 stage subdivision. As per our instructions, the feasibility assessment
report is to undertake the following

« the gross realisation from the individual sale of the proposed allotments “as if complete”;

+ overview of the residential land market for Wollongbar, the broader Ballina Shire and Goonellabah;

+ the current market value of the development site “as is”;

« feasibility/profitability analysis based upon development time frames provided and anticipated selling
periods.

1.2 Basis of Assessment

The interest being valued is the unencumbered fee simple subject to the plans and costs supplied and
outlined within this report.

Our assessment has been prepared for internal feasibility assessment purposes for use by Ballina Shire
Council. It has been prepared in accordance with the Austialian Property Institute’s Valuation Practice
Standards.

The report is not available for any other purpose, nor is any liability extended to any third party, withoutthe
valuer's written authority and consent.

13 Definitions

This assessment has been undertaken in accordance with the following definitions:

Market Value

‘the estimated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the valuation date between a willing
buyerand a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction, after proper marketing and where the parties had
each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion”.

Highest and Best Use

“the use of an asset that maximises its potential and that is physically possible, legally permissible and
financially feasible”

‘As g’

‘means a valuation that provides the current market value of the property as it currently exists rather than the
value of the proposed development”.

Lot 16 Plateau Dr Wollongbar, NSW 2477
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‘As If Complete”

“the valuer, when assessing the value of an asset from plans and specifications ‘as if complete’, assesses the
value having regard to the marketat the date that the assessment was made. The valuer reserves the right to
review, and if necessary vary, the valuation if there are changes to the project itself or in market conditions
and prices”.

Please note the assessment ‘as if complete’ is not a forward projection of value but is at today's value
assuming all proposed works are fully completed
Gross Realisation

The gross realisation is the sum of the ‘as if complete” martet values of the individual end lots which the
property is expected to achieve over a specified selling period, assuming orderly sales between willing buyers
and willing sellers, in arm’s length transactions, after proper marketing, wherein the parties acted
knowledgably, prudently and without compulsion.

1.4 Date of Inspection and Assessment

25 August 2015

L BN
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2 TITLE AND STATUTORY DETAILS

21 Title Details

Search Date 06 August 2015

Title Reference 16/1204621

Real Property Lot 16 DP 1204621, Parnish of Tuckombil, County of Rous.

Description

Registered Owner Ballina Shire Council

Encumbrances 1. Land excludes minerals and is subject to resenvations and conditions in

favour of the Crown - see Crown grant(s)

2. DP1204621 Easement for multi - purpose electrical installation 4.2 metre(s)
wide affecting the part(s) shown so burdened in the Title diagram.

3. DP1204621 Restriction(s) on the use of land referred to and numbered (6)
in the S88B instrument

4. DP1204621 Positive covenant

Unregistered Dealings  Nil.

Administrative Advices  Nil.

A copy of the recently searched Certificate of Title and a copy of the Deposited Plan are annexed to this report.
22 Easements, Encumbrances and Interests

The subject property includes an easement for multi - purpose electrical installation. This easement is
improved with an electrical substation and is located to the south of the existing road entry to the
development. The easement has limited impact on either the subject site ‘as is' or the proposed residential
allotments.

Restrictions will be placed on the Title of all lots fronting Plateau Drive to ensure that access to these lots is
from the proposed cul-de-sac only.

The above noted easements have notbeen individually searched nor a legal opinion obtained regarding their pracise impact on the land

Our valuation is based on the assumption that the approved subdivision can be completed without any adverse impact created by these
easements, encumbrances and restrictions.

Our valuation is further based on the assumption that there are no other easements or encumbrances which would have a detrimental
effect on the value or marketability of the subject property or the approved subdivision. Should any such easement or encumbrance
become apparent, we would reserve the right to review our assessment.

23 Statutory Assessments

$700,000 effective from 1 July 2014 for localauthority rating and land tax purposes

Lot 16 Plateau Dr Wollongbar, NSW 2477
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3 TOWN PLANNING AND APPROVALS

31 Town Planning Summary

Local Authority Ballina Council.

Planning Scheme Ballina Lacal Environmental Plan 2012

Land Use/Zoning Part R3 Medium Density Residential Zone and RE1 Public Recreation Zone.

Objectives The R3 Medium Density Residential Zone objectives are:

1. Objectives of zone

e Toprovide for the housing needs of the community within a medium density

residential environment.

e Toprovide a variety of housing types within a medium density residential

environment.

¢ Toenable other land uses that provide facilities or services to meet the day to day

needs of residents.

¢ Toprovide development that s compatible with the character and amenity of the

surrounding neighbourhood.

e Toencourage housing and infrastructure that supports the ageing population.

e Toprovide for development that meets the social and cultural needs of the

community.

* Toencourage development that achieves the efficient use of resources such as

energy and water.

2. Permitted without consent

¢ Environmental protection works; Home-based child care; Home occupations

3. Permitted with consent

e Attached dwellings; Boarding houses: Child care centres; Community facilities;
Extensive agriculture; Group homes; Home industries; Kiosks; Markets; Mult
dwelling housing; Neighbourhood shops: Places of public worship: Respite day
care centres; Roads; Roadside stalls; Seniors housing; Any other development not

specified in item 2 or 4

’
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5]

Objectives of zone

To provide for the housing needs of the community within a medium density
residential environment

To provide a variety of housing types within a medium density residential
environment.

To enable other land uses that provide facilities or services to meet the day to day
needs of residents.

Toprovide development thatis compatible with the character and amenity of the
surrounding neighbourhood.

To encourage housing and infrastructure that supports the ageing population

To provide for development that meets the social and cultural needs of the
CDIUI’T]UHH)’

Toencourage development that achieves the efficient use of resources such as
energy and water

. Permitted without consent

Environmental protection works; Home-based child care; Home occupations.

. Permitted with consent

Attached dwellings; Boarding houses; Child care centres; Community facilities;
Extensive agrculture; Group homes; Home industries; Kiosks, Markets; Multi
dwelling housing: Neighbourhood shops; Places of public worship; Respite day
care centres; Roads; Roadside stalls; Seniors housing: Any other development not
specified in item 2 or 4

. Prohibited

Advertising structures; Agriculture; Air transport facilities; Airstrips; Amusement
centres; Animal boarding or training establishments; Boat building and repair
facilities; Charter and tourism boating facilities; Commercial premises;
Correctional centres: Crematoria; Daines (pasture-based ). Depots: Eco-tourist
facilities; Farm stay accommeodation; Forestry; Freight transport facilities; Heavy
industrial storage establishments: Highway service centres: Industrial retail
outlets; Industrial fraining facilities; Industries; Marinas; Mooring pens; Moorings:
Mortuaries; Recreation facilities (major); Restricted premises; Rural industries;
Rural workers' dwellings: Service stations, Sex services premises, Storage
premises; Transport depots; Truck depots; Vehicle body repair workshops; Vehicle
repair stations; Veterinary hospitals; Warehouse ordistribution centres; Waste or
resource management facilities; Wharf or boating facilities; Wholesale supplies.
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4.7 Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

The REL Public Reserve Zone objectives are:

1.

4.

Objectives of zone
To enable land to be used for public open space or recreational purposes

Toprovide a range of recreational settings and activities and compatible land
uses

To protect and enhance the natural environment for recreational purposes.

To provide for a diversity of development that meets the socialand cultural needs
of the community.

To provide for public access to open space and natural recreation areas.

To protect and conserve landscapes in environmentally sensitive areas,
particularly in foreshore and visually prominent locations.

To provide for development that is consistent with any applicable plan of
management.

To encourage development that achieves the efficient use of resources such as
energy and water.

Permitted without consent

Envirenmental protection works; Flood mitigation works: Roads.

. Permitted with consent

Beat launching ramps; Boat sheds; Camping grounds; Car parks; Caravan parks;
Cemeteries; Charterand tourism boating facilities; Child care centres; Community
faciliies; Emergency services facilities; Entertainment facilities; Environmental
facilities; Extensive agriculture; Forestry; Function centres; Heliports; Information
and education facilities; Jetties; Kiosks; Markets; Public administration buildings;
Recreation areas; Recreation facilities (indoor), Recreation facilities (major);
Recreation facilities (outdoor); Registered clubs; Research stations; Respite day
care centres; Restaurants or cafes; Sewerage systems; Signage: Take away food
and drink premises; Water recreation structures; Water supply systems; Wharf or
beoating facilities

Prohibited

Any developmentnot specified in item 2 or 3.

We assume thatplanning data provided to us by the relevant Local Planning Authority is accurale. in the event that a Town Planning

NMNCO96313

ificate or any othe
differant to the town plannir

evant Planning Certificate ordocument is obfained and the information therein is/ater found to be mats
& information detailed

in the assessment we resemve the right to amend the assessment.
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4.7 Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

3.2 Approvals

On 15 July 2015, a Development Application was submitted (Reference Number 010 2015351.001)
pertaining to the subject site for a Torrens {Residential) Proposed Subdivision to Create 22 Residential Lots
and Associated Works. The DA is inclusive of land to the north 1s note under the ownership of the Ballina Shire
Council that is benefit from 4 of the 22 proposed lots to be developed. This application is yet to be approved
and ourassessment has been undertaken on the basis of this Development Application being approved with
no onerous conditions of approval.

In accordance with our instructions, we have assessed the value subject to development approval being
obtained. Our assessment assumes the development approval will be subject to there being no onerous
conditions and being in accordance with the plans provided, Should this not be the case it may impact upon
our assessed value. We recommend any party relying upon this assessment satisfy themselves in regard to
the development approvaland conditions and once i1ssued, should be referred to the valuer for comment

Ourassessment proceeds on the basis the abovementioned Development Application Decision Notice is not subject to appeal however,
we have notundertaken any seatmhes in this regard.
33 Town Planning Comments
The town planning issues pertaining to the subject property are complex and outside of our area of expertise.

Whilst we have provided a summary of the town planning matters as we understand them, we would
recommend you seek specialist town planning advice to confirm the reasonableness of our comments and
c'i.‘-}SUT’H[JTIUHH

We reserve the right to review ourassessment, should our understanding of the town planning and app roval status of the subject property
be shown tobe incorrect.

Lot 16 Plateau Dr Wollkongbar, NSW 2477
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4 THE LAND
4.1 Location Details
The general location of the subject property is indicated by the markers on the maps below.
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4.7 Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

Locality The property is located within the Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area. This isa
predominantly developing residential locality situated within the northem fringe of the
suburb of Wollongbar

Wollongbar is an established village which is located approximately 2 kilometres west
of the village of Alstonville, approximately 21 kilometres east of Lismore and
approximately 17 kilometres north-west of Ballina. The Wollongbar village is situated
on the northern side of the Bruxner Highway and the urban residential development
in this area typically comprises conventional sized residential allotments which are
improved with a mixture of semi-modem to modern style, average quality houses,
duplex dwellings and small toewnhouse/villa complexes. The Wollongbar village is
surrounded by broad acreage rural residential properties, the majority of which are
currently or were formally used for agricultural and farming purposes.

Wollongbar, together with the nearby village of Alstonville and the locality of
Goonellabah, form the eastern urban extension of the major urban residential and
regional commercial centre of Lismore. The future growth of the Wollongbar
residential area will mostly cansist of a major urban release area which is referred to
by the Ballina Council as the Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area. This area consists of
several large adjoining rural properties which are located on the northern fringe of
Wollongbar. It is proposed that this area will ultimately be developed with a mixture of
detached housing, duplex units and medum density townhouses and villas.

Wollongbarhas a small local shopping centre which includes an IGA supermarket,
professional consultation suites (doctor), newsagency, chemist, takeaway
cafe/restaurantand a licensed tavern. Regional shopping is available at both Ballina
and Lismore. An industrial estate 1s located on the southem side of the Bruxner
Highway. Primary and Secondary schools are located in the area. According to the
ABS 2011 Census, Wollongbar has a population of 2 396

Situation The property 1s situated on the north eastern side of Plateau Dr, being on the second
allotment to the north of the intersection of Plateau Drand Rifle Range Rd.

The Wollongbar Post Office 1s approximately 2 kilometres by road to the south of the
subject property.

Surrounding The subject property is located within a further expanding residential suburb of

Development Wollongbar. Undeveloped land adjoins the subject property to the north, westand
east. The recently completed Stage 1 of the subject development is located opposite
to the south. Established, modern style residential dwellings situated on standard
size residential allotments are situated opposite Rifle Range Rd to the south. New
residential subdivisions currently under construction are located further to the north,
west and east of the subject property.

The proposed development is a use that is consistent with the surrounding
development

Lot 16 Plateau Dr Wollongbar, NSW 2477
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4.7 Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

The property is located close to the following infrastructure: arterial roads, major

Infrastructure
transport routes and public transport.

Urban amenities which are situated within reasonable proximity of the subject
property include

. The Palms local shopping centre which includes an IGA supermarket and a
doctors surgery

. Pioneer Tavem
. service station
. Wollongbar State Primary School

. Wollongbar Pre School

. Alstonville State Primary School

. Alstonville State High School

. Alstonville Catholic Primary School
. North Coast Institute Tafe Campus
. local school bus service

. sports fields atAlstonville

Regionalshopping and commercial facilities and a hospital, airport and other
educational establishments including a Southern Cross University campus are

situated in Lismore.

4.2 Land Description

Driy,
|
|IJr
. /
a | }
= | f
gl = '
. \ f
: : |
K ™ |

Source: Six Maps

Note: Satellite image ndudes the total property (Lot 16)
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4.7 Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

View of subject property facing east Wiew of subject property fadng north west

View of subject property facing west Wiew of subject property facing north east View over subject property north west
Area Lot 16 has a total land area of 2.774 hectares.
Topography The subject site comprises 2.774 hectares and it is located on the north eastem side

of Plateau Dr. The land rises moderately from the road to the mid-section of the site
which s gently undulating. The land then falls to the western and northern
boundares.

The land rises gently to moderately from the road to the rear mid-section with a
contour range from RL159m AHD to 166m AHD. The land generally provides a
northerly aspect.

The majority of the land has been extenswely cleared. The western, northern and
eastern boundaries comprise mature tree coverage. There is a section of fill located
within the southern section of the land and a water tank is located within the mid
eastern section of the land.

Lot 16 Plateau Dr Wollongbar, NSW 2477
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4.7 Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

Flooding We have not undertaken a formal flood search to confirm whether or not the property
is subject to flooding or other impediments caused by excess water saturation and/or
flood

As the property appears to be located in an area that is not subject to flooding we do
not consider a flood search necessary.

Services The following major services are available for connection: reticulated water,
sewerage, telephone, electric power.

We have physically identified the boundaries upon inspection and there do notappear to be any encroachments. However, we are not
surveyors and no warmanty can be given without the benefit ofan identification surve)

To the best ofthe valuer's knowledge, the subjectproperty is not affected by landslip, pest infestation or resumption matters, however, no
searcheshave been undertaken in this egaid.

Confirmation of a suitable soll compaction test.

4.3 Road System/Access

View north west along Plateau Drive Front of proposed development

Road System The property has a single road frontage to Plateau Dr.

Plateau Dris a bitumen sealed, two lane local road; it has concrete kerbing and
channelling.

A new roundabout located directly to the south east of the subject property has been
completed. This roundabout provides access to the residential estates being
developed within the WUEA.

Access Vehicular access is easy and direct.

All of the residential allotments in Stage 2 of the estate will have frontage to two
bitumen sealed cul de sacs with concrete kerb and channel.

Lot 16 Plateau DrWollongbar, NSW 2477
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4.4 Environmental Issues

Previous potentially contaminating use Unknown
Environmental planning overlay Yes
Contamination uses on adjoining properties Notapparent
Known contamination issues in surrounding areas Unknown
Known groundwater contamination in surrounds Unknown
Potentially contaminating processes or materials on site MNotapparent
Known past underground storage of contaminant materials Mot evident from our
inspection
Listed on contaminated or environmental site registers No
Do operations require envionmental licensing No

note any hazardous or toxic material on site, it should be noted that our assessment has been prepared without the

benefit of soil tests or environ mental studies. Accordingly, ourassessment is subject to there being no surface of sub-suiface soil
problems including in:
existing or potential use or reduce its marketa

tability, toxic or hazardous wastes or building material hazards in oron the property that would adversely affect its

it should be noted that environm Imatters are beyond the scope of our expertise and assuch, we would recommend thatanyone

INg on our assessment for investm e purposes satisfy themselves in refation to any environmental risks or contamination

issues. Should any such problem become apparent, we would reserve the right to review our assessment.

Lot 16 Plateau Dr Wollkongbar, NSW 2477
NNCO9B313 Page 13

Ballina Shire Council Commercial Services Committee Meeting Agenda
17/11/15 Page 144 of 183
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5 PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT
51 Introduction

The property is proposed to be developed into an 18 lot subdivision. The development is to comprise Stage 2
of a 3 stage development. Stage 1 (situated on the southem side of Plateau Dr) has recently been developed

with 15 residential allotments. Stage 2 (incorporating Lot 6 DP 11617 20) is to be located to the eastand is to
be developed at a future date with approximately 32 residential allbtiments

As discussed in Section 32, development consent is currently being sought for subdivision of land, including
the construction of a cul-de-sac and associated urban sewice infrastructure. The proposed 18 residential lots
are to range in size from 674 to 1,308 square metres. The application includes the removal of all trees and
vegetation on site.

5.2 Plan of Subdivision

The plan of subdivision for the subject land is as follows:

A copy of the Proposed Plan is annexed to this report.
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4.7 Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

5.3 Development Yield

The proposed development yield, lot type and area are as follows

Lot |
21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

20

21

32

33

34

35

kL]

37

a8

30 (Public Reserve)

Drainage Resere

54 Design Analysis

Type
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard

Balance Land/Public Reserve

Drainage Resewe

Land Area (sqm)

856
1294
802
674
45
1037
1010
1050
1050
995
765
756
780
751
730
@35
1308
a7
1872

The subject site 1s to be developed with 18 standard residential allotments accessed via two cul de sacs which

extend off Plateau Dr.

All of the proposed lots are to be an irregular shape. Lots 22 and 37 are located internally and have a hatchet

shape with narrow road frontage.

Proposed Lots 21 and 22 will have a moderate slope falling to the rear southern boundary which fronts
Plateau Dr. Lots 23 to 29 will fall from the road to the rear western/south western boundaries. Lots 28 and 29

will have more moderate slopes to the rear of the lot. These lots will provide local views to the west

Lots 30 and 31 will have cross falls from south to north. This will result in possible views being obtained to the
north over the surrounding development and hill in the distance. Similar potential views will be obtained from

Lots 37 and 38

Lots 30 and 37 will have retaining walls constructed to reduce the impacts of slope.

Lots 32 to 36 will be slightly undulating, rnising slightly from the road to the rear boundary. These lots will

provide local views.

Lot 39 (positioned within the south eastern section of the site) is to be bisected by a road and a landscaped
drainage reserve. This lot forms balance land and is to be utilised in Stage 3 as part public reserve and a
residential lot. This lot does not form part of this assessment. And positioned to the south east of the main

part of stage 2, with direct street fronta ge to Plateau Drive.

The locations of proposed allotments are detailed in the plan of subdivision detailed in Section 5.2

Lot 16 Plateau Dr Wollkongbar, NSW 2477
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4.7 Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

Road Network & Access

Aroad will extend from Plateau Dr to the north east over the site. This road will extend into future Stage 3 and
will be n 11 metre wide carriageway. A cul-desac will extend off this road to the narth west providing access to
the majority of proposed lots. The cul-de-sac willbe a 7 metre wide carriageway. Both roads will have layback
kerb and gutter.

Restrictions will be placed on the title of all lots fronting Plateau Drive to ensure that access to these lots is
from the proposed cul-de-sac.
A 12 metre wide concrete footpath is currently provided along the Plateau Dr frontage

Services

We have assessed the value of the proposed lots on the basis thatall major services are adjacent to the
boundary of the lots.

Electrical and telecommunications supply willbe provided via the existing underground services, with the
location of {or requirement for) transformer substations to be determined during the detail design phase of the
project.

The subdivision layout proposed for Stage 2 assures an agreement can be reached with the adjoining owner
(the Brown family) to drain stormwater and sewer across their land for the benefit of 8 of the 18 lots proposed.

L &N ]
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4.7 Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

6 DEVELOPMENT COSTS
6.1 Cost Schedule

We have been provided with development cost estimates prepared by Newton Denny Chapelle (Surveyors
Planners Engineers) in August 2015 The cost estimates as provided by NDC for the proposed development are
summarised as follows:

Jtem | Cost
Civil Design Fees $42,000
Civil Construction $1,165,000
Stormwater Treatment Areas $85,000
Electricity/ Telstra $180,000
Landscaping $40,000
Site Supervision £30,000
Council Levies $750,000
Flan Registration $40,000
Total Development Costs 42,332,000
Rate Per Lot $129,556

NDC have advised that the development cost estimates are exclusive of consultant fees to date and legal fees
for the preparation of contracts and 88b. The costs are also exclusive of:

. Land costs,

. Sales and marketing,

. Legal fees,

. Any bonding or security costs

. Contingency allowance

. Professional fees other than those relating to enginesring and survey fees.

MN.B. Marketing Fees. Stamp Duty. Legai Fees, Holding Costs {council rates and Land Tax) and interest, have been accounted for
separately in our hypothetical development exerc ise

We have allowed for a 5% contingency for civil construction, $20,000 for ‘other’ possible professional fees
such as geo technical, environmental, electrical communications, landscaping, etc. The cost estimates
adopted for this assessment are summarised as follows

Civil Works $1,470,000
Contingency Allowan ce on Civil Warks $58,250
Council Fees and Charges $750,000
Frofessional Fees $132,000
Total Development Costs $2,410,250
Rate Per Lot $133,903

Lot 16 Plateau Dr Wollkongbar, NSW 2477
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4.7 Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

6.2 Comments on Costs

We note the costs provided are at the higher end of market parameters for a similar development of this size
and nature. NDC have advised that the higher costs are due to the requirement to the construction of a roads
thatwill also service proposed Stage 3 (roads 4 and 5), the construction of a round a bout, the provision of
storm water detention basin (that will benefit both Stage 2 and 3), drainage reserve and extra landscaping.

We note that this report pro 5 assessment advice alone and a5 such, we are not qi
development cost estima provided. We recommend that any party iying on this
an independent audit of the proposed develop ment costs by a gL
reported within this report, are incorrect, we resenve the nght to re

ified to comment upon the accu@cy of the
assment should satisfy themselves and carryout
d Quantity Surveyor, Should such an audit reveal that the costs, as
¥ our assessmenteither in part or in full.

Asourassessment of the balance engiobo site has, in part, been determined using a cash flow model which utilises the cost estimates
summarised in this section of the report, the accuracy of the cost estimates and theirdistibution have a significant beanng on our
valuation

Accaordingly, should the final caostings (and/or their dist ) differ significantly from the estimate mmarised n this report and used
in our cash fiow mod e wouid reserve the right to review ourassessment. Any significant increase in the develop t costs (or the
expenditure program) could impact on the viability of the estate and subsequently an the assessed land value of the engiobo parcel

6.3 Construction Time Frames

Having regard to our expenence with similar projects, information provided by Newton Denny Chapelle and the
recent construction times in relation to Stage 1, we have adopted a construction period of 9 months for the
purposes of our cash flow. We have alko allowed for a 4 week period for the preparation of construction
certificate documentation, construction and tenderand an 8 week period for plan registration_ It should be
noted however, that these time frames can vary from project to projectand s also subject to the availability of
materials/labourand weather conditions

6.4 Goods and Services Tax
The cost estimates provided are exclusive of GST.

Qur cash flow analysis includes appropriate allowances for the GST and input tax credits relating to the
operational works, construction costs and, professional fees. GST is not payable on Council infrastructure
charges and other Council fees.

The developer of a residential subdwision, assuming they are a registered enterprise, 5 able to claim an nput
tax credit on the GST paid in relation to the cost of developing and selling (marketing, commissions and legal
costs) the completed vacant lots

Accordingly, the developer should not incur any additional net increase in development costs due to the GS1
The only additional cost ssue for the developer, depending upon their cash flow position, is that there willbe a
period between the time they pay the GST in developing the land and the time that they receive the input tax
credit on this money spent.

Lot 16 Plateau DrWollongbar, NSW 2477
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7 MARKET REPORT
71 Local Land Market Overview

The market for vacant lots on the NSW North Coast was particularly difficult over the period of 2008 to 2012
These conditions were particulady evident for fringe estates which are not located within recognised and
established townships.

The rapidly softening market conditions over this time frame resulted in reduced demand for vacant residential
lots and as a result, the majority of developing estates reported poor sale rates and softening sale prices.

However, the overall residential real estate market has shown signs of steady improvement over the course of
mid to end 2013, 2014 and the 2015 year to date. Whilst this improvement was nitially focused in the central
established, lower end housing markets, the improved demand has now also been reflected in a level of
improvement in the vacant lot market over the past 2 years.

Also, over the course of 2012, the NSW Govemment instigated various increased incentives with the aim to
stimulate the property and new housing construction industries. The incentive programs are more highly
geared towards new home buyers. The incentives broadly include exemptions or partial exemptions on stamp
duty and also increased government grants, for purchasers of vacant land (to build on) or new homes/units

The introduction of the Land Buyers Subsidy Scheme (LBSS) has had a positive impact on sale rates and price
levels in those estates which benefit from the Scheme. The LBSC is a result of the Ballina Shire Council grant
from the Federal Govemment's Building Better Regional Cities (BBRC) program. The Council first secured
BBRC funding for $4.5 million in 2012 which resulted in grants implemented for estates situated within the
Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area. The Ballina Shire Council also secured a $5 million grant from the Federal
Government to consiruct Ballina Heights Drive which has resulted in the introduction of a Land Buyers' Subsidy
Scheme for the Ballina Heights Estate and CURA A. Ballina Shire Council have advised that approximately only
20 lots available for potential grants within the Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area and ap proximately 80 lots
available for potential grants within the Ballina Heights estate.

Since the commencement of the Land Buyers' Subsidy Scheme within the Wollongbar Urban Release Area and
Ballina Heights Estate, there have been improved market conditions and increased rates of sale for vacant
lots. Due to the historical slow rates of sale for vacant land and the limited depth on the land marketon the
NSW North Coast, there s evidence that the LBSS impacted on sale rates and sale prices for land situated
outside of those estates approved for the Scheme. This is particularly the case for esfates in the Alstonville,
Wollongbar and Lismore regions in which lots are notreduced to compete with the net purchase price
available for buyers suitable for the full subsidy/rebate within the WURA.

However, the stimulus created by the Land Buyers Subsidy Scheme within the Ballina Heights Estate has had
less impact on the ‘Femgrove’ Estate and the adjoining "Rivercaks’ Estate. This is mamnly due to a combination
of the inferior location of the Ballina Heights Estate and the inferior topography of the lots which require extra
site costs (which nullify the potential subsidy/rebate). In saying this, it is still evident that in order to maintain
an acceptable sale rate, the developers have been required to aggressively price lots in order to be competitive
with the subsidy provided by the LBSS
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Our analysis of the sale history for land within the WUEA since the introduction of the Land Buyers Subsidy
Scheme reveals that of the 127 lots sold since January 2013, 73 lots have been issued grants for the Scheme.
The breakup of lots sold which have benefitted from the Scheme is as follows:

WUEA Estate Sales

= With Grant
® Without Gramt

The above graph illustrates the benefit that the Land Buyers Subsidy Scheme has had on the various lots
estates situated within the Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area and resultant impact on sale rates achieved
However, italso indicates that of the 127 lots sold since January 2013, 54 lot sales have still been achieved
without the benefit of the Scheme.

7.2 Market Overview

Current Activity There is currently increased market activity for estates situated within the Wollongbar
Urban Expansion Area as a combined result of the introduction of the Land Buyers
Subsidy Scheme. lowering interest rates and ease of bomrowing.

Market Vo latility The property is situated within central location between the major townships of
Lismore and Ballina. Historically, this locality has proven to have a low level of price
volatility

Price Point Our assessed values range from $200,000 to $255 000 for the 18 standard sized

residential allotments. These are at the mid to upper range for new allotments within
this locality and are a reflection of the superior topography, size and potential views
to be obtained from the proposed allotments.

Buyer Profile Buyers for new allotments within this price bracket and location generally are owner
ocoupiers
Market Depth Demand for the proposed product in this locality is considered to be reasonable due

to the recent introduction of the Land Buyers Subsidy Scheme.

Sale rates for vacant land within the WUEA increased with the introduction of the
Land Buyers Subsidy Scheme. There is the possibility that the Govemment subsidies
will be unavailable during the marketing of the subjectdevelopment This will
potentially impact on sale rates which have been achieved within the WUAE since the
introduction of the rebates and the marketability and resultant value of the proposed
subject allotments.

Marketdata has been oblained from a range of sources, or as reported by real estale agents. As wellas using such decumented and
generally reliable avidence or market transactions, it was also necessary to rely on hearsay evidence. Except asnoted herain, a
ragsonable attempt has been made to verify ali such information
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7.3 Pending Supply

Below is a list of residential estates recently developed or under construction within the locality of Wollongbar
detailing the proposed number of residential lots, current status and impending stock levels:

Avalon Estate 240 75 lots released, 165 remain
Wollonghar Park Estate az 82 lotsreleased, 8 remain
Killamey Park Estate 82 22 |ots released, B0 remain
Spring Creek Flace Estate 30 30 lots released
Rancher Court Estate 14 14 Iots released
Ballina Heights E state 753 363 lots released, 390 remain

74 Sales Evidence — Gross Realisation

The subject property is proposed to be developed into 18 residential allotments and the appropriate
assessment method is considered to be the Direct Comparison Method; whereby the subject property is
compared to recent sales of similar properties. The recent market activity within the surrounding or relevant
estates is discussed in the following sections of this report.

7.5 Sales Reconciliation
1. Plateau Dr Stage 1, Wollongbar

Description: Stage 1 ofthe Plateau Drive Estate beated on the northem fringe of the established suburb of Wollongbar and
it forms part of the Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area

The tate has recently been completed with a total of 15 residential allotmen ENg in size from 600
1,458 square metres. The majority of the lots are aceessad via a two lane cul de sac and 8 of the allotments
have frontage to either Plateau Dror Rifle Range Rd and are impacted by increasad traffic volumes. 10 of the
14 lots sold have been issued grants for the Land Buyers Subsidy Scheme. The most reoent sales within Stage
1are follows:

Recent Confirmed Sales

Sale Date

1 1Teciona Pl

861 Standard T/07/2014 $205,000
2 3 Tectona Pl N

817 Standard 24/07/2014 $205,000
14 88 Plateau Dr

879 Standard 25/06/2014 $165,000
13 4 Tectona Pi

890 Standard 10/11/2014 $220,000
12 6 Tectona PI

650 Standard §/11/2014 $230,000
11 8 Tectona Pl

627 Standard 20/10/2014 $230,000
9 12 Tectona Pl . .

666 Standard 31/10/2014 $230,000
8 14 Tectona P 680 Standard 15/09/2014 $220,000
4 7 Tectona Pl

T80 Standard 18/08/2014 $205,000
3 5 Tectona Pl

809 Standard 18/07/2014 $205,000
10 10 Tectona Pl .

626 Standard 16/10/2014 $230,000
15 86 Plateau Dr

795 Standard (SR £207,500
7 13 Tectona Pl .

775 Standard T/05/2015 $200,000
8 11 Tectona P )

837 Standard UsC $200,000
Lot 16 Plateau Dr Wollkongbar, NSW 2477
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4.7 Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

2. Avalon Estate, Wollongbar

Description: The Avalon estate is located in Rifle Range Road, Wolongbar, in the Wollengbar Urban Expansion Area. The

estate hasa total development yield of appioximately 240 residential allotments.

The civil works for the first two stages of the subdivision (49 allotments) were completed in the first half of
2011.The off the plan maiketing of the estate was commenced in February 2010. There is 1 lot remaining in
Stages 1 and 2 with an asking price of $265,000. Marketing for stages 3a and 3b has commencad with 11 10ts
released in stage 3a and 15 ots released in stage 3b.

The asking prices genemlly range from $220 000 to $270,000 for residential lots sizes from 472 - 952
square metres and $230,000 to $320,000 for duplex lots from 808 - 2,297 square metres. The marketing
agent advisesthat the asking prices are negotiable

The estate benefits from the land buyers subsidy scheme.

The most recent saleswithin the estate are follows:

Recent Contirmed and
Reported Sales

57 Taunton Fl
4 ‘Woodbury Pl
50 Taunton Fl
70 Sekik Pl
62 Lynton Cr
61 Lynton Cr
68 Lynton Cr
51 Taunton Pl
67 Lynton Cr
49 Taunton PI

Atea (sq

952
713
716

692

Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard
Standard

Duplex

10/04/2015

19/05/2015
usc
u/c
usc
u/c
u/C

us/c

u/e

$280.000
$195,000
$200,000
$230,000
$265,000
$260,000
$265,000
$250.000
$260,000

$320,000

Lot 18 Plateau DrWollongbar, NSW 2477
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3. Waollengbar Park Estate, Wollonghar

Description: The Wollongbar Park Estate is located on Plateau Drwhich is a link road between Sneaihs Rd and Rifle Range
Road. This estate forms part of the Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area (WUEA) and is located on the north
western fridge of Wollongbar, The estate has a total development yield of approximately 92 residential
allotments. Stages 1 and 2 of the estate have been developed with approximately & lots remaining. The asking
prices for these lots range from $148,000 to $180,000. Stage 3 has been released with only one block
remaining with an asking price of $180,000

The estate benefits from the land buyers subsidy scheme.
The most recent saleswithin e estate are asfollows:

Recent Conli

Reported Sales

Sale Date

77 40 Bolwarra Cct 660 Standard usc $200,000
62 19 Murrogun P! 602 Standard usc $210,000
66 11 Murrogun P 682 Standard 22/04/2015 $230,000
68 7 Murragun Pl 553 Standard usc $220,000
&9 5 Murrogun Pl 583 Standard 08/07/2015 $220,000
70 3 Murrogun Pl 580 Standard 01/07/2015 $185,000
35 & Callicoma Ct 904 Standard usc $145 000
28 3 Bolwarra Cot 674 Standard usc $145,000
55 6 Quandong PI 656 Standard U/ $165,000
63 17 Murrogun P 578 Standard usc $220,000

4. KillarneyPark Estate, Wollonghar

Description: Killamey Park Residential Estate s located on Plateau Dr which is a link road betw saths Rd and Rifle
Range Road. This estate forms part of the Wollongbar Urban Expansion a (W d is located on the
noth western fridge of Wollongbar. The estate has a total development yield of approximately 82 residential
allotments with 75 single residential lots, 5 duplex lots and 2 medium d ensity sites.

Stage 1 has been completed consisting of 6 lots with 1 lot remaining (asking price for lot 5 is $167,500). Stage
2 of the estate is currently being marketed with the release of 11 ots selling off the plan. Asking prices for
these ot @ from $170,000 - $229,000 with sizes ranging from 604 - 1,339 square metres, There has
been one reported sale within 2

The estate benefits from the land buyers subsidy scheme.

The most recent saleswithin the estate are asfollows:

Recent Confirmed and
Reported Sales

Sale Date
2 Plateau Dr 600 Standard ~ 23/07/2013 $165,000
3 Plateau Dr 600 Standard 1/08/2013 $170,000
1 Plateau Dr 800 Duplex 4,/09/2013 $227,000
6 Plateau Dr 617 Standard 24/09/2013 $165,000
7 Plateau Dr 647 Standard 2/09/2013 $210.000
16 Plateau Dr 608 Standard u/C $170,000
4 Plateau Dr 601 Standard 20/01/2015 $165,000

Lot 16 Plateau Dr Wollkongbar, NSW 2477
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4.7 Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

5. Spring Creek Plce Estate, Wollonghar

Description: Spring Creek Place Estate is located approdmately half way along Plateau Dr, with the land risng to the north
from the lowest part of Plateau Dr. Plateau Dr is a link road between Sneaths Rd and Rifle Range Road. This
estate forms part of the Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area (WUEA) and is located on the north westemn fridge of
Wollongbar. The estate has a total development yield of 30 lots. All 30 lots have recently been developed and
23 have sold. The balanoce 2 lots have asking prices ranging from $175,000 to $275,000 for ot sizes ranging
from 848 to 1,798 sqym.Each hasfrontage to nature reserve at the rear.

The estate benefits from the land buyers subsidy scheme.
The most recent saleswithin the estate are asfollows:

Recent Confirmed and
Reported Sales

Sale Date

10 Spring Creek P 13262 Duplex u/c $300,000
16 Spring Creek P 811 Standard 20/05/2015 $210,000
19 Soring Creek P 1,201 Standard 26/11/2014 $235,000
15 Spring Creek P 790 Standard 4/09/2014 $233,000
28 Spring Creek P 2465 Standard 25/06/2014 $295.000
26 Spring Creek P 1600 Standard 28/02/2014 $245,000
& Spring Creek P B59 Standard 27/02/2014 $210.000
11 Spring Creek P 1105 Standard 08/01/2014 $250.000
22 Spring Creek P 994 Standard 06/12/2013 $265,000
24 Spring Creek P 1,002 Standard 17/12/2013 $270,000
6. Rancher Court Estate, Wollongbar

Description: This is a boutigue estate which is located on the sputhem side of Rifle Range Rd. The estate is closer 1o the

town ship of Wollongbar than newer estates located opposite the estate and to the north of Rifle Range Rd. The
estate has frontage to Rifle Range Road and the rear southern boundary has frontage to Rancher Court, which
isa cul-desac mad extendin g to the bound ary of the property.

The ‘Rancher Court Estate’ development is fully complete and compnses 14 residential allotments (12
standard residential allotmentsand 2 duplex allotments)

All of the lotsare of a regularshape with the exception of Lots 6 to 9, which are located at the end of the cul de
sac and thersfore have an irregular road frontage. Local views are provided from the 14 [ois being developed
within the southern section of the property. Local and district views are generally to the south-east over the
surrounding development and hillsin the distance from the second level of the dweling situated on the residue
lot.

@ |ots are currently being marketed and sold as house and land packages with asking prices starting at
15,000 for a 3 bedroom, 2 bathroom product

Th
$5
The estate does not benefit from the ‘Land Buyers Subsidy Scheme’

The most recent saleswithin the estate are asfollows

Recent Confirmed Sales

Sale Date
1 Rancher Ct 722 Standard 18/02/2013 $235,000
& Rancher Ct 887 Standard 18/10/2013 $260,000
6 Rancher Ct 800 Standard 13/02/2014 $270,000
5 Rancher Ct 641 Standard 13,/02/2014 $222 500

Lot 18 Plateau Drwollongbar, NSW 2477
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7. Ballina Heights Estate, Cumba lum

Description:

The Ballina Heights msidential estate isa large subdivision which is being developed to the north of the Ballina
urban area, on an elevated ridge to the east of the Pacific Highway. The estate has a total development yield of
753 allotments over 16 stages, as well assites for medium density development, a retirement village, a school

and a village centre

A total of 363 allotments have been developed to date in Stages 1 10 9a. The eslate has a further 300
allotments yet to be developed. The asking prices generally range from $240,000 to $280,000 for lots sizes

from B00 to 864 sgm.

The Ballina Shire Councl are curently offering rebates under the ‘Land Buy

Subsidy Scheme’ for ow to

middle income earners for lots within the estate. This is considered an advantage to the estate. The subsidy
was introduced in July 2013 and Council have advised that 84 lots remain available for possible rebates

The most recent saleswithin the estate are asfollows

irmed Sales

Address LotType
309 14 HiggnsPI 954 Standard
211 46 Unara Pky 900 Standard
371 5 Bannockbum 672 Standard
398 9 Kirby PI 904 Standard
389 10 Kirby P! 8034 Standard
396 5 Kirby PI 662 Standard
380 8 Power Dr 727 Standard
394 1 Kirby Pl 705 Standard
387 T Kirby Pl 705 Standard
385 3 KirbyPI 701 Standard

10/04,/2015

26/04/2015
3/06/2015
20,/01/2015
16/01/2015

12/01/2015

04/02/2015

11/03/2015

02/04/2015

26/02/2015

$215,000
$220,000
$235000
$225000
$205,000
§220,000
$210980
$215000

$210,000

7.6 Assessment Considerations

In assessing the gross realisation of the proposed lots within Stage 2 we have had regard to the following

factors:

s the general locati

on and surrounding development

e its proximity to urban amenities and infrastructure

¢ the proposed plan

¢ theland area and

1 of subdivision

topography of the proposed allotments

« the available views/aspect to the north over the surrounding development and hills

* the competitive supply of allotments within the surrounding estates

¢ the available market evidence in comparable estates

¢ the curentdemand and market conditions for vacant residential allotments within the Wollongbar Urban

Expansion Area

+ the sale rates in the other estates (including the improved rates of those estates benefited by the Land

Buyers Subsidy

Scheme)

¢ the recentsales evidence within Stage 1

Lot 16 Plateau Dr Wollkongbar, NSW 2477
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4.7 Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

The sales evidence detailed within Stage 1 of the Plateau Dr Estate and Stages 3A and 3B of the Avalon Estate
are considered to be the most relevant in terms of assessing the gross realisation of the subject allotments

The allotments situated within Stage 1 were of a similar to slightly smaller size and are situated in a slightly
inferior location due to the greater number of lots having frontage to either Plateau Dr or Rifle Range Rd.

The Avalon estate allotments are ofa smaller land area, however, the topography is level and slightly superior
and the lots within Stages 3A and 3B obtain superior views.

The sales within the Wollongbar Park estate and Killarney Park estate indicated the lower value tolerance for
the subject lots

The Spring Creek Place sales evidence provides a good indication of value.

L BN ]
+® b, Lot 16 Pateau DrWollongbar, NSW 2477
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4.7 Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

7.7 Assessment - Residential Allotments

Based on the available sales evidence, we have assessed the gross realisation from the individual sale of the
proposed residential allotments, inclusive of GST, as follows:

Lot Type Land Area (sqm) Market Value
21 Standard 856 $210,000
22 Standard 1294 $200,000
23 Standard 803 $220,000
24 Standard 674 $220,000
25 Standard 945 $230,000
26 Standard 1037 $230,000
27 Standard 1010 $230,000
28 Standard 1050 $230,000
29 Standard 1050 $230,000
30 Standard 995 $250,000
31 Standard 765 $250,000
32 Standard 756 $245,000
33 Standard 780 $245,000
34 Standard 751 $240,000
35 Standard 730 $245,000
36 Standard 635 $240,000
37 Standard 1308 $255,000
38 Standard 837 $250,000
Total Gross - Inolsive of GST $4,220,000

We are advised by the applicant company that the sale of the subject lots will be treated as Fully Taxable
Supply. On this basis and in accordance with API guidelines, the GST will be assessed at the full 1/11th of our
gross realisation assessment (inclusive of GST). The GST payable is assessed at $383 636 Therefore our
Gross Realisation of Stage 2 “as if complete”, exclusive of GST, is assessed at $3 836 364.

We advise however that we are not experts in GST matters and our valuation is subject to confirmation of the reasonableness of our
approach to this matter

7.8 Comments on Assessment

It should be noted that our indicative gross realisation assessment of the developed allotments are subject to
the issue of individual titles and they do not include an allowance for selling costs, including:

. Agents’ commission
. Legal fees
. Advertising and promotion

Our assessments are in current dollar terms. The gross realisation reflects our view of the market conditions
existing as at the date of this report and it does not purport to predict the market conditions and value of the
lots at the actual completion date of each stage of the subdivision

Our indicative assessments are based on the assumption that the estate 1s professionally marketed and
promoted with an adequate promotional budget and an orderly marketing campaign. Our indicative
assessments are also based on individual sale and do not reflect the value of the lots if they were sold “in one
line”

Lot 16 Plateau Dr Wollkongbar, NSW 2477
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4.7 Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

8 SITE ASSESSMENT AND PROFITABILITY ANALYSIS
8.1 Introduction.

In assessing the current market value of the subject property, we have undertaken both a direct comparison
approach based on comparable sales evidence, as well as a feasibility analysis. Our primary methods of
assessmentare:

* Feasbility Analysis

« Direct comparion (Secondary Check Method)

Our assessment of the subject land using these two assessment methodologies is discussed in the following
sections of this report. Our principal assessment of current market value herein assumes an effective
marketing campaign of up to 6 months.

8.2 Development Site Market Overview

Market conditions for englobo land on the NSW North Coast have stabilised to some degree since mid 2013,
following the preceding soft five year period.

The overalldemand for englebo land was soft dunng the 2008 to 2013 timeframe, pnimarily as a reflection of
the falling demand and easing sale prices/sale volumes for vacant lots. Whilst there was still interest in some
englobo sites in this period, it was mainly from opportunistic buyers who were purchasing sites from distressed
vendors, and sale prices generally showed significant reductions from peak marketvalue levels. These market
parameters were particularly evident for the fringe localities which did not benefit from nearby proximity to a
regional town centre.

However with the general improvement in the residential market over the past 2 years and with local economic
conditions also strengthening; there is now a level of improved demand being shown for englobo development
sites, provided theyare available ata competitive price to ensure the viability of proposed subdivision. This is
confirmed with specialist agents advising of improved enquiry and demand being shown for englobo
development sites on the NSW Far North Coast.

Recentsales have resulted in limited current availability for this type of site lt should be noted however what
whilst demand for englobo development sites has improved, at this stage, we are yet to see a significant
volume of site sales which indicates that underlying englobo land values have firmed in accordance with the
improved enquiry.

The marketability (and value) of this type of development site is also still impacted to some extent by the
tightened lending policies of the major financial institutions, and the limited availability of finance for the
acquisition ofdevelopment land.

Specialistagents confirm that most 'developer’ buyers require due diligence penods, extended settlement
terms or purchases being subject to gaining Development Approvals. Conversely, a level of improved demand
1s shown for those parcels which are located in stronger, established areas with existing amenities and/ or
which are inclusive of a Development Approval. However, there still exists a more restricted buyer market for
‘'secondary’ sites such as the subject property which have extended development time frames, a large supply
of competitive stock for completed lots and costly development constraints.

There is one recent sale within Wollongbar which is considered to be similar in terms of location, topography
and development vield. Apart from this cne sale, there are no other recent sales of englobo parcels that we
are aware of in the North Coast which are considered to be directly comparable to the subject property in
terms of close proximity within the township of Wollongbar, similar topography, land area or development yield

‘J;‘l’- Lot 16 Plateau Dr Wollongbar, NSW 2477
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4.7 Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

83 Sales Evidence
We have examined market activity within the locality and also searched the records of the Land and Property
Information for details of comparable sales. We have inspected all readily accessible parts of the sales

evidence.

The more relevant sales are summarised in the following schedule.

Land
0 Address Sale Date Sale Price Amrea (ha)
1. 66 Rifle Range Rd, Wollongbar 21/10/2011 $1,275,000 2.02 $37,500
Comments: A slightly imegular shaped intemal allotment which Is level at road height and falls slightly to the rear southem

boundary. The englobo site has a land area of 2.02 hectares. The property’s northem boundary has frontage to
Rifle Range Road and the rear southem boundary has frontage to Rancher Court, which is a oulde-sac road
extending to the boundary of the property

The property is currently improved with a large, two storey, semi modem style dwelling of bagged brick and tile
construction which was builtin 1973. The dwelling comprises 4 bedrooms, 3 bathrooms, 2 living areas and a
double garage. Living area 314sqm; garage 50sqm; patios 26sqm. The dwelling is generally in its original condition
with some refubishments undertaken in recent times. The land is also improved with good quality landscaping
surrounding the dwelling, a garden shed and 5 large metal dad machinery shed. The rear southern section of the
property was previously utilised as a nursery and vanous imgation lines and several conerete slab areas remain.

The site is zoned 2(v) Village Area under the current Ballina Shire Council Local Environmental Plan and is
designated P1 - Planned Urban Development under the current Development Control Plan. The land Is also to be
zoned R3 Medium Density Residential Zone in the draft LEP. Based upon the Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area
DCP, the property is suitable for a notional development of up to 23 dwellings. The site was purchased withouta DA
for subdivision. Since the sale, the site has received DA approval for 14 lots and a residual lot of 8,269 sqm. The
residual lot can potentially be subdivided into a further 8 lots. At the time of sale, the value of the residual lot
including the dwelling and ancillary improvements was $750,000. The developable land analyses to $525,000 or
£37,500 per lot based on the DA approval for 14 lots, The sale price analyses to a premium of 27 5% for future
red evelopment potential over and above the residentia only value ($1,000,000). The sale price is exdusive of GST

Comparison: Similar location. Similar site attributes. Smaller land area. Similar development yield. Superor quality building
improvements._Older yet relevantsale. Overall the sub ject property would be expected to reflect a similar rate per site
and a lower quantum value.

2. 79CFischer St, Goonellabah 09/10/2013  $400,000 1588 $12,003

Comments: Thisisa gently to moderately to steeply sloping, imegular shaped site. Views are provided to the south and west over
the surrounding development. The site is difficult to develop and geotechnical/engineering studies could uncover
problems thatare not obvicus. The property is contained within a Residential & Rural fown planning precinct (Lot 3
DP883865 is zoned residential and comprises 12.7ha, the remainder lots are zoned rural). The property has a road
frontage to Fischer St There isa powerline easzmeént that bisectsthe property near the northem boundary.

The property received DA approval in 2004 forthe subd ivision of 31 lots and a residual lot over 5 stages. Civil works
have commenced for stage 1, with the cost of works expended to date advised to be ranging from $200,000 to
$500,000.

The property is adjoined by il residential dwellings. and vacant land recently purchased by Woolworths for
development.

The property was reportedly purchased by a developer who has since abtained a DA for townhouse development.
Sold morigagee in possession.

Comparison: Inferior location. Inferior site attributes. Larger land area. Similar town planning classification. Superior development
yield. Older yet relevant sale. Overall the subject property would be expected to reflect a higher rate per lot and a
higher quanium value.
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4.7 Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

and Rate
Address Sale Date Sale Price Area (ha) $/Lots
3. 5ApoSt, Goonellabah 06/05/2014 $1,318,181 3.03 $47,078

Comments: This is a sloping, irregular shaped, inside site that is at road height. The site provides a reasonable building contour
without significant adverse features and is contained within a R1-General residential zoning. The property has a single
road frontage to Apo St. Apo St isa bitumen sealed local road

Surmunding development includes estab lished residential d evelopment adjoining the northem, southem and western
boundaries with a smaller residential englobo site that is currently being developed adjoining to the east The ste is
located close to the Goonellabah shopping and aquatic centres and the Goonellabah RSL Sports Club. Telephane,
electricity, town water and sswerage are available o the site

There is no Development Application for the site. However, the site was sold with a concept plan for a proposed 28
residential lot subdivision (prepared by GM Project Development and Management)

The sale price analyses to $435 043 per heetare or $43.50 per square metre and §47 078 per site based on the
advertised concept plan fora 28 lot resid ential subdivision.

Comparison: Slightly superior 'in fill" location. Superor topography. Slightly larger land area. Higher potential development yield.
Inferior approval status. Overall the subjeot property would be expected to reflect a lower rate per site and a lower

quantum value.
4.  Lot5Skennars Head Rd,Lennox Head 14/08/2014 $3,250,000 20.924 $57,308
Comments: Vacant residential englobo Land. This is an undulating, imeguar shaped englobo pareel with a land area of 20.924

hectares. The property comprises the balance of the Lennox Palms Estate, which is an existing residential estate
developed in 1996. The land benefits from the amenity created by the initial completed stages of this subdivision.
Henderson Dr and KellieAnne Cr, which are two sealed |ocal roads constructed as part of the existing development,
intersect the land. The land situated on the western side of Henderson Dr is slightly to moderately undulating and
generally falls to low lving land within the westem boundaries. The land situated to the east of Henderson Dr and to
the north of Kellie-Anne Cris slightly to mod erately undulating and is bounded by a littoral rainforest which adjoins the
eastem and northem boundanes. This section of the land Is elevated and provides view corridors over the
rounding development, hinterland and ocean. The south western section of the property is low lying and appears
susceptible to flood ng. This section of the property is to be dedicated as public reserve and is considered to have
minimal impact on the value of the property or its future development potential. The property 1S located within the
southern fringe of the coastal village of Lennox Head, which is approximately 10 kilometres north of Ballina in
Northern New South Wales,

The propemy is contained within the RUL Primary Production, R2 Low Density Residential, R3 Medium Density
Residential and 7(a) Environmental Protection - Wetlands zonings under the cument Ballina Shire LEP. Parts of the
northern section of the property are also designated Deferred Managementunderthe cumentLEP

Council granted Dewvelopment Consent No 82/149 on 22 April 1982 in relation to the Lennox Palms Estate. The
subdivision approval provided for the creation of 57 single dwelling, 2 farmiet, 4 wral residential and 2 medium
density Iots. Part of the subdivision was undertaken in the northern part of the estate in 1998 and a plan of
subdivision was registered on 19th December 1996. The lots are yet to be created pursuant to subdivision DA
approval 82,149

Planners Marth, on behaff of the intending purchaser, submitted a Section 96 Modification to Consent Applcation for
the proposed amendments to DA 82/149. The Seetion 96 Modification will resultin the creation of 6 rural residential
allotments, a residential development site (with a potential yield of 26 residential allotments) and a pareel 1o be
dedicated as public reserve. The area of the development site 15 4.152ha.

The 'in one ling' value of the 6 rral resdential allotments subject 1o the Section 96 Modification analyses to
41,760,000 ($293,333/101). The apportioned purchase price atfributed o the development site is $ 1,490,000
($57,308/Iot or $358,863/ha)

Comparison: Superior lpcation on the fringe of a beachside township. Superior site attributes and view corridor. Inferior topography.
Larger land area. Higher develbpment yiekl. Overall the subjeot property would be expected to reflect a far lower rate
per site and a far lowerquantum value.
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and hate
0 Address Sale Date Sale Price Area (ha) $/Lots
5. 57 Fraser Dr, Tweed Heads South 01/12/2014 $5100,000 1008 $40,800

s an irregular shaped, internal, englobo parcel having a land area of 10.08 hectares, located at Tweed
South. The land is mostly level with some minor undulation throughout, however in the far westem portion of
the site, there is a small steeply sloping section that rises to the western boundary. The site appears to have been
previcusly filled. There are various earth mounds located on the site and there are also boulders and rubbish in some
areas. The land isvacantand has been mostly cleared, with only dense grass and shrubs remaining

Comments:

The land is designated as being in in the R1 -General Residential Zone under e Tweed Council LEP 2014. It is also
situated within the Banora Point'West - Tweed Heads South section of the Tweed Shire DCP 2008. On 13 June 2014
the NSW State Govemment Minister for Planning approved a Modification of Approved Residential Subdivision,
allowing for the carrying out of a residential subdivision in 15 Stages ineluding 156 residential lots, 5 open space lots,
1 wetland consenvation lot 1 commercial lot and 1 “super lot™ for future integrated housing development. This
approval applies to the sale property and an adjoining parcel. The approved yield for the sale propety is for Stages 1
io 7 {83 regidential lots. 1 commercial site and 3 medium density (super) site)

‘We are aware that the purchase price of $5,610,000 indudes GST. The GST exdusive price is $5,100,000. We are
also advised that the proposed commercial lot within the approved subdivision will be handed back on completion of
construction to the vendor and that the contract price was previously adjusted $400 000 to accommod ate this. The
sale price reflects approximately $505,952 per hectare {10.08 hectares) or approximately $40,800 per proposed
dwelling (83 proposed lots and 42 proposed townhouses)

Mote; The contract was due to settle on 10 February 2015, however we have been advised that the contract date has
been extend ed

Comparison: Broad indioator situated within the Tweed Coast reglon. Superior looation. Largerland area. Overall similar topography.
Higher development yield . Overall the subject property would be expected to reflect a lower rate persite and a far lower
quantum value.

6.  1lalinden Av,Boambee East, NSW, 2452 15/02/2014 $915,000 2547 $36,600

Comments: The property comprises a vacant allotment. of irmegular shape The site slopes below Linden Ave genily through good
cleared b ing contour rising to elevated portion in the mid point .From k the slope is gradual to the north and
wesl. The far western area s designated flood liable. We estimate | han 4,000sqm isaffe by 1:100 vear flood

uited to development
ntial town

Iption. There are The balance app 5 well
to the property w and direot. The site is contained within a Zone R2 Low Density Re:
planning precinet, The property has a single road frontage to Linden Ay,

z
=1
o
s

This zoning would allow possible residential development, with consent of lots to a minimum lot size of 400 sqm.
Enquines with Council indicate that there is no development application approved at this stage for mdevelopment of
the site. The site may be suitable for residential subdivision with Council consent. The services are well positioned and
landform is favourable. The timbered recreation reserve to the south presents a favourable amenity however fire set
back provisions may impose some constraints on potential development to that land component We consider
standard subdivision size lots would yieid in vicinity of 20 to 25 residential allotments. There is no formal approval by
Coundil forthe redevelopment of this site atthe date of sale

The property has excellent presentation. Department of Education asset sale. Auction purchase, local developer,
competiive bidding, estimated 25 lot yvield, all s=wices close by, good topogranhy and access. Completed lot price
estimate $190,000. Sale shows $36,600 per lot. Land Area 2.547 ha

Comparison: Broad indicator situated within the Coffs Coast region. Superior location. Similar land area. Slightly superior
. Higher development yield. Overall the subject property would be expected to reflect a slightly lower rate
persite and a lower quantum value.
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and Rate
Address Sale Date Sale Price Area (ha) $/Lots
7. Solitary Beach, 45 Hearnes Lake Rd, Woolgoolga 16/04/2014 $1,600,000 5.54 $42,105

Comments: The property compris rregular shaped, elevated, gently to moderately sloping englobo parcel of 5.54 hectares,
which is located at the eastem end of Heames Lake Road, having fontage to a rela ] egetated resene
adjoining Heames Lake Beach. The land has been extensively cleared with generally only scattered mature tree
coverage and regrowth. The only significant vegetation is located in the eastern portion of the site which adjoins the
coastal environmental reserve. A water body also appears to extend into the vegetated area. This vegetated area isto
be retained as an ephémeral wetland reserve/Littoral Rainforest and rehabilitated as part of approved subd vision.

e

Theparcel is located approximately 3 kilometres to the south of e Woolgoolga local township and approximately 25
kilometres north of Coffs Harbour, on the far mid north coast of New South Wales,

The property is cumently improved with two dwellings. The central western section of the property is currently
improved with a semi-modem, two storey dwelling of brick and tile construction built circa 1990. The dwelling
comprises 3 bedrooms and 2 bathrooms including separate lower living with kitchenette and tandem garage. The
central eastem section of the property is eurrently improved with a semi-modern, single storey dwelling of brick and
tile construction built circa 1970. The dwelling comprises 5 bedrooms, 2 bathrooms and 2 living areas and ar
inground pool

The property is design ated as Deferred under the Coffs Harbour Local Environmental Plan 2013, This area of the LEP
is identified as Deferred, pending maore specfic planning and environmental studies. The site is almost entirely
situated in the 2E Residential Tourist Zone under the previpus Coffs Harbour Local Environmental Plan 2000

On 15 December 2009, a Major Projects Approval was issued pertaining to the land fora 41 Lot Subdivision (38
Residential Lots, 1 Drainage Resarve Lot, 1 ‘Pocket Park Lot and 1 Environmental Reserve Lot). This approval lapses
5 years from the date of determnation (December 2014), unless commenced prior.

The majority of the lots on completion will have a southerly aspect. T @ isalso some road noise emanating from the
recently upgraded four lane Pacific Highway which is approximately 400 metres immediately to the west of the subject
property. The road noise is in the vianity of low to moderate. In addition, the highway is also visible from the most
proposed elevated lots.

The development costs provided analyse to $157,530 per approved lot and are inclusive of an amount totalling
$455 000 for forward funding work of extemal nfrastructure. De Groot & Benson (engineers) have advised that the
inclusion of the forward funding costs are provided on a ‘worst case scenaiio’. There are a number of englobo parcals
which surround the property, which If developed prior, would nour the majonty of the provided the forward funding
costs.

The property has been sold inclusive of GST for $1.8m with the margin scheme advised to0 have been adopted. Basad
on the previous purchase in November 2003 for £3,500,000, the sale price is not subject to GST.

Comparison: Broad indicator situated within the Coffs Coast region. Superior location. Broad sales evidence in an inferior North
Coast beachside regional location. Similar site attributes and topography. Larger land area. Greater developmentyield.
Overall the subject property wou ld be expeoted to reflect a lower rate per site and a lower quantum value.

8.4 Sales Commentary and Conclusion

Based on the direct comparison approach to assessment, we have assessed the current market value of the
subject englobo parcel, exclusive of GST, as follows:

Total Total

Basis of Assessment No. of Lots VELT Value
(Rounded) (Rounded)
Lower Range of Value 18 $32,500 $585,000 $580,000
Upper Range of Value 18 $37,500 $675,000 $680,000
Adopt $630,000 $630,000

’
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85 Hypothetical Development Method

In undertaking our current market assessment of the subject development site ‘as 1s” and subject to the
proposed DA, we have we have undertaken a Hypothetical Development analysis using a cash flow model, a
copy of which is annexed to this report (Annexure 5)

The key performance measure used for a development of this size and nature 1s as follows

+ Development Margin - The Development Margin (also referred to as Profit Margin) is the net profit
expressed as a percentage of total costs. This measure is the difference between the net achievable
revenue derived from a project less all costs, expressed as a percentage of the total land, development
and holding costs. Itis the principal measure used for comparison on smaller or shorter term projects
(typically less than 3 years duration) and can be expressed on a before interest or an after interest basis.

+ Internal Rate of Return - The Internal Rate of Return (IRR) is the discount rate that equates the anticipated
future cash flows from the property with the present value of the capital investment (i.e. it is the rate at
which the Net Present Value equals zero). It i1s expressed as an annualised rate and can be measured on
either a before or after interest basis The IRR is a principal point of comparison for larger and longer term
projects, typically in excess of 3 years duration

The following parameters have been adopted in our cash flow model

Gross Realisation: $4,220 000
Rate of Sale: Approx 2 lots per month
Development Costs: Refer to Section 6
Marketing Costs:

- Commission and Legal Costs 4.4% of gross realisation

(inclusive of GST)

Advertising and Promotion $1,500 per residential lot
Rates and Taxes: Total of $7.673
Interest Rate: 5.75% per annum

In a development of this size and nature, extending for a total penod of under 2 years, we consider the most
appropriate investment parameter to establish the value of the subject land is the Development Margin (DM)
after interest. We have also referred to the Internal Rate of Return (IRR) after interestas a secondary check
for investment parameters.

Having regard to the subject development proposal, we consider thata purchaser of the englobo parcel would
require a DM after interest in the order 15%

Based on our assessed indicative gross realisations, the advised development costs and the other
development parameters of the proposed estate, the adopted englobo land value of $660,000 (inclusive of
GST) utilising the direct comparsion approach reflects an DM of 15% after interest charges and an IRR of 20%
after interest charges.
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The more significant results in the cash flow modelare summarised as follows:

Gross Realisation (Inclusive of GST) £4,220,000
Net Realisation $3,667,564
Total Development Costs $2 444 923
Adopted Land Value (Inclusive of GST) $660,000
Land plus Costs $3,071,323
Development Profit (After Interest) $478,055
Interest $5118,185
Payback Period (Months) 17
Maximum Exposure -$3,123,823
Development Margin (Before Interest) 19 4%
Development Margin [After Interest) 15.0%
Internal Rate of Return (Before Interest) 251%
Internal Rate of Return (After Interest) 20.0%

Our assessment of the subject property using the hypothetical cash flow approach 1s inclusive of GST.

We have assessed the GST liability on our site assessment on a fully taxable supply basis. Against this
background, the GST payable is reflective of the full 1/11th of the assessed site assessment including GST.

Against this rationale, the GST payable on ourassessment would be $60 000, Therefore, our assessment of
the subject land, exclusive of GST, using the Hypothetical Cash Flow Analysis would be $600 000

We stress we are not experts in assessment of GST, We are not privy to the financial circumstances of the owners, hot previous
transaction upon the properly which may impact upon the status of the propedy for GST. We recommend any party relving upan this
valuation seek ind ependent advice in regard to any GST liabilities which may attach to the property.

Ourassessment of the site has, in part, been assessed using a discounted cash flow model. Qur cash flow mode! hasbeen prepared for
feasbility assessmant purposes only. We have adopted certain cash flow pojections/forecasts based upon ourreasonable investigations
and enquiries that include forecasts of estimated future operating chamctenistics/income. These forecasts have been based an the
information and assumptions referrad to in ourvaluation report and where information has been provided by others, we have indica ted
who has provided that Information although we do not adopt or verify the reliability, cormectness or completeness of thatinformation,
aithough such information has been accepted asa basis of assumpton for the \aluation.

The achievement and/ or sustainability of financial projection s will, by their very naiture, be affected by a variety of fluctuating economic
and preperty market conditions of the type thata re not necessarily capable of being known or predicted at this orany given time.

Therefore, dependent upon other future occurrences that cannot be foreseen, the actual results/value may a ry considerably from the
valuecontained herein.

Accordingly, whilst all reasonably ascertainable attempts have been made to verify the likelihood of such forecasts/ projections being
achleved and /or sustained and subject to our comments above, the valuerdoes notwarrant nos sume ! onsibility for the ultimate
correctness af those projections given the possit dity forseen events effecting such projections/forecasts Therefore, to that extent
this valuation mustbe qu. d and read within the context of these wamings and assumptions

-
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8.6 Sales and Settlement Rate

In assessing the appropriate sales rate for the subject property we have looked at the sales rate of competing
developments in the area. We have also considered whether the sales rate was limited by the supply.

Rate of Sake

2014 2015 YTD
Plateau Drive Estate Stage 1 N/A ! Q9 0.4
Avalon Estate 0.6 11 0.8 13
Wollongbar Park Estate 1.0 28 1.3 30
Killamey Park Residential Estate WA 0.4 M 0.3
Spring Creek Estate /A 0.9 05 03
Rancher CourtEstate N/A 0.2 0.2 N/A
Ballina Heights Estate 16 28 28 38

Based on the current market conditions, the adopted value level, statistical data, and quantity of stock in the
market place and the possibility that the Government subsidies will be unavailable during the marketing of the
subject development, we consider an appropriate sales rate at 2 lots per month to be appropriate. The
adopted rate is less thatthat currently being achieved within the Wollongbar Park Estate due this estate having
residential product with a lower price bracket. The adopted sale rate is higher than thatbeing achieved within
the Avalon estate due to the lower asking price and larger land size which would have greater appealto the
market place

8.7 Feasibility Analysis

As per our instructions, we are to undertake a feasbility/profitability analysis based upon development time
frames provided and anticipated selling periods. In undertaking our feasibility assessment of the subject
development, we have prepared a cash flow model, a copy of which is annexed to this report (Annexure 6).

88 Profit As A Percentage of Cost

This measure is the difference between the netachievable revenue from a project less all costs, expressed as
a percentage of the total land, development and holding costs. Itis the principal measure used for comparison
on smaller or shorter term projects and can be expressed on a before interest or an after interest basis. For

the purposes of this assessment. our principal measure is the after interest profit margin.

Our principal assumptions for this feasibility assessmentare as follows:

Site Purchase: $1
Gross Realisation: 54 220,000
Rate of 3ale: Approx 2 lots per month
Development Costs: Refer to Section 6

Marketing Costs:
4.4% of gross realisation

Commission and Legal Costs (inclusive of GST)

Advertising and Promotion $1,500 per residential lot
Rates and Taxes: Total of $7,673
Interest Rate: 5.75% per annum
GST Assumption Fully Taxed Supply
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8.81 Feasibility Conclusions

The more significant results in the feasibility analyses are summarised as follows:

Gross Realisation (Inclusive of GST)
Net Realisation

Total Development Costs

Adopted Land Value (Inclusive of GST)
Land plus Costs

Development Profit (After Interest)
Interest

Payback Period (Months)

Maximum Exposure

Development Margin (Before Interest)
Development Margin (After Interest)
Internal Rate of Return (Before Interest)
Internal Rate of Return (After Interest)

$4.220,000
$3,667,564
$2,444 923
$1

$2 444 924
$1,156,171
575%

16

$2 466,440
50.0%
46.0%
70.8%
66.7%

Based on the advised development period and the anticipated selling perieds, the total timeframe for the
development willbe 20 months. The cumulative cash flow over the total development period 1s indicated in

the following graph:

Dovolopmont Cumu lative Cashflow
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9 ASSESSMENT

Subject to the assumptions and qualifications contained within the body of this report, the Valuer has
assessed the market value of the subject property (exclusive of GST) and feasibility analysis at-

Basis ofAssessment 111 Valuation

Current MarketValue Inclusive of GST Exclusive of GST
Site Value As Is' ' $660,000 $600,000
Gross Realisation - Stage 1 'As If Complete’ $4,220,000 $3,836,364
Feasibility Assessment Summary Total $/lot
Number of Proposed Lots 18

Adopted Sales Rate Per Month 2
Assessed Gross Realisation (incl GST): $4,220,000 $234 444
Assessed Net Realisations $3,667,564 $203,754
Total Cost (incl advertising, promotion and holding costs) $2,444 923 $135,82906
Interest -$66,469

Total Profit: $1,156,171 $64,23170
DM (Before Interest): 50%

DM (After Interest): 46%

David Sullivan Ken Potter
Director Director
CPV / AAPI

QLD 2250 / NSW 4052

This assessment is for the use only of Ballina Shire Council to whom itis addressed and for no other purpose
Mo responsibility is extended to any third party who may use or rely on the whole or any part of the content of
this assessment. No responsibility will be accepted for photocopied signatures.
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10 DISCLAIMERS

Please note that all specific disclaimers are indicated in italics within the relevant sections of the report.

Accuracyof Informa tion We advise that any objective information, data or caloulations set out in the assessment will be accurate
sofar asis reasonably expected from aqualified and experienced valuer, reflecting due skill, care and
diligence. However, we have not independently verified third party information, adopted it asourown, or
acceptad its reliability. If any of the infermaton provided by others and referred to in the assessment
report is incorrect, it may have an impact on the assessment . The assessment isprovided on the proviso
that the reliant party accepis this risk.

Cashtlow Pro jections We have adopted certain cash flow projections/forecasts based upon our reasonable investigations and
enquires thatinclude forecasts of estimated future operating characteristics/in come, These forecasts
have been based on the nformation and assumptions referred to in our valuation report and where
Information has been provided by others, we have indicated who has provided that information although
we donot adopt or verify the reliability, correctness or completeness of that information, although such
information has been actepted asa basis of assumption for the valuation

The achievement and/or sustainability of financial projections will, by their very nature, be affected by a
variety of fluctuating economic and property market conditions of the type that are not necessarily capable
of being known orpredicted at this orany given time. Therefore, dependent upon other future ooourrences
that cannot be foreseen, the actual results/value may vary considerably from the value contained herein

Conflict of Interest Neither the valuer, nor to the best of their knowledge, any member of this firm, hasany conflict of interest,
ordirect, indirect or financial interest in relation to this property that is not disclosed herein.

Encroachments There do not appearto be any encroachments, however, we are not surveyorsand nowaranty can be
given without the benefitof an identification survey.

Excluded Searches The following searches have notbeen undertaken: Flood, Land Survey Flan, Buiding Survey Flan, Fomal
Flood, Detailed Town Flanning, Contaminated Land, Heritage Register, Local/State Road Widening,
Vegetation Protection, Native Title, Qur valuation assumes such searches would [dentify no issues that may
affectthe value and/or liquidity of the property. Should any person relying on the contents of this report be
aware orbecome aware of an issue that may affect value and/or liquidity then the searchesshould be
referred to the valuer for comment.

Goods and Services Tax We stress we are not experts in assessment of GST. We are not privy to the financial ciroumstances of the

(GST) owners, nar previoustransaction upon the propertywhich may impact upon the status of the property for
GST. We recommend anhy party relying upon this valuation seek independent adviee in regard to any GST
liabilities which may attaeh to the property.

Land Not Affected To the best of the valuer's knowledge, the land is not affected by unstable, hazard ous or toxic 30il material,
pestinfestation or resumption matters however, no searches have been undertaken in this egamd . This
valuation assumesthat there are no problems, however, should any such issues arise, then this matter
should be referred to the valuer for further comment

Limited Liability Liability imited by a scheme approved under professional standam s legisiation. This scheme does not
apply in Tasmania

Market Move ment This valuation iscurrent as at the date of valuation only. The value assessed herin may change
significantly and unexpectedly over a relatively short period (ncluding asa result of general market
movements or factors specific to the particular propery). We do notaccept liability for losses arising from
such subsequent changes in value. Without limitng the generality of the above comment, we donot
assume any responsibility or acespt any liablity where this valuation is relied upon after the expiration of
90 days from the date of the valuation, or such earlier date if you become aware of any factors that have
any effect on the valuation. However, it should be recognised that the 90 day reliance period does not
guarantee the value for that period; it always remains a valuation at the date of valuation only.

No Compliance Certiri

No Compliance Certificate/Certificate of Classification has been obtained, and this valuation is subject to
the buildin g(s) complying in all material respects with any restrictive covenants affecting the site and
hashave been bullt, occupled and isare being operated  in all material respeets, in full complian ce with all
requirements of law, includ ing all zoning, land -use dassifieations, building, planning, fire and health by-
laws {nduding asbestos and legionnaires disease), rules, regulatons, orders and codes of all authorities,
and thatthere are no outstanding requisitions.

No Pecuniary Inte rest The valuerhas no pecuniary interest in the subject property either past, present orprospective at the date
of preparing this report and the opinion expressed is free of any biasin this regard

Not to he reprodu ced Neither the whole not any part of this valuation or any reference thereto may be included in any published

without permission documents, dreular or statement, nor published in part or full in any way, without written approval of the

form and context n which it may appear
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Annexure 2  Deposited Plan
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Annexure 3  Subdivision Plan

a)
.

FEHEET 707 2]
e

DLaR 4k . DROPDZST BUBONSION
ov o

g

199
+® b+ Lot 16 Plteau Drwollongbar, NSW 2477
'.;:'. MNCO9B313 Page 41
Ballina Shire Council Commercial Services Committee Meeting Agenda

17/11/15 Page 172 of 183



4.7 Wollongbar Residential Estate Stage Two - Feasibility and Pricing

Annexure 4 Development Costings
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25 September 2015

Paul Tsikleas (17
Commercial Services Manager

Ballina Shire Council

Cherry St

BALLINA NSW 2478

Our Ref: NNC096313 -1

Dear Paul

Re:  Asking Prices - Subdivision of Lot 16 Plateau Dr, Wollongbar

We refer to your recent instructions to set asking prices for the lots to be used for the marketing of the
abovementioned subdivision

The full description of the subdivision is contained in our detalled valuation report which s dated 25
August 2015 (our reference NNC0O96313). This letter must be read in conjunction with our previous full
report and is considered to form part of the previous report

In accordance with your instructions, our assessment of asking prices is presented in a brief letter format
A detailed report can be prepared based on the receipt of further instructions. In order to set asking
prices, we have analysed both sales evidence and current asking prices for individual allotments situated
within the Wollengbar Urban Expansion Area. The sales evidence and current asking price levels are
discussed within 7 of the report

Sales Commentary and Considerations

The recent sales detailed within Stage 1 of the Plateau Drive Estate, the Avalon Estate, the Wollongbar
Park Estate and the Spring Creek Place Estate are considered to be the relevant in terms of assessing the
asking prices for proposed lots.

As per our instructions, we have provided asking prices for the lots to be used for the marketing of the
subject subdivision based on both asking prices within the competing estates situated within the
Wollongbar Urban Expansion Area and the resultant sale prices.

NSW Far North Coast Herran Todd White (Gold Coast & Level 1 Telephone 02 6621 8933
NSW Far North Coast) Pty Lid 103 Moelesworth St Admin.nnc@htw.com.au
ABN B4 588 359 888 Lismare NSW 2480
PO Box 503

Lismare NSW 2480

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. The scheme does not apply within Tasmania
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Qur assessments of the asking prices for the lots to be used for the marketing of the subject subdivision
are as follows:

Lot Land Area (sqm) Asking Price
21 856 $220,000
22 1294 $210,000
23 803 $230,000
24 674 $230,000
25 945 $240,000
26 1037 $240,000
27 1010 $240,000
28 1050 $240,000
29 1050 $240,000
30 995 £260,000
31 765 $260,000
32 756 $255,000
33 780 $255,000
34 751 $250,000
35 730 $255,000
36 635 $250,000
37 1308 $265,000
EE] 837 $260,000
Total Asking Price - of GST $4,400,000

The asking prices are also noted on the attached site plan.

Note: If the subject residential subdivision lots were to be sold individually by the developer they would
attract a GST hability on sale

Qur assessment is subject to the registration of the plan of subdivision, and the issue of separate titles
for the indmidual allotments.

Our assessment is also based on a professional marketing and promotion campaign, undertaken by
selling agents experienced with the sale of this type of property, and an appropriate marketing and
prometion budget and sales period

This assessment is current as at the date of letter only. The asking prices are subject to negotiation and
the prices herein may change significantly and unexpectedly over a relatively short period of time,
including as a result of general market movements or factors specific to the particular property. We do
not accept liability for losses arising from such subsequent changes in value, Without limiting the
generality of this comment, we do not assume any responsibility or accept any liability where this
assessment 1s relied upon after the expiration of three months from the date of the assessment, or such
earlier date If you become aware of any factors that have any effect on the assessment.

This report i1s for the use of and may be relied upen only by Ballina Shire Council and no other parties are
entitled to use or rely upon it and the valuer does not assume any liability or responsibility to any other
party who does so rely upon the valuation without the express written authority of Herron Todd White
(NSW North Coast) Pty Ltd.
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280
994 TODD

MNeither the whole nor any part of this report or any reference thereto may be included in any published
documents, circular or statement, nor published in part or full in any way, without written approval of the
form and context of which it may appear.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. The scheme does not
apply within Tasmania

Should you require any further information regarding our assessment, do not hesitate to contact the
undersigned.

Regards

M~

DAVID SULLIVAN
Director

CPV / AAPI

QLD 2250 / NSW 4052
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4.8

Fishheads @ Shellys - Update

Delivery Program Commercial Services

Objective To provide a brief update on the status of the
redevelopment of the Shelly's Beach cafe site.

Background

Land tenure issues including leasing and land acquisition relating to Shelly’s
on the Beach Café (now known as “Fishheads@Shellys”) have been
considered and dealt with at various Commercial Services Committee and
Council meetings in recent years. A summary of recent resolutions and tasks
completed are as follows:

e 26 February 2013 - Commercial Services Committee resolved to extend
the lease term for Fishheads@Shellys from twelve to twenty years
(inclusive of lease options) with the final expiry date being 30 June 2033.

e 26 September 2013 — Council resolved to grant 100% rental relief to
Fishheads@Shellys for a maximum period of six months in recognition of
the time needed to finalise the acquisition of Crown land reconstruction of
the building on the site. To date rental relief has not been granted to
Fishheads as the General Manager has not been advised as to when
construction of the new building will commence.

e 26 September 2014 — Acquisition by Council of the portion of Crown land
described as Lot 1 DP 1192961 was published in the NSW Government
Gazette.

¢ 1 December 2014 - Council resolved to classify the portion of Crown land
acquired (Lot 1 DP 1192961) as “operational land” and that the
classification take effect immediately.

e Land acquired (Lot 1 DP 1192961) and Council’s existing land holdings
(Lot 1 DP 1095427) are consolidated into one land holding described as
Lot 3 DP 1205999 and registered on 27 March 2015.

e 28 May, 2015 - Council resolved to vary Fishheads’ current lease by
changing the description of the leased property from Lot 1 DP 1095427 to
Lot 3 DP 1205999 and extend the remaining lease term from fifteen to
twenty years (i.e. 5+5+5+5 years) with the final expiry date being 30 June
2035. The initial commencement rental to be $53,500 p.a. + GST.

Key Issues

¢ On-going delays in the redevelopment of the site
Information
The current lease over the Shelly’s site was assigned from Elizabeth Anne

Keemink to Fishheads@Byron Pty Ltd on 1 May 2012. Details of the lease are
summarised as follows:
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Lease Commencement Date | 1 July 2010

Lease Term 5+ 5+ 5years

Current Rental $36,558.72 p.a. + GST

Property Outgoings The Lessee to pay Council rates
and land tax (if applicable).

Fishheads exercised the option to renew the current lease for a further time of
five years effective from 1 July 2015.

Fishheads held a licence over a portion of the land acquired from the Crown,
however this licence has effectively ceased to exist because the land has
been transferred to Council and the title description of land has changed.

Fishheads are still paying the rental due under the licence of $11,475.14 p.a. +
GST for 81.7m?. Therefore the total current rental being paid by Fishheads to
Council is the sum of $48,033 p.a. + GST.

The total area of Crown land acquired by Council is 129m? however Fishheads
are not paying rental on the additional 47.3m? as they are not using the area
and the building has not been built, nor has the lease been amended to take in
the additional area.

On 28 May, 2015 Council resolved to vary Fishheads’ current lease by
changing the description of the leased property from Lot 1 DP 1095427 to Lot
3 DP 1205999 and extend the remaining lease term from fifteen to twenty
years (i.e. 5+5+5+5 years) with the final expiry date being 30 June 2035. All
other lease terms and conditions to generally remain unchanged including the
requirement for annual CPI rental reviews and rental reviews to market every
five years. The initial commencement rental to be $53,500 p.a. + GST.

To date, amendment of the current lease in accordance with this resolution
has been placed on hold as Fishheads are still assessing their best long term
options for the site.

Some of the decisions / concerns that are being expressed by Fishheads
relate to:

a) Currently any structure built on the site will become the property of Council
at the end of the lease, unless the structure is relocatable. As this would
not be possible with the type of building that is envisaged by Fishheads
they wish to have a dialogue with Council in respect to options such as
Council buying out the value of the structure at the end of the lease, or
paying off the cost of the structure during the term of the lease, or any
other commercial option that could be negotiated.

Fishheads have advised they are having trouble raising finance to
construct the proposed building which is estimated to cost at least
$750,000 plus fitout costs in the order of $250,000. Financiers are
concerned over the adequacy of the proposed building as security; i.e. it
would have no residual value to the lessee and be classified as a “wasting
asset”.

b) Fishheads also still have concerns in respect to the following condition
contained in DA 2012/348 for the construction of the new building:
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e Condition 9 — The applicant is required to re-route or construct over the
existing stormwater line that traverses the site at no cost to Council.
Details are to be provided addressing how the main shall be both
protected and remain structurally sound during all phases of the
development proposal.

Council’s “Building Over Council Assets Policy” (26 April 2012) relates to
underground assets including stormwater pipes and notes that:

“...where a structure has been given permission, previously by Council, to be built
over an asset then no further extensions, additions or reconstructions will be
allowed. Council recognises that the existing structure presents a risk to both the
building and Council’s liability. Therefore Council will not be prepared to increase
this risk by approving further structures or additions and alterations”.

The policy does provide scope for review in certain instances:

“...where this policy unreasonably restricts the ability to develop in an appropriate
manner for that area (eg commercial areas) then proposals will be investigated on
an individual basis in line with the objectives of this policy. Applicants dissatisfied
with a decision of a Council officer made under this section, may appeal, in writing
fo the General Manager. In response, the General Manager will complete a
review, and where practical, be advised by a different officer to the person who
completed the initial assessment. The General Manager’s decision represents the
Council’s final consideration of the appeal.”

Fishheads’ preference is that the stormwater line that runs under the existing
building remain in place and be encased in concrete (for strengthening) or
replaced (depending on its condition) and encased in concrete. The
alternative option of re-routing the stormwater pipe around the proposed
building will create disturbance to existing vegetation and be far more
expensive to construct.

An inspection of the existing stormwater pipe is required to determine its
condition and whether replacement is warranted. However, this maybe difficult
to fully determine until the pipe is exposed by way of excavation.

Subject to determining a scope of works and gaining quotes for same, it is
estimated to cost at least $10,000 to excavate around the existing stormwater
pipe and encase it in concrete to permit building above it. If the pipe requires
replacement the cost will be higher. Fishheads previously addressed the
Council Meeting held on 22 November 2012, requesting that Council assume
responsibility for the cost of dealing with the stormwater pipe. Council rejected
this request.

All of these issues remain unresolved and discussions with Fishheads are
continuing.

Legal / Resource / Financial Implications

There are no direct implications from this report as the report is for information
only.

Consultation

Council has consulted with Mr Ralph Mamone and Mr Mark Simms of
Fishheads.
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Options

This report is to update Council on the status of the Fishheads
redevelopment.

As per the report a number of matters remain unresolved and there is still no
firm timeframe for the redevelopment of the site.
RECOMMENDATION

That Council notes the contents of this report regarding the update on the
status of the Shelly Beach café site redevelopment.

Attachment(s)

Nil
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